Zweitveröffentlichung/ **Secondary Publication**



https://media.suub.uni-bremen.de

Hans-Otto Carmesin

Quantum Physics Explained by Gravity and Relativity

Book, Book chapter as: DOI of this document*(secondary publication): https://doi.org/10.26092/elib/2669

published version (Version of Record) 12/01/2024

* for better findability or for reliable citation

Publication date of this document:

Recommended Citation (primary publication/Version of Record) incl. DOI:

Please note that the version of this document may differ from the final published version (Version of Record/primary publication) in terms of copy-editing, pagination, publication date and DOI. Please cite the version that you actually used. Before citing, you are also advised to check the publisher's website for any subsequent corrections or retractions (see also https://retractionwatch.com/).

This document is made available with all rights reserved.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document or any material on this site infringes copyright, please contact publizieren@suub.uni-bremen.de with full details and we will remove access to the material.

a

Quantum Physics

Explained by Gravity and Relativity

This text has also been published in the form of a printed book and is available in book trading companies or book stores since Feb. 11th 2022. author: Hans-Otto Carmesin title: Quantum Physics Explained by Gravity and Relativity ISBN: 978-3-96831-028-2

ISSN: 2629 - 1525

Please cite this text as follows:

Carmesin, Hans-Otto (Feb. 11th 2022): Quantum Physics Explained by Gravity and Relativity. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.

Berlin: Verlag Dr. Köster

Book Series: Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm, Volume 7

Hans-Otto Carmesin

February 14, 2022

Since Planck discovered quantization in 1900, the nature of quanta was a mystery. That problem is solved in this book.

We derive the postulates of quantum physics from the equivalence principles, gravity and relativity, by analyzing the vacuum.

We clarify various conundrums of quanta:

- We derive nonlocality.
- We find the origin of the Schrödinger equation.
- We find the origin of the probabilities of quanta.
- We find the basis of the Planck constant h.
- We find a generalized Schrödinger equation.
- We find the origin of quantum gravity.
- We discover how quanta, vacuum and curved space are related.

Using the concepts of space, time, gravity and vacuum, we discover how vacuum propagates at the velocity of light. We realize how that propagation causes quantization. We apply that propagation to the calculation of the density parameter Ω_{Λ} of the vacuum of the universe. Our result is in precise accordance with observation, whereby we do not apply any fit.

Invited to discover the nature of quanta are classes from grade 10 or higher, courses, research clubs, enthusiasts, observers, experimentalists, mathematicians, natural scientists, researchers, etc. Physics Archive, Physik Archive, Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (February 11 2022): Quantum Physics Explained by Gravity and Relativity; ISBN 978-3-96831-028-2

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (October 2021). The Elementary Charge Explained by Quantum Gravity; ISBN 978-3-86831-023-7

Prof. Dr. Peter Möller (2021): Warum es Leben im Universum gibt; ISBN 978-3-96831-019-0

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (August 2021): Cosmological and Elementary Particles Explained by Quantum Gravity; ISBN 978-3-96831-018-3

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (March 2021): Quanta of Spacetime Explain Observations, Dark Energy, Graviton and Nonlocality; ISBN 978-3-96831-008-4

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (September 2020): The Universe Developing from Zero-Point Energy - Discovered by Making Photos, Experiments and Calculations; ISBN 978-3-89574-993-3

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (March 2020): Wir entdecken die Geschichte des Universums mit eigenen Fotos und Experimenten; ISBN 978-3-89574-973-5

Prof. Dr. Peter Möller (2020): Corona - Zahlen richtig verstehen; ISBN 978-3-96831-005-3

Dr. Gerold O. Schellstede (2020): Über nichtlineare Effekte in den Elektrodynamiken der Plebanskiklasse; ISBN S78-3-89574-968-1

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (2019): Die Grundschwingungen des Universums - The Cosmic Unification; ISBN 978-3-89574-961-2

Prof. Dr. Peter Möller (2010): Geheimnisse des Universums - Relativitätstheorie, Quantenmechanik und schwarze Löcher; ISBN 978-3-89574-959-9

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (November 2018): Entstehung der Raumzeit durch Quantengravitätion - Theory for the Emergence of Space, Dark Matter, Dark Energy and Space-Time; ISBN 978-3-89574-951-3

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (July 2018): Entstehung dunkler Energie durch Quantengravitation - Universal Model for Dynamics of Space, Dark Matter and Dark Energy; ISBN 978-3-89574-944-5

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (May 2018): Entstehung dunkler Materie durch Gravitation - Model for the Dynamics of Space and the Emergence of Dark Matter; ISBN 978-3-89574-939-1

PD Dr. Hans-Otto Carmesin (2017): Vom Big Bang bis heute mit Gravitation - Model for the Dynamics of Space; ISBN 978-3-89574-899-8

Quantum Physics

Explained by Gravity and Relativity

This text has also been published in the form of a printed book and is available in book trading companies or book stores since Feb. 11th 2022. author: Hans-Otto Carmesin title: Quantum Physics Explained by Gravity and Relativity ISBN: 978-3-96831-028-2 ISSN: 2629 - 1525

Please cite this text as follows:

Carmesin, Hans-Otto (Feb. 11th 2022): Quantum Physics Explained by Gravity and Relativity. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.

Berlin: Verlag Dr. Köster

Book Series: Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm, Volume 7

Hans-Otto Carmesin

February 14, 2022

iii

iv

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1		
	1.1	Two great basic concepts of physics	1		
	1.2 Our aim				
	1.3	Our method	6		
		1.3.1 On the derivation of quantum physics	6		
		1.3.2 Summary of postulates of quantum physics	7		
		1.3.2.1 Postulates of quantum physics	7		
		1.3.2.2 Conventional operators of dynamical variables	8		
		1.3.2.3 Schrödinger equation for two typical systems	9		
		1.3.3 On the explanation of quantum physics	10		
		1.3.4 On the formation of space $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	10		
2	Universal Model				
	2.1	Our general model	11		
	2.2	Principles of free fall	14		
		2.2.1 Galileo's equivalence principle	14		
		2.2.2 Einstein equivalence principle	14		
		2.2.3 Principle of energy conservation at free fall	15		
		2.2.4 Summarized principles of free fall	16		
	2.3	On Gaussian gravity	16		
		2.3.1 Field G^* as a function of the radial coordinate r	18		
		2.3.2 Local measurements in curved spacetime	19		
	2.4	On special relativity	20		
	2.5	On general relativity	21		
		2.5.1 General relativity is mesoscopic	21		
	2.6	Formed vacuum	21		
	2.7	Homogeneous universe frame HUF	22		
3	Derivation of Quantum Physics				
	3.1	Our derivation of the Schwarzschild metric: energy factor	25		
		3.1.1 Freely falling mass m	26		
	3.2	Our derivation of the FLE	29		

	3.2.1	Expansion of space $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 29$	9
		3.2.1.1 DEQ of uniform scaling: derivation	9
		3.2.1.2 Structured energy function	0
	3.2.2	Homogeneous metric: new vacuum	3
		3.2.2.1 Rate of formed vacuum	3
3.3	Possib	le unidirectional elongation	5
	3.3.1	Change tensor	6
	3.3.2	Change of volume	8
3.4	Isotrop	pic expansion of space	0
	3.4.1	Transformation of the Hubble parameter	1
	3.4.2	Rate of formation of vacuum	2
3.5	Densit	y ρ_f of the gravitational field G^*	4
	3.5.1	Absolute value of ρ_f	4
	3.5.2	Sign of u_f	7
	3.5.3	Inertia inherent to ρ_f	8
	3.5.4	An essential density	0
3.6	Rate g	ravity scalar RGS & 4-vector RGV	1
	3.6.1	Formation of vacuum in vacuum	1
	3.6.2	Isotropic formation of vacuum in vacuum	1
3.7	Rate g	ravity waves, RGW 54	4
	3.7.1	Solutions in the vacuum	4
	3.7.2	DEQ for stationary fields	6
3.8	Emerg	ence of quanta $\ldots \ldots 57$	7
	3.8.1	Quantization derived	8
	3.8.2	Universality of Planck's constant derived	0
	3.8.3	Schrödinger equation derived	1
	3.8.4	Objects with $v_{prop} < c$	2
3.9	Deriva	tion of the SM $\ldots \ldots 64$	4
3.10	Partic	le wave transformation, PWT	0
	3.10.1	Effect of a general object upon its surroundings 71	1
	3.10.2	Elongation δR corresponding to curvature $\ldots \ldots 71$	1
	3.10.3	Vacuum δV_{elo} corresponding to elongation δR 72	2
	3.10.4	Locally formed vacuum δV_{LFV} in the SM	2
	3.10.5	Rate of locally formed vacuum, LFV	4
	3.10.6	Relative rate of LFV	4
	3.10.7	Far distance limit: usual and universal QP	5
3.11	Proba	bilistic nature of quantum physics	9
	3.11.1	Probability in a quantum system	1
	3.11.2	Particle wave duality	2
	3.11.3	Universality of QP	3
	3.11.4	Generalized QP	4
3.12	Deriva	tion of the quantum postulates	5

		3.12.1	P1: Quantum states form a Hilbert space	85
		-	3.12.1.1 Derivation	85
		3.12.2	P2: Observables correspond to operators	88
			$3.12.2.1$ Derivation \ldots	88
		3.12.3	P3: Possible outcomes of a measurement are eigenvalues	89
			3.12.3.1 Derivation	89
		3.12.4	P4: Probabilistic outcomes of a measurement	89
			3.12.4.1 Derivation	90
		3.12.5	P5: Time evolution	93
			3.12.5.1 Derivation \ldots	93
	3.13	Quant	ization based on GR	95
		3.13.1	Identification of an object	95
		3.13.2	Application of the PWT	96
1	For	nation	of Vacuum	97
т	4 1	Basics	of the derivation	97
	1.1	4 1 1	Vacuum only	97
		4.1.2	Homogeneous and constant vacuum	98
		4.1.3	Separation of space and time	98
	4.2	Dark e	energy in a homogeneous universe	98
		4.2.1	Source by present vacuum	98
		4.2.2	RGWs propagating towards R_0	99
			4.2.2.1 Rates $d\dot{\varepsilon}_i(R)$ of formed volume	99
			4.2.2.2 Invariance of additional rates $d\dot{\varepsilon}(R)$	100
			4.2.2.3 Integration of $d\dot{\varepsilon}(R)$	100
		4.2.3	Derivation of the formed vacuum with dV	101
		4.2.4	Density parameter Ω_{Λ}	102
		4.2.5	Comparison with observation	103
5	Exn	lanatio	on of Quantum Physics	105
-	5.1	Direct	understanding based motions	105
	5.2	Clarifi	cations of QP	106
		5.2.1	Quantization	106
		5.2.2	Quantization of a general object	107
		5.2.3	Wave function	107
		5.2.4	Time evolution of the wave function	108
		5.2.5	Probabilistic nature of quantum physics	108
			5.2.5.1 Particle wave transformation	109
			5.2.5.2 Clarification of results of measurements	109
			5.2.5.3 Clarification of uncertainty principles	110
			5.2.5.4 Universal behavior of QP	110
			5.2.5.5 Clarification of constant of quantization h .	111

			5.2.5.6	Generalized Schrödinger equation, SEQ_q .	112	
			5.2.5.7	Spacetime-quadruple, SQ, provides probabil-		
				ities	112	
			5.2.5.8	General object provides probability	113	
			5.2.5.9	Tunneling	113	
			5.2.5.10	Positive inertia at negative energy	113	
			5.2.5.11	Angular momentum	114	
		5.2.6	Postulat	es of QP	114	
		5.2.7	Dynamie	cs of vacuum	115	
			5.2.7.1	Relation to GR \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	115	
			5.2.7.2	Relation to quantum gravity	115	
			5.2.7.3	Formation and density of vacuum	115	
			5.2.7.4	Formation of space by vacuum	116	
			5.2.7.5	Graviton	117	
		5.2.8	Nonloca	lity	117	
			5.2.8.1	A property of nature	117	
			5.2.8.2	An explanation	118	
			5.2.8.3	A solution of the EPR paradox	118	
		5.2.9	Summar	y of clarifications	119	
	5.3 Extensions \ldots				119	
		5.3.1	Many pa	urticles	119	
		5.3.2	Internal	states and transitions	119	
		5.3.3	Reaction	as among elementary particles	119	
		5.3.4	Transfor	mations within quantum physics	120	
6	Dis	cussior	n		121	
7	App	oendix			127	
	7.1	Const	ants of na	ture	127	
	7.2	Abbre	eviations .		128	
	7.3	Obser	ved values	3	129	
	7.4	Natur	al units		129	
	7.5	Defini	Definition of Planck scale quantities			
7.6 Horizons of observation				$ervation \ldots \ldots$	132	
	7.7	Glossa	ary		134	
	7.8 SR fully based on a thought experiment					

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Two great basic concepts of physics

Planck (1900) discovered the **quantization of light** and the corresponding Planck constant h (table 7.1). Moreover, he made clear that quantization is a new and general physical concept. Accordingly, he proposed the Planck units or natural units, based on three universal constants: the Newton (1686) constant G of gravitation, the velocity c of light, see Rømer (1676), and the Planck constant h. Planck's discovery of the particle property of light, combined with the wave property of light, see e. g. Young (1802), demonstrated the wave particle duality of quantum objects.

Quantization is a key discovery and made possible a series of further essential results: Einstein (1905) explained the emission and absorption of photons via quantization. Bohr (1913) explained the atomic spectra on the basis of quantization. Thomson (1927) and Davisson and Germer (1927) discovered matter waves, see figure (1.2), that de Broglie (1925) had proposed on the basis of quantization, Heisenberg (1925) developed fundamental kinematic equations based on operators representing observables of quantum objects, see also Dirac (1925). Schrödinger (1926a) proposed the differential equation describing the time evolution of quantum objects, the **Schrödinger equation**. It



Figure 1.1: The upper LED absorbs quanta of light, photons, and transforms the energy of light into electric energy. The lower LED transforms that electric energy into emitted photons. The experiment is an example for the absorption and emission of photons, whereby the band structure of the LEDs determines the green color of the emitted light.

is physically equivalent to the dynamics proposed by Heisenberg (1925). Born (1926) proposed a **probabilistic interpretation** of quantum objects that is in precise accordance with observation.

Fermi (1926) derived the energy distribution in quantum gases, which is a basis for the understanding of the band structure used in electronics and computers, see figure (1.1). Heisenberg (1927) derived the uncertainty of quantum objects. Dirac (1927) elaborated wave functions in spacetime and thereby proposed antimatter, which was discovered by Anderson (1933). These results establish a predictive, successful as well as useful experimental and theoretical basis of quantum physics, QP, see e. g. Sakurai and Napolitano (1994), Ballentine (1998), Kumar (2018).

However, Einstein et al. (1935) pointed out that according to

1.1. TWO GREAT BASIC CONCEPTS OF PHYSICS



Figure 1.2: The two concentric rings indicate electron waves arriving at a screen: For it, electrons have been accelerated by a voltage of 5000 Volts. Then the electron beam has been diffracted at a slice consisting of many crystals of graphite. Behind that slice, the electrons propagate either at the original direction and form the central light at the screen. Or they propagate at one of two cones around the central beam, whereby these cones cause the two concentric rings when arriving at the screen.

the theory of QP outlined above, a measurement of a quantum object could instantly cause a correlation with a measurement of another distant quantum object. Moreover, Einstein et al. (1935) presumed that no correlation could correspond to a velocity larger than the velocity c of light. This presumption corresponds to the fact that the velocity c is the maximal velocity in special relativity, SR, and (in most frames) in general relativity, GR.

Indeed, de Sitter (1913) confirmed that light emitted from binary stars propagates to Earth at the same velocity of light, irrespective of the velocities of the two stars of the binary, see figure (1.3). You can confirm that observation on your own by using a small telescope, see Carmesin (2006). For further tests of relativity, see e. g. Bailey et al. (1977), Will (2014). Moreover, the invariance of c confirmed via observation by de Sitter (1913) or Carmesin (2006) can alternatively be obtained via a thought experiment, see section (7.8).

In fact, Einstein (1905) proposed SR and Einstein (1915) initiated GR, which includes gravity. Today, **quantum physics and relativity** are regarded as the two great and basic concepts of physics, see e. g. Weinberg (2017), Bricmont and Goldstein (2019).

According to the above outlined instant correlations of QP, Einstein et al. (1935) proposed that the above theory of QP should be incomplete, as a consequence. More generally, a physical effect corresponding to a velocity $v \leq c$ is called local, whereas other effects are called nonlocal.



Figure 1.3: Binary star: two stars rotate around their center of mass. For instance, when the stars have the same distance to Earth, they emit one light signal each. These signals arrive at Earth simultaneously, though the emitting stars move in opposite directions. Such observations confirm that light propagates at a constant velocity relative to an observer, irrespective of the velocity of the light emitting source relative to the observer, see e. g. de Sitter (1913), Carmesin (2006).

Correspondingly, Einstein et al. (1935) pointed out that the theory of QP outlined above is nonlocal. Additionally, they presumed that nature should be local, and so they constructed a paradoxical situation, the so-called EPR paradox.

Bell (1964) proposed experimental tests of such correlations, and Aspect et al. (1982) confirmed these correlations experimentally. So it is clear that nature is nonlocal, and nonlocal effects become visible in QP. However, the relation between QP and the theories of relativity, SR and GR, remains a conundrum, even after the experimental results achieved by Aspect et al. (1982), see e. g. Weinberg (2017), Bricmont and Goldstein (2019).

In this book, we resolve the relation between QP and relativity: A first hint was provided by Carmesin (2021d) by showing that even relativity is nonlocal. That finding opened the possibility that QP could be included in GR. Accordingly, that finding made conceivable that GR might be used in order to explain QP. In fact, that is possible.

Indeed, we derive the quantization and the postulates of QP as a consequence of GR. Hereby, we apply an especially clear formulation of relativity and gravity as well as relatively simple mathematical tools. Accordingly, we use the very transparent understanding of space and time in order to explain QP. Correspondingly, students and interested people can now understand QP in an especially transparent and elucidating manner on the basis of space and time.

1.2 Our aim

In this book we derive the quantum physics from gravity and relativity.

1.3 Our method

We achieve our aim as follows. Firstly, we introduce our general model, based on gravity and relativity, see section (2.1). Secondly, we derive quantum physics from our model.

1.3.1 On the derivation of quantum physics

After the definition of our model, including relativity and gravity, we derive the **postulates of quantum physics**, as they have been summarized in Kumar (2018).

For it, we derive the **duality of particles and waves** by developing a new **duality transformation**. Thereby, we discover the nature of the wave functions in a very precise manner.

1.3.2 Summary of postulates of quantum physics

In this part, we summarize the postulates of quantum physics, as they have been summarized in Kumar (2018). Other formulations are essentially equivalent and can be found in Sakurai and Napolitano (1994) or Ballentine (1998), for instance.

1.3.2.1 Postulates of quantum physics

There are four postulates describing the **quantum state**, the **dynamical variable or observable**, the **time evolution** and the **probability rule**:

(Postulate 1) A quantum state is defined by a wave function $\psi(t, \vec{r})$, see e. g. (Kumar, 2018, p. 14).

(Postulate 2) 'To each dynamical variable or observable A there corresponds a linear operator \hat{A} , and the possible values of the dynamical variable are the eigenvalues of the operator', see (Ballentine, 1998, p. 43), see also (Kumar, 2018, p. 18, 36).

(Postulate 3) The **time evolution** of the wave function is described by the Schrödinger equation, SEQ, see Schrödinger (1926a), Schrödinger (1926b), (Kumar, 2018, p. 32) or section (1.3.2.3). Thereby, the Schrödinger equation sets $i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,x)$ equal to the operator of the energy term, consequently denoted by \hat{E}_{term} , multiplied by $\psi(t,x)$.

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,x) = \hat{E}_{term}\psi(t,x) \tag{1.1}$$

(Postulate 4) Born (1926) discovered the **probability rule**. It states that the probability to find a quantum object in a state $\psi(t, \vec{r})$ is proportional to the square of the absolute value of the wave function $|\psi(t, \vec{r})|^2$, see e. g. (Ballentine, 1998, p. 46) or (Kumar, 2018, p. 169).

1.3.2.2 Conventional operators of dynamical variables

In this section, we introduce and test some conventional operators typically used in quantum physics.

The momentum operator is as follows:

$$\hat{p}_x = -i\hbar\partial_x \tag{1.2}$$

In order to test it, we use the wave function of a freely propagating object, whereby we apply the usual sign convention in the exponent, see e.g. (Kumar, 2018, Eq. 3.2.11), and we denote the amplitude or normalization factor by f_n :

$$\psi(t,x) = f_n \cdot e^{-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k \cdot x} \tag{1.3}$$

Next we test whether the eigenvalue is the momentum $p = \hbar \cdot k$:

$$\hat{p}_x\psi(t,x) = -i\hbar\partial_x\psi(t,x) = -i\hbar\cdot i\cdot k\psi(t,x)$$
(1.4)

We simplify the above equation:

$$\hat{p}_x\psi(t,x) = \hbar \cdot k\psi(t,x) = p \cdot \psi(t,x) \tag{1.5}$$

Obviously, the momentum operator in Eq. (1.2) operates in the physically correct manner.

The following operator provides the energy:

$$\hat{E} = i\hbar\partial_t \tag{1.6}$$

Next we test whether the eigenvalue is the energy $E = \hbar \cdot \omega$:

$$\hat{E}\psi(t,x) = i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,x) = i\hbar\partial_t f_n \cdot e^{-i\cdot\omega\cdot t + i\cdot k\cdot x}$$
(1.7)

We evaluate the above equation:

$$\hat{E}\psi(t,x) = i\hbar(-i)\omega \cdot \psi(t,x) = \hbar \cdot \omega \cdot \psi(t,x) = E \cdot \psi(t,x)(1.8)$$

Obviously, the operator in Eq. (1.6) operates in the physically correct manner, as the eigenvalue is the energy.

In the above tests, we used the wave function of a freely propagating wave in Eq. (1.3). According to the concept of the Fourier analysis, we can form a complete class of wave functions by (discrete or continuous) linear combinations of wave functions of a freely propagating waves. Correspondingly, our tests of the operators are very general.

1.3.2.3 Schrödinger equation for two typical systems

In this section, we elaborate the Schrödinger equation for two typical systems.

For instance, the non-relativistic kinetic energy is as follows:

$$E_{kin,non-relativistic} = \frac{p^2}{2m} \tag{1.9}$$

We insert the momentum operator, see Eq. (1.2):

$$\hat{E}_{kin,non-relativistic}\psi(t,x) = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\partial_x^2\psi(t,x)$$
(1.10)

So the corresponding Schrödinger equation is as follows, for the case of a one dimensional system, for instance:

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,x) = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\partial_x^2\psi(t,x)$$
(1.11)

For the case of an object with zero rest mass m_0 , for instance, the relativistic kinetic energy is as follows:

$$E_{kin,relativistic} = p \cdot c \tag{1.12}$$

We insert the momentum operator, see Eq. (1.2):

$$\hat{E}_{kin,relativistic}\psi(t,x) = -c \cdot i\hbar\partial_x\psi(t,x)$$
(1.13)

So the corresponding Schrödinger equation is as follows:

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,x) = -c \cdot i\hbar\partial_x\psi(t,x) \tag{1.14}$$

1.3.3 On the explanation of quantum physics

Using the derivation of the postulates of quantum physics from our general model including gravity and relativity, we derive the explanation of quantum physics. Thereby, it turns out that the wave function ψ in QP represents the rate of change of vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$, see the glossary in section (7.7).

1.3.4 On the formation of space

According to the explanation of the wave function ψ in QP by the rate of change of vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$, we analyze the integrated rate of change of vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$. It turns out that the integral of the rate of change of vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$ ranging from here towards the Hubble radius R_H , see the glossary in section (7.7), represents the present day vacuum. This result is in precise accordance with observation, whereby no fit is applied, see chapter (4).

We regard this finding as a great result: The same rate of change of vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$ explains quantum physics as well as the formation of the vacuum and space in the universe.

Chapter 2

Universal Model

In this chapter, we introduce the basics of a general model for a physical object. Additionally, we summarize the used physical concepts.

2.1 Our general model

In this section, we introduce the basics of a general model for a physical object.

Firstly, the object has an **energy** E or an equivalent dynamical mass or mass M.

Secondly, it is possible to analyze or measure the **object's** gravitational and relativistic effects upon its vicinity, even without considering the **object's internal structure** explicitly.

- Thereby, essential **object's effects** upon its vicinity include the gravitational field G^* , the curvature of space or of spacetime and properties of the vacuum, see e.g. Carmesin (2021d) or chapter (3).
- Moreover, the object's **internal structure** may be the electrons of a helium atom, or the atoms of a molecule, or the quarks of a neutron, and so forth. For instance, if

large molecules are diffracted at a grating, then the diffraction pattern can be derived from the momentum of the molecules, without considering the atoms of the molecule, the electrons, neutrons and protons of the atoms or the quarks inherent to neutrons and protons, see figure (3.14) or Nairz et al. (2003).

- I emphasize that our model describes the behavior of very different objects such as photons, electrons, neutrons or even atoms and molecules, though we only apply gravity, relativity and the vacuum, see chapter (3).
- The fact that our model describes the behavior of very different objects means that our model is fundamental, see chapter (3).

Thirdly, the object may be **localized**.

- In that case, we might illustrate the object with help of a center of mass or of dynamical mass, see figure (2.1).
- In that case, we might illustrate the distribution of the mass or of dynamical mass by an unstructured grey region, representing the object's internal structure, see figure (2.1).
- In the case of a **localized object**, we analyze object's effects upon its vicinity with help of a small mass *m* as a probe.

Fourthly, several objects may form a **homogeneous density**, whereby we do not measure or analyze the internal structure of the objects, or a possible location of the centers of mass of the objects.

Fifthly, we generalize the above two cases of a **localized object** and of a **homogeneous density of objects** with help of tensors, see chapter (3).

 ^{r}m M

Figure 2.1: Our model: In the case of a localized object, mass or dynamic mass M is distributed around a center of mass. The object's effect upon its surroundings is analyzed with help of a small mass, similar as in a gedankenexperiment. Internal structures of the object are possible, but they are not shown here in an explicit manner.

Moreover, the theoretical basis of our model is constituted by the following quadruple, we call it the **spacetime-quadruple**, **SQ**:

- 1. Principles of free fall, PFF, see section (2.2.2)
- 2. Gaussian gravity, GG, see section (2.3)
- 3. Special relativity, SR, see e. g. Einstein (1905). Here we apply SR for the case of non-quantized objects, since we derive quantization therefrom, see chapter (3).
- 4. Formed vacuum with a corresponding volume, see e.g. Carmesin (2021d) or e.g. Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e) or section (2.6).

spacetime – quadruple, $SQ = \{PFF, GG, SR, \text{formed vacuum}\}$ (2.1)

2.2 Principles of free fall

In this section, we treat principles that hold for a freely falling object or system.

2.2.1 Galileo's equivalence principle

Galileo (1638) considered experiments with objects with different masses falling from the tower at Pisa, see figure (2.2). While Aristotle (C350) thought that bodies with a large mass would fall faster than bodies with a smaller mass, Galileo realized that both bodies fall equally fast, if the friction of the air is negligible. Galileo (1638) obtained his result by a gedankenexperiment: If a body with a large mass m is divided into two parts with masses m/2 each, then theses parts must fall at the same velocity as m, as the parts and the body arrive at the bottom at the same time. Probably, Galileo did not perform these experiments in reality, see e. g. Schlichting (1999).

In principle, he realized the following: If a mass M generates a gravitational field G^* (Eq. 2.4), and if a freely falling probing mass m experiences the corresponding force $F = m \cdot G^*$, then mexhibits an acceleration a that is equal to the field G^* . So the equality of the inertial mass and the gravitational mass explains the observation. Accordingly, he regarded that equality as a principle:

 $\vec{G}^* = \vec{a} \rightarrow$ Galileo's equivalence principle, GEP (2.2)

Also many modern tests confirmed that, see e. g. Will (2006).

2.2.2 Einstein equivalence principle

Einstein used Galileo's equivalence principle and extended it by two statements. So the corresponding Einstein equivalence principle, EEP, includes three items, see e. g. Will (2014):

1. Galileo's equivalence principle

- 2. The outcome of any local non-gravitational experiment is independent of the velocity of the freely falling reference frame in which it is performed.
- 3. The outcome of any local non-gravitational experiment is independent of where and when in the universe it is performed.

Also the EEP has been confirmed by many experiments, see e. g. Will (2014).



Figure 2.2: Galileo analyzed experiments with different falling objects at the tower in Pisa, see Galileo (1638), Schlichting (1999). If two bodies with different masses are started at the top at the same time, then they arrive at the same time in the middle and near the bottom. This fact holds in the ideal case of zero friction.

2.2.3 Principle of energy conservation at free fall

Energy conservation is a very general principle of nature. However, the energy depends on the chosen frame. For instance, if you ride on your bicycle on a road, then your kinetic energy in the frame of the bicycle is zero, whereas your kinetic energy is nonzero in the frame of the road. This example shows that the principle of conservation of energy makes sense only in a particular frame. In what frame is the energy conserved, if a mass or dynamical m falls freely towards a mass or dynamical mass M?

An appropriate frame is a HUF, as external fields and external accelerations add up to zero in a HUF. Then the center of mass frame of M and m is an inertial frame. In that frame, the energy is conserved.

Moreover, the treatment of the free fall becomes especially simple, if the mass m is very small compared to M. Then the energy of the mass m is conserved in the frame of M, whereby M falls freely relative to any external gravitational fields or effects.

This energy conservation includes the case of an isotropically distributed mass M interacting with itself, see figure (3.4) and section (3.5).

2.2.4 Summarized principles of free fall

In the following, we combine Galileo's equivalence principle, Einstein's equivalence principle and the principle of energy conservation at free fall to the **principles of free fall**, **PFF**:

 $PFF = \{GEP, EEP, \text{energy conservation at free fall}\}$ (2.3)

2.3 On Gaussian gravity

The first essential theory of gravity is Newton's gravity, NG, see e. g. Newton (1686). We identify four essential parts of NG: Firstly, according to Newton, (Newton, 1686, p. 78), space is absolute and at absolute rest Secondly, Newton (Newton (1686)) used Euclidean geometry, which presumes flat space, see e. g. Euklid (C325). Thirdly, Newton presumed absolute time that goes on at a constant rate and in the same manner everywhere in space, see (Newton, 1686, p. 79). Fourthly, a mass is the source of gravity, see (Newton, 1686, p. 397) and Gauss (1809).

16

The third part about time has been generalized in special relativity, SR. The first and second part about space have been generalized in general relativity, GR. The fourth part has been generalized only slightly by the fact that mass is equivalent to energy and both (mass and energy) are sources of gravity. However, the essential part of gravity did not change: there are sources of gravity, these are mass as well as energy.

Accordingly, we will use that fourth part of NG, whereby we include energy as an additional source of gravity. We denote that fourth part of NG by *Gaussian gravity*, *GG*.

The idea of Gaussian gravity is simple and robust: A mass M generates a gravitational field \vec{G}^* , spreading uniformly in the vicinity. For an illustration see figure (2.3). We apply GG locally in a freely falling system, so it is applicable without any loss of generality. Accordingly, the field G^* generated by a mass M at a distance r is as follows:

$$|\vec{G}^*| = \frac{G \cdot m}{r^2} \tag{2.4}$$

Hereby G denotes the gravitational constant (Sect. 7.1).

Gaussian gravity was discovered on the basis of the motions of the planets as follows: Tycho Brahe observed the motions of the planets, see Brahe and Kepler (1627). Analyzing these results, Kepler (1619) discovered the Kepler laws of planetary motions. Huygens (1673) discovered the law of radial force. Newton (1686) combined the radial force with Kepler's laws of planetary motions and discovered Newton's law of gravitation. Note that this combination can be derived at a single page, see e. g. (Carmesin et al., 2021, p. 108-109). Gauss (1809) elaborated the essence of the generation of gravity by sources such as masses.



Figure 2.3: Mass M with field lines (dotted) and vectors (solid) of the gravitational field \vec{G}^* .

2.3.1 Field G^* as a function of the radial coordinate r

In this section, we derive the field¹ in the vicinity of a mass M. Thereby, the field is a function of the radial coordinate r, whereby M is at the coordinate r = 0. In general, the space can be elongated in the radial direction. Thereby, a coordinate difference dr may be elongated to a length dL, as a function of r. In the following we show that this has no effect on the function $G^*(r)$.

There is no gravity in the horizontal direction, by definition. Therefore there is no spatial elongation in this direction. Thus a circle with a radius r and with its center at a field-generating mass M at the **radial coordinate** r = 0 has the following

¹Usually, we emphasize a field generating mass by a large letter M. Of course, all masses are in principle equal in physics. The distinction between a field generating mass and a probing mass is just a method of the analysis. It can easily be avoided by considering both masses as field generating masses and probing masses simultaneously. The above distinction may be appropriate, when one mass is relatively large compared to the other. Whenever a high accuracy is essential, then this distinction is not appropriate, of course.

circumference U:

$$U = 2\pi \cdot r \tag{2.5}$$

Likewise, a sphere with the center at r = 0 and with the **radial** coordinate r has the following surface A:

$$A = 4\pi \cdot r^2 \tag{2.6}$$

With it we derive G^* :

$$G^*(r) = -\frac{G \cdot M}{r^2} \tag{2.7}$$



Figure 2.4: A local observer localized at an object at r measures: Two hand leads provide the angle α and the arc length b. A falling ball yields time intervals in the observer's frame $d\tau_{j\to j+1}$. Therefrom r, v, a, G^* and M are evaluated.

2.3.2 Local measurements in curved spacetime

In this section, we derive physical quantities that can be measured locally in the vicinity of a mass M. In particular, the field can be measured. An object at a coordinate r can be investigated in the object's own frame: In particular, a local observer localized at the object can measure the **radius** r, the 'object's own time' $d\tau$, the velocity $v = \frac{dr}{d\tau}$ relative to the mass M, the acceleration $a = \frac{dv}{d\tau}$ and the mass M as elaborated in Fig. (2.4). We summarize our results:

$$v = \frac{dr}{d\tau}$$
 and $a = \frac{dv}{d\tau}$ can be measured locally in GR (2.8)

2.4 On special relativity

Einstein (1905) introduced special relativity, SR, in order to describe **non-quantized objects** that move at relatively high velocity v and $v \leq c$. (see also Hobson et al. (2006), Carmesin et al. (2022), Straumann (2013), Moore (2013), or Carmesin (2020b)).

Einstein (1905) introduced the **special relativity theory**, **SR**, in order to describe objects with high velocity in various **inertial frames**, these are frames that are not accelerated. Thereby, Einstein assumed that the velocity of light c is an invariant. This has been confirmed, for instance by de Sitter (1913) or by Will (2014), see Fig. (1.3). As a consequence, space and time are no longer invariant, instead they form a four dimensional **spacetime**, see e. g. Einstein (1905) or Carmesin (2020c), Carmesin (2020b).

For instance, if two events occur within an object resting in its **own inertial frame**, then the time interval Δt beginning at the first event and ending at the second event depends on the inertial frame measuring Δt . The shortest Δt is measured in the own frame of the object, while the corresponding intervals are longer in external frames moving at a velocity v relative to the object:

$$\Delta t_{own} \le \Delta t_{external} = \Delta t_{own} \cdot \gamma \text{ with } \gamma = \frac{1}{1 - v^2/c^2}$$
 (2.9)

Thereby γ is called **Lorentz factor**, and v is the corresponding velocity.

2.5 On general relativity

Einstein (1915) introduced general relativity, in order to describe acceleration and gravity, in addition to special relativity (see also Hobson et al. (2006), Carmesin (1996), Carmesin et al. (2022), Straumann (2013), Moore (2013)).

2.5.1 General relativity is mesoscopic

The usual theory of GR is based on curvature. In general, curvature can be measured in terms of radii of curvature, see figure (2.5). For it, at least three smallest regions are necessary. In this sense, the usual theory of GR is mesoscopic.

As GR is mesoscopic, while we derive a theory of elementary objects, we do not use results of GR here. However, we use the essential concept of GR that spacetime is modified by mass and energy. If we need results in GR, we derive these results on our own.

In fact, we derive the mesoscopic curvature of spacetime on the basis of our microscopic description of the vacuum, see e. g. Carmesin (2021d) or section (2.6). So we confirm that spacetime is curved at a mesoscopic level.

2.6 Formed vacuum

We realized that the curvature of GR is a mesoscopic concept, see figure (2.5). Accordingly, we need a really microscopic concept. For it, we realize that vacuum is permanently formed, according to the expansion of space since the Big Bang. Accordingly, we use the volume δV of the formed vacuum at one microscopic location per time δt and per existing volume dV. Carmesin (2021d) proposed and analyzed that concept.

Thereby, formed vacuum with its corresponding volume δV can be added and integrated. This fact is very deeply founded:



Figure 2.5: Three smallest regions are marked by three balls (dotted) and form a triangular construct (loosely dotted). The circumcircle (dashdotted) with its circumcentre S and the circumradius $R_{curvature}$ can be constructed. That curvature can be used as a radius of curvature. In that manner, a radius of curvature can be measured by using three smallest regions.

Volume can be added. An independent foundation of the addition of vacua is the addition of energies, in particular of the dark energy, which is the energy of the vacuum. Correspondingly, the principle of linear superposition holds for formed vacuum and for formed volume.

Moreover, the formed vacuum propagates at the velocity of light c, for the following reason: If the formed vacuum would propagate at a smaller velocity $v_{vac} < c$, then it would be possible to measure a velocity v < c of an object relative to the vacuum. However, such a velocity v < c relative to the vacuum cannot be measured, according to SR. According to SR, nonquantized objects do not exhibit velocities v > c. Note that interesting consequences of SR are derived in section (5.2.5.9).

2.7 Homogeneous universe frame HUF

In this section, we develop a tool that can be used for an analysis of gravity in the universe: In the universe, there are



Figure 2.6: Empty ball embedded in a homogeneous surrounding: It establishes the **homogeneous universe frame**, **HUF**.

many sources of gravitational fields, such as masses or dynamical masses. While in electromagnetism, the fields do usually cancel or screen each other as there are two signs of the charges, this is not so in gravity. However, fields emerging at different parts of the universe can cancel each other, as vectors can have opposite directions. This mechanism is treated in the present section.

While in figure (2.3), we investigated the field of a mass without analyzing the surroundings, we consider the surroundings in this section. In particular, we analyze the field in an empty ball, embedded in surroundings with a homogeneous density, a **homogeneous fluid** (Fig. 2.6, Carmesin (2020b), Carmesin (2021d)). We emphasize that there is not even vacuum in this ball, so it is a purely mathematical model, as physical space is constituted by vacuum. So the empty ball is a tool² used for the analysis of the vacuum.

Newton (1686) showed that there is no field in such a sphere. For the case of the GR, Birkhoff (1921) derived that there is no field in that sphere. We introduce a corresponding frame:

 $^{^{2}}$ In GR, results are often derived by using an appropriate frame (see for instance Straumann (2013), Stephani (1980), Moore (2013)).
Definition 1 Homogeneous universe frame, HUF

(1) If an empty ball is embedded in homogeneous surroundings ranging from the ball to the light horizon³, and if that ball is not accelerated, then the frame with the origin at the center of the ball is called **homogeneous universe frame** (Fig. 2.6).

(2) A vacuum HUF, HUF_v is a HUF for which the surroundings have the following property: The density parameters of radiation Ω_r and of the matter Ω_m (table 7.3) tend to zero. So the surroundings of a HUF_v consist of vacuum, up to an infinitesimal amount of radiation and matter, while $\Omega_K \approx 0$ (table 7.3).

The field \vec{G}^* is zero in the HUF. More realistically, the density of the surroundings exhibit fluctuations. These are analyzed in quantitative detail in Carmesin (2021d). As a result, the average of the field $\langle \vec{G}^* \rangle$ is zero in the HUF, and the variance $(\Delta \vec{G}^*)^2$ is nonzero. However, the variance $(\Delta \vec{G}^*)^2$ is a function of the radius R of the HUF, and that function decreases according to a power law: $(\Delta \vec{G}^*)^2 \propto R^{5-2D}$ for each dimension $D \geq 3$. The field variance $(\Delta \vec{G}^*)^2$ is particularly small for the case of a vacuum HUF. We summarize our findings:

Proposition 1 The HUF has the following properties

The gravitational field is zero in the empty ball of the HUF.

A single object that might be added in the HUF does not experience any force or acceleration.

If there are fluctuations of the density in the surroundings, then the average of the field $\langle \vec{G}^* \rangle$ is zero in the HUF, and the variance of the field $(\Delta \vec{G}^*)^2$ tends to zero as the radius R of the HUF tends to infinity.

In the vacuum HUF, the variance of the field $(\Delta \vec{G}^*)^2$ is particularly small.

³According to the principle of translation invariance, neighboring HUFs include space beyond the HUF.

Chapter 3

Derivation of Quantum Physics

In this section, we derive quantum physics from the spacetimequadruple, SQ.

3.1 Our derivation of the Schwarzschild metric: energy factor

In this section, we derive the energy factor $\epsilon(R)$. That factor characterizes the Schwarzschild metric, SM, based on the spacetime-quadruple.

Definition 2 Field generating mass frame, FMF

If a mass M (Fig. 2.4) is in a HUF, then there is a frame with M at its origin and with a radial coordinate r. We call it the field generating mass frame, FMF.

According to the PFF, we obtain the following results:

Proposition 2 Local observer in a freely falling frame

If a mass M and a local observer at a fixed distance r relative to M (Fig. 2.4) are in a HUF, then the following holds:

(1) The situation can be analyzed in the FMF.

(2) The mass M generates a radial gravitational field with the value $|\vec{G}^*| = \frac{GM}{r^2}$.



Figure 3.1: Change dE of E(r, v) (\circ): The two slope triangles result in the changes $\frac{\partial E}{\partial v} \cdot dv$ and $\frac{\partial E}{\partial r} \cdot dr$. The total change dE = E(r+dr, v+dv) - E(r, v) is the sum $dE = \frac{\partial E}{\partial v} \cdot dv + \frac{\partial E}{\partial r} \cdot dr$.

(3) A the local observer at r falling freely in the radial direction (Fig. 2.4) can **locally observe** the body's radial velocity $v(r) = \frac{\partial r}{\partial \tau}$ and its radial coordinate r of the FMF.

3.1.1 Freely falling mass m

In this section we derive the **energy function** E(r, v) of a mass m that is falling in the field of a mass M, and that starts at $r \to \infty$ and v = 0. Thereby, the velocity v and the radius r are measured relative to the mass M, and the own mass or rest mass is denoted by m_0 . Solutions with more general initial conditions are elaborated in (Carmesin (2020b)).

For it we apply the **principle of energy conservation** (see Mayer (1842) or PFF). In particular, we apply the **relativistic energy** derived in SRT (Einstein (1905) or Carmesin (2020b)):

$$E(v) = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \gamma(v) \quad \text{in SR and with} \quad \gamma(v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - v^2/c^2}}$$
(3.1)

As m is falling, the velocity v increases and r decreases. Hence the energy would increase by the factor $\gamma(v)$ according to Eq. (3.1). Correspondingly, the energy decreases by a **position** factor $\epsilon(r) = 1/\gamma(v)$, so that the energy is conserved. So we get:

$$E = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \gamma(v) \cdot \epsilon(r) \quad \text{with} \quad \gamma(v) = 1/\epsilon(r) \tag{3.2}$$

The functional term of $\epsilon(r)$ must be determined. We consider the change dE of the energy, which obviously depends on r and v (Fig. 3.1). Accordingly we get:

$$dE = \frac{\partial E}{\partial r}dr + \frac{\partial E}{\partial v}dv \tag{3.3}$$

From this equation we obtain a differential equation, DEQ, for $\epsilon(r)$. According to the principle of energy conservation, dEis zero. The derivative regarding v is $\frac{\partial E}{\partial v} = E \cdot \gamma^2 \cdot v/c^2$, while the derivative regarding r is $\frac{\partial E}{\partial r} = E \cdot \epsilon'/\epsilon$ with $\epsilon' = \frac{d\epsilon}{dr}$. So we get:

$$0 = E \cdot \frac{\epsilon'}{\epsilon} \cdot dr + E \cdot \gamma^2 \cdot \frac{v}{c^2} \cdot dv$$
(3.4)

We divide by E and $d\tau$ and use $v = \frac{dr}{d\tau}$ and $a = \frac{dv}{d\tau}$ (Eq. 2.8 and Fig. (2.4). We also resolve for ϵ' . Therefore we obtain:

$$\epsilon' = -\frac{\epsilon \cdot \gamma^2}{c^2} \cdot a \tag{3.5}$$

We use $\gamma(v) = 1/\epsilon(r)$ (Eq. 3.2). We utilize the equivalence principle of the GR $a = -G^* = -\frac{G \cdot M}{r^2}$ (Eq. 2.7, here *a* is directed downwards, see Fig. 2.4), too. So we derive:

$$\epsilon' = \frac{1}{\epsilon \cdot c^2} \cdot \frac{G \cdot M}{r^2} \tag{3.6}$$

We use the well known term $R_S = \frac{2G \cdot M}{c^2}$ for the **Schwarzschild** radius. So we get the following DEQ for $\epsilon(r)$:

$$\epsilon' = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \cdot \frac{R_S}{2r^2} \tag{3.7}$$

Solution of the DEQ for ϵ : For the case of a constant mass M, we solve the DEQ for ϵ with the following Ansatz:

$$\epsilon(r) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}} \tag{3.8}$$

The derivative corresponds to the DEQ (3.7). So Eq. (3.8) is a solution. We use the two factors $\epsilon(r)$ and $\gamma(v)$ in Eqs. (3.2, 3.8, 3.1)). So we get a term for the **invariant** energy depending on r and v:

$$E(r,v) = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \frac{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{r}}}{\sqrt{1 - v^2/c^2}}$$
(3.9)

This term generally represents the functional dependence of the energy on r and v. Landau and Lifschitz (1971) obtain the same result (page 299), this confirms our derivation. We summarize:

Proposition 3 Energy in the FMF

If a field generating mass M is in a HUF, then an own mass m_0 has the following properties:

(1) The mass m_0 can be analyzed in the FMF.

(2) In the FMF, M generates a radial gravitational field with the value $G^* = |\vec{G}^*| = \frac{GM}{r^2}$.

(3) A local observer at r can locally observe the body's radial velocity $v(r) = \frac{\partial r}{\partial \tau}$ and its radial coordinate r of the FMF (see proposition 2 and Fig. 2.4).

(4) If the probing mass falls freely in the field of M, and if v = 0at $r \to \infty$, then the **energy function** E(r, v) of m_0 is described by Eq. (3.9):

$$E(r,v) = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \frac{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{r}}}{\sqrt{1 - v^2/c^2}}$$
(3.10)

(5) In particular, that energy function E(r, v) of m_0 represents an **invariant** of the motion in the FMF.

3.2 Our derivation of the FLE

In this section, we present our derivation of the **Friedmann Lemaître equation, FLE** (Friedmann (1922) and Lemaitre (1927)).

3.2.1 Expansion of space

Einstein (1917) analyzed a possible expansion of the space. Slipher (1915) discovered the redshift of distant galaxies, Wirtz (1922) analyzed empirical evidence for the expansion of space, and Hubble (1929) obtained a convincing empirical basis for that expansion of space.

That expansion of space since the Big Bang is usually described by a **uniform scaling**. In this section we derive the DEQ for the case of a homogeneous ball embedded in a HUF (Fig. 3.2).

3.2.1.1 DEQ of uniform scaling: derivation

The surroundings do not generate a field \vec{G}^* in the embedded sphere (sect. 2.7). A homogeneous sphere with a mass M generates a field in its vicinity that is equal to the field generated by the mass M in the center of the ball (Gauss (1840)). So the Schwarzschild solution applies (Eq. 3.9), and thus the energy of a probing mass with the condition $(r|v) = (r|\dot{r}) = (\infty|0)$ at some time is as follows (other conditions are analyzed in Carmesin (2020b)):

$$E(r,v) = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \gamma(v) \cdot \epsilon(r) = E_0 \text{ or } E_{ref}$$
(3.11)

Thereby the factors are:

$$\gamma(v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - v^2/c^2}}$$
; $\epsilon(r) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}}$ and $m_0 \cdot c^2 = E_0$
(3.12)

The Eq. (3.11) represents a DEQ, as it contains v, which in turn represents a derivative. This DEQ describes the dynamics of the probing mass. Next we transform this DEQ, in order to obtain a transformed DEQ, still describing the dynamics of mand r(t).

3.2.1.2 Structured energy function

In this section we derive a **structured energy function**. This may be interpreted as a result of a mathematical transformation of the DEQ, or it may be interpreted physically in addition:

The structured energy function might be interpreted as a normalized **excess energy** (Carmesin (2020b)) as follows:

In SR, the difference of the square E^2 of the energy and of the square of the own energy $m_0^2 \cdot c^4 = E_0^2$ represents the square of the kinetic energy $p^2 \cdot c^2$. By construction, it represents the square of the excess energy that the mass m has compared to its own mass m_0 .

In GR, that excess energy contains the kinetic energy and, additionally, a gravitational energy in the field.

Correspondingly, we derive the excess energy in GR as follows: We take the square of Eq. (3.11), and we subtract the squared own energy $m_0^2 c^4$ (so we obtain the square of the generalized excess energy):

$$E(r,v)^{2} - m_{0}^{2}c^{4} = m_{0}^{2} \cdot c^{4} \cdot (\epsilon(r)^{2} \cdot \gamma(v)^{2} - 1)$$
(3.13)

As the rest mass is positive, $m_0 > 0$, the velocity v is smaller than c, so the Lorentz factor $\gamma(v)$ is nonzero. Thus we can divide by $\gamma^2(v)$:

$$\frac{E(r,v)^2 - m_0^2 c^4}{\gamma^2} = m_0^2 \cdot c^4 \cdot (\epsilon(r)^2 - \gamma(v)^{-2})$$
(3.14)

In order to simplify, we insert the factors $\epsilon(r)$ and $\gamma(v)$:

$$\frac{E(r,v)^2 - m_0^2 c^4}{\gamma^2} = m_0^2 c^4 \cdot \left(\frac{v^2}{c^2} - \frac{R_S}{r}\right)$$
(3.15)



Figure 3.2: Ball with mass M and radius r embedded in homogeneous surroundings and exhibited to a probing mass m.

Conventional form: In this paragraph, we derive a conventional energy function with a conventional kinetic and potential energy term. For it we divide by $2m_0c^2$. So we get:

$$\frac{E(r,v)^2 - m_0^2 c^4}{2\gamma^2 m_0 c^2} = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \left(\frac{v^2}{c^2} - \frac{R_S}{r}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{2}$$
(3.16)

We denote that energy function with a bar, $\overline{E}(r, v)$. We apply the Schwarzschild radius $R_S = \frac{2GM}{c^2}$: So the result is a conventional structured energy function:

$$\frac{E(r,v)^2 - E_0^2}{2\gamma^2 E_0} =: \bar{E}(r,v) = \frac{m_0 \cdot v^2}{2} - \frac{G \cdot M \cdot m_0}{r}$$
(3.17)

Form with the Hubble parameter: In this part we transform the DEQ (3.15) further so that we obtain a term for the Hubble parameter:

$$H = \frac{\dot{r}}{r} \tag{3.18}$$

For it, we multiply with $\frac{1}{m_0^2 \cdot c^4} \cdot \frac{c^2}{r^2}$, and we use the density $\rho = \frac{M}{r^3 \cdot 4\pi/3}$. So we get:

$$\frac{E(r,\dot{r})^2 - m_0^2 c^4}{m_0^2 \cdot c^4 \gamma^2} \cdot \frac{c^2}{r^2} = \frac{\dot{r}^2}{r^2} - \frac{8\pi G \cdot \rho}{3}$$
(3.19)

We identify the scaled squared energy $-\frac{E(r,\dot{r})^2 - m_0^2 c^4}{m_0^2 \cdot c^4 \gamma^2}$ or the scaled energy term $-\frac{2\bar{E}(r,\dot{r})}{m_0 \cdot c^2}$ with the so-called **curvature parameter** k (Friedmann (1922), Lemaitre (1927), Stephani (1980)), we identify $\frac{\dot{r}^2}{r^2}$ by the squared Hubble parameter H^2 , and we solve for H^2 . So we get the **Friedmann Lemaître equation, FLE** (Friedmann (1922) and Lemaitre (1927)), the DEQ for the homogeneous system:

$$H^{2} = \frac{8\pi G \cdot \rho}{3} - k \cdot \frac{c^{2}}{r^{2}}$$
(3.20)

Observations and theory, see e. g. Planck-Collaboration (2020), Bennett et al. (2013), Carmesin (2020b), show that the curvature parameter k is zero, which means the space is globally flat. We summarize our derivation:

Theorem 1 Direct derivation of the FLE from the SM

The expansion of the universe has the following properties:

(1) In classical GR, it is described by a uniform scaling with a scale factor r(t) Fig. (3.2).

(2) In classical GR, the time evolution of the scale factor r(t) is described by the FLE:

$$H^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{r}}{r}\right)^{2} = \frac{8\pi G \cdot \rho}{3} - k \cdot \frac{c^{2}}{r^{2}}$$
(3.21)

(3) The FLE of that uniform scaling can be derived from the time evolution of a microscopic probing mass m as follows:

(3a) In the HUF with density ρ , there is a homogeneous ball of the universe with the same density and generating a field \vec{G}^* , and m is at the surface of that ball (Fig. 3.2).

(3b) The time evolution of m is derived from the SM, see the DEQ (3.11) as well as the transformed DEQ (3.17).

(4) Thereby, these above two DEQs use a structured energy function $\bar{E}(r, \dot{r})$ with $\bar{E}(r, \dot{r}) = 0 = k = invariant$:

$$-k := \frac{2\bar{E}(r,\dot{r})}{m_0 \cdot c^2} \quad \text{with} \quad \bar{E}(r,\dot{r}) = \frac{m_0 \dot{r}^2}{2} - \frac{GMm_0}{r}$$
(3.22)

(5) That structured energy function is defined as follows and proportional to E_0 and a normalized energy $E_{norm} = \frac{\bar{E}}{E_0}$:

$$\frac{E(r,\dot{r})^2 - E_0^2}{2\gamma^2 E_0} =: \bar{E}(r,\dot{r}) = E_0 \cdot \left(\frac{\dot{r}^2}{2c^2} - \frac{G \cdot M}{r \cdot c^2}\right)$$
(3.23)

After we analyzed the expansion of space by using the concepts of the uniform scaling, the HUF and the law of energy conservation, we analyze the additional vacuum in the following section.

3.2.2 Homogeneous metric: new vacuum

The expansion of space is usually described by a mathematical transformation: the uniform scaling. In this section we analyze, how that transformation is generated by the permanent and ubiquitous formation of new vacuum. This novel analysis is based on the fundamental concept of linear superposition of volume, see Carmesin (2021d).

3.2.2.1 Rate of formed vacuum

The increase of the radius corresponds to an increase of the volume. Hence additional vacuum is formed. In this section

we summarize the rate at which the vacuum forms. This rate is derived from the FLE¹. The flat, isotropic and homogeneous space expands according to the Hubble parameter:

$$H = \frac{\partial a}{\partial t \cdot a} = \sqrt{8\pi \cdot G/3} \cdot \sqrt{\rho} \tag{3.24}$$

The volume of a ball of the universe with radius a is $V = \frac{4\pi}{3}a^3$. With it we derive the rate of increase of the volume V by applying the chain rule:

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial t \cdot V} = \frac{1}{V} \cdot \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{V} \cdot \frac{\partial V}{\partial a} \cdot \frac{\partial a}{\partial t} = \frac{3}{a} \cdot \frac{\partial a}{\partial t} = 3H \qquad (3.25)$$

So the flat, isotropic and homogeneous space expanding according to the Hubble parameter exhibits the following DEQ for the rate of increase of the volume:

$$\left(\frac{\partial V}{\partial t \cdot V}\right)^2 = 24\pi \cdot G \cdot \rho \tag{3.26}$$

We denote the formed volume per volume and time by $\underline{\delta}V$, see Eq. (3.29). Correspondingly, we denote the time difference by δt . Moreover, we may consider infinitesimal amounts of volume dV rather than V So we derive the following DEQ:

$$\left(\frac{\underline{\delta}V}{\delta t \cdot dV}\right)^2 = 24\pi \cdot G \cdot \rho \tag{3.27}$$

Furthermore, we denote the **relative volume** by ε :

$$\frac{\delta V}{dV} = \varepsilon \tag{3.28}$$

If we consider an additional volume or vacuum that forms per volume dV and per time δt , we denote it with an underline: Furthermore, we denote a **relative volume** by ε :

$$\frac{\underline{\delta}V}{dV\cdot\delta t} = \dot{\varepsilon} \tag{3.29}$$

¹Carmesin (2018b), Carmesin (2018a), Carmesin (2019b)

With it we derive the **rate of the formation of relative volume**:

$$\dot{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{24\pi \cdot G \cdot \rho} \tag{3.30}$$

We summarize our novel concept and our derivation:

Theorem 2 Formed vacuum causes expansion of space

The uniform scaling that describes the expansion of space is caused by a rate of additionally formed vacuum with the following properties:

(1) The density ρ in a ball causes the permanent formation of additional vacuum.

(2) For a ball with radius R, the volume of the additional vacuum $\underline{\delta}V$ per volume dV and per time δt is described by the following rate:

$$\frac{\underline{\delta}V}{\delta t \cdot dV} = \dot{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{24\pi \cdot G \cdot \rho} \tag{3.31}$$

3.3 Possible unidirectional elongation

In this section we introduce the concept of a possible unidirectional elongation of space. Thereby we describe the elongation by tensors. As an example, we analyze the case of the Schwarzschild metric, SM, see e. g. Schwarzschild (1916), Carmesin (2021d) or Sect (3.9). We emphasize that we do not presume the SM in our derivation of the SM.

In GR, the spacetime in the vicinity of a mass M experiences a curvature. It can be described by using polar coordinates $dx_1 = r$, $dx_2 = \theta$ and $dx_3 = \phi$ and with the time coordinate $dx_0 = t$. The curvature can be described with help of an underlying *metric tensor* g_{ij} , so that the square of an infinitesimal line element ds is as follows:

$$ds^{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{3} \sum_{j=0}^{3} g_{ij} \cdot dx_{i} \cdot dx_{j}$$
 (3.32)

In the vicinity of a mass M, the metric tensor is as follows, see e. g. Schwarzschild (1916), Landau and Lifschitz (1971), Straumann (2013), Hobson et al. (2006), whereby we use the sign convention outlined in equation (3.108):

$$g_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} -(1 - \frac{R_S}{r}) \cdot c^2 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & r^2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r^2 \cdot \sin^2(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.33)

Hereby, the metric tensor describes the Schwarzschild metric, SM, and R_S is the Schwarzschild radius:

$$R_S = \frac{2GM}{c^2} \tag{3.34}$$

Note that there are two different sign conventions in the literature. Hereby, we use the sign convention described by the Cartesian metric tensor of flat space as follows:

$$\eta_{ij,Cartesian} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.35)

Note that the opposite signs are used in Landau and Lifschitz (1971) or in Stephani (1980), for instance. For an overview of various signs used in the literature, see Hobson et al. (2006).

3.3.1 Change tensor

In this section we analyze possible unidirectional changes that are caused by the mass M. For it we introduce a change tensor $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ij}$, more generally. As above and as an example, we use the metric tensor of the SM.

The mass M changes the metric tensor g_{ij} , whereby there are only diagonal nonzero elements g_{ii} . In particular, we consider the radial direction in space only, so $d\theta$ and $d\phi$ are both zero. So Eq. (3.32) takes the following form:

$$ds^2 = g_{00} \cdot dt^2 + g_{rr} \cdot dr^2 \tag{3.36}$$

As the Schwarzschild metric is stationary, we may consider dt = 0. So we derive:

$$ds^2 = g_{rr} \cdot dr^2 \tag{3.37}$$

We insert $g_{rr} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}}$, see Eq. (3.33). So the length dr is elongated to the length ds or dr' as a result of the mass M as follows:

$$ds = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{r}}} \cdot dr = dr' \tag{3.38}$$

So the difference or displacement δr_{SM} is as shown below:

$$\delta r_{SM} = dr' - dr = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}}} - 1\right) \cdot dr \tag{3.39}$$

That displacement δr_{SM} is illustrated in figure (3.3).

The derivative of such a displacement δr_{SM} with respect to the original length dr can be interpreted as an element of a *change tensor* $\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}$, similarly to the strain tensor in elasticity theory, see (Landau and Lifschitz, 1975, equations 1.5, 1.8) or (Sommerfeld, 1978, equation 11):

$$\frac{\delta r_{SM}}{dr} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{rr} \tag{3.40}$$

Hereby, δr_{SM} and dr are regarded as differentials in the sense of the Leibniz calculus, see e. g. Bos (1974), Leibniz (1684) or Fig. (3.3).

For the case of other components, the change tensor takes the following form:

$$\frac{\delta r_i}{dr_j} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{ij} \tag{3.41}$$



Figure 3.3: Unidirectional elongation in the radial direction: A cube with lower and upper surface dA is elongated by shifting the upper surface by an increment δr_{SM} .

Also the full change tensor is analogous to the strain tensor in elasticity theory, see (Landau and Lifschitz, 1975, equations 1.5, 1.8) or (Sommerfeld, 1978, equation 11).

3.3.2 Change of volume

Since the discovery of the dark energy, see e. g. Perlmutter et al. (1998), Riess et al. (2000), Smoot (2007), Spergel et al. (2007), Planck-Collaboration (2020), it is clear that the vacuum has a density ρ_{Λ} . Accordingly, the volumes dV and δV_{SM} in figure (3.3) correspond to respective energies. So it is interesting to analyze the relative change of the volume:

The change can directly be applied to the volume in figure (3.3), $dV = dA \cdot dr$. The change of the volume δV_{SM} is the product of the area dA with the change δr_{SM} :

$$\frac{\delta V_{SM}}{dV} = \frac{dA \cdot \delta r_{SM}}{dA \cdot dr} = \frac{\delta r_{SM}}{dr} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{rr} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{r}}} - 1 \qquad (3.42)$$

In general, the relative change of the volume is the sum of the

changes for each Cartesian coordinate in a D dimensional space. So it is the sum of the diagonal elements of the change tensor:

$$\frac{\delta V}{dV} = \Sigma_{j=1}^{D} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{jj} \tag{3.43}$$

This result corresponds to respective terms in elasticity theory, see (Landau and Lifschitz, 1975, equations 1.5, 1.6) or (Sommerfeld, 1978, equations 18 - 20). Here we call the relative change of the volume ε :

$$\frac{dV' - dV}{dV} = \frac{\delta V}{dV} = \varepsilon \tag{3.44}$$

We summarize our derivation as follows:

Proposition 4 Elongation in the SM

A mass or dynamical mass M causes an elongation $\delta r_{SM,elo}$ of a radial coordinate distance dr. Thereby, $\delta r_{SM,elo}$ is a function of the distance r as follows:

$$\delta r_{SM,elo} = dr' - dr = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}}} - 1\right) \cdot dr \qquad (3.45)$$

That elongation can be expressed by the radial element of the change tensor:

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr} = \frac{\delta r_{SM,elo}}{dr} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}}} - 1 \qquad (3.46)$$

As a consequence, the volume $dV = 4\pi r^2 \cdot dr$ of the shell with radius r and thickness dr is increased by the volume $\delta V_{SM,elo} = 4\pi r^2 \cdot \delta r_{SM,elo}$ as follows:

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr} = \frac{\delta V_{SM,elo}}{dV} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}}} - 1 \qquad (3.47)$$

3.4 Isotropic expansion of space

In this section, we analyze an isotropic expansion. Physically, this describes the expansion of space since the Big Bang, see e. g. Wirtz (1922), Hubble (1929), Friedmann (1922), Lemaitre (1927), Einstein and de Sitter (1932), Carmesin (2017).

The increase of a scale factor or radius *a* can be described by the *Friedmann* - *Lemaître equation*, *FLE*, at the macroscopic level:

$$\left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2 = \frac{8\pi \cdot G}{3} \cdot \rho \tag{3.48}$$

Hereby, the density ρ includes the density of the matter ρ_m , the density of the vacuum ρ_{Λ} , the density of the curvature ρ_K and the density of radiation ρ_r . Based on observation, see e. g. Spergel et al. (2007), Planck-Collaboration (2020), and based on theory, see e. g. Carmesin (2021d), ρ_K is negligible.

On a possible additional pressure p: The pressure p allows for an additional component, see e. g. Hobson et al. (2006). Some authors additionally represent an additional pressure in terms of an equation of state with an additional exponent w. We do not introduce any such additional parameters or fit parameters, as we derive everything directly from gravity, the EEP and SR. Accordingly, we do not execute any fit parameters, in particular, we do not use such an exponent w or such a pressure p as a fit parameter.

As an important example, we derived the FLE by application of the spacetime-quadruple, see above or (Carmesin, 2021d, theorem 3):

SQ implies
$$FLE$$
 (3.49)

In the FLE, the fraction $\frac{\dot{a}}{a}$ is called Hubble parameter *H*:

$$\frac{\dot{a}}{a} = H \tag{3.50}$$

3.4.1 Transformation of the Hubble parameter

In this section, we analyze the Hubble parameter $\frac{\dot{a}}{a}$ with help of the volume in figure (3.3). For it we name the scale factor aby dr:

$$\frac{dr}{dr} = H \tag{3.51}$$

As a first step, we analyze an unidirectional expansion in the direction dr in figure (3.3). For it, we investigate the time evolution of the volume in figure (3.3), starting at t = 0. Thereby we consider the case of a short time δt in the sense of the Leibniz calculus. As an initial condition, the vertical length in figure (3.3) is dr at t = 0, and the change tensor $\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}$ is zero at t = 0. At the later time δt , the length is named dr'. Accordingly, the differential fraction represents the time derivative dr in the sense of the Leibniz calculus:

$$\frac{dr' - dr}{\delta t} = \dot{dr} \tag{3.52}$$

We identify the difference dr' - dr with δr in figure (3.3):

$$\frac{\delta r}{\delta t} = \dot{d}r \tag{3.53}$$

Here we identify the difference δr with the product $\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr} \cdot dr$, see Eq. (3.42):

$$\frac{\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr} \cdot dr}{\delta t} = \dot{dr} \tag{3.54}$$

According to the initial condition, we replace $\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}$ by $\delta \hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}$:

$$\frac{\delta\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}\cdot dr}{\delta t} = \dot{dr} \tag{3.55}$$

In the used framework of the Leibniz calculus, we identify $\frac{\delta \hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}}{\delta t}$ by the time derivative of the tensor:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{rr} \cdot dr = \dot{dr} \tag{3.56}$$

We insert this equation into Eq. (3.51):

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{rr} = H_{unidirectional} \tag{3.57}$$

As a second step, we consider an expansion in all three Cartesian directions x, y and z. So the relative change of the volume is expressed by the sum of the three diagonal elements of the change tensor, see Eq. (3.43). Thus Eq. (3.57) is transferred to the case of isotropic expansion, if we replace the unidirectional change tensor $\hat{\varepsilon}_{rr}$ by the sum of the three Cartesian elements of the change tensor:

$$\Sigma_{j=1}^{3}\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj} = H_{isotropic} = H = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\frac{\delta V}{dV} = \dot{\varepsilon}$$
(3.58)

3.4.2 Rate of formation of vacuum

In this section, we analyze the rate at which the vacuum forms during the expansion of the universe since the Big Bang. For it, we express the volume V by the scale factor a:

$$V = \frac{4\pi}{3}a^3$$
 (3.59)

Using the chain rule, we obtain the derivative:

$$\dot{V} = 3\dot{a}\frac{V}{a} \tag{3.60}$$

So we derive:

$$\frac{\dot{V}}{V} = 3\frac{\dot{a}}{a} = \dot{\varepsilon} \tag{3.61}$$

We apply the square:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}^2 = 9\left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2 \tag{3.62}$$

We insert the FLE (equation 3.48):

$$\dot{\varepsilon}^2 = 24\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.63}$$

In order to simplify further, we apply Eq. (3.58) to Eq. (3.63):

$$\left(\Sigma_{j=1}^{3}\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}\right)^{2} = 24\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.64}$$

We evaluate the square. Hereby the tensor product of unequal unidirectional tensors vanishes, for instance $\hat{\varepsilon}_{xx} \cdot \hat{\varepsilon}_{yy} = 0$:

$$\Sigma_{j=1}^3 \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 = 24\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.65}$$

As the expansion is isotropic, we derive:

$$3 \cdot \hat{\varepsilon}_{xx}^2 = 24\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.66}$$

We divide by three:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{xx}^2 = 8\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.67}$$

Moreover, we consider an arbitrary direction j instead of x:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 = 8\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.68}$$

Note that no sum convention is applied here.

Proposition 5 Expansion of space

If space expands with a Hubble parameter H, then the increase of the volume is equal to the following terms:

$$H = \partial_t \frac{\delta V}{dV} =: \dot{\varepsilon} \tag{3.69}$$

Thereby, the relative change of volume

$$\frac{\delta V}{dV} =: \varepsilon \tag{3.70}$$

is equal to the sum of the three Cartesian diagonal tensors

$$\frac{\delta V}{dV} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{xx} + \hat{\varepsilon}_{yy} + \hat{\varepsilon}_{zz} \qquad \text{with} \qquad (3.71)$$

$$\frac{\delta x}{dx} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{xx}; \quad \frac{\delta y}{dy} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{yy} \quad \frac{\delta z}{dz} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{zz} \quad \text{and} \quad (3.72)$$

$$\frac{\delta V}{dV} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \hat{\varepsilon}_{jj} = \text{Trace } \hat{\varepsilon}_{ij}$$
(3.73)

So the rates are as follows:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}^2 = \left(\frac{\underline{\delta}V}{dV\delta t}\right)^2 = 24\pi G \cdot \rho = \Sigma_{j=1}^3 \hat{\varepsilon}_{jj}^2 \qquad \text{or} \qquad (3.74)$$

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 = 8\pi G \cdot \rho \tag{3.75}$$

3.5 Density ρ_f of the gravitational field G^*

Gravity can be described by several physical quantities. Note that these descriptions do not exclude each other. Firstly, Newton described a gravitational force of interaction of two masses with some distance r between these masses, hereby no concept is provided about the physics taking place in the space between the two masses. Secondly, Faraday introduced the concept of a field that describes the physics taking place in the space between two interacting bodies, see Faraday (1852), and Gauss adopted that concept for the case of gravity, see Gauss (1809). Thirdly, Einstein described gravity in terms of curvature of spacetime, see Einstein (1915), Hilbert (1915).

Which of the three theories is most adequate for a critical and microscopic analysis of gravity? NG is excluded, as it makes restrictive presumptions about space and time. Einstein's gravity is mesoscopic, but not microscopic. Gaussian gravity describes the formation of gravity by a mass most microscopically and in a manner that focuses on the essence most clearly. Accordingly, we use Gaussian gravity. Correspondingly, we apply the densities of the gravitational field.

3.5.1 Absolute value of ρ_f

In this section, we derive the absolute value $|\rho_f|$ of the energy density ρ_f of the field G^* located in a HUF. For it we analyze the energy ΔE_M that is necessary in order to lift a mass M in a shell with a radius R to a shell with a radius $R + \Delta R$, see Fig. (3.4). Thereby, the mass is lifted as follows: Differential parts



Figure 3.4: In a HUF, a mass M (dark grey) in a shell at a radius R is lifted to a radius $R + \Delta R$ as follows: Differential parts dM are lifted, while the rest M_{rest} is still at R. Thereby the field G^* (medium grey) in the shell with radius R and thickness ΔR becomes zero, when the whole mass is at $R + \Delta R$ (see Fig. 3.5).

dM are lifted, while the part M_{rest} is still at R. Moreover, the velocity of M remains zero, in an ideal manner. So a part dM is lifted at the gravitational field of the part M_{rest} :

$$|\vec{G}^*(M_{rest})| = \frac{G \cdot M_{rest}}{R^2} \tag{3.76}$$

So the field G^* is proportional to the part M_{rest} (Fig. 3.5). If a mass dM is lifted, and if the mass M_{rest} is still at R, then dM experiences the force² $F = G^*(M_{rest}) \cdot dM$, thus the energy $dE = F \cdot \Delta R$ is required:

$$dE = |G^*(M_{rest})| \cdot dM \cdot \Delta R = \frac{G \cdot M_{rest}}{R^2} \cdot dM \cdot \Delta R \quad (3.77)$$

We derive the full change in gravitational energy ΔE_M by integrating the above Eq.:

$$\Delta E_M = \int_0^E dE = \int_M^0 \frac{G \cdot M_{rest}}{R^2} dM \cdot \Delta R \qquad (3.78)$$

²The force can be used instead of the position factor, as ΔR is infinitesimal.



Figure 3.5: The field G^* is shown as a function of the mass M_{rest} that is still at the shell with the radius R.

When a mass dM is lifted, then the mass M_{rest} is decreased by dM. So $dM_{rest} = -dM$. Thus we get:

$$\Delta E_M = -\int_M^0 \frac{G \cdot M_{rest}}{R^2} dM_{rest} \cdot \Delta R \qquad (3.79)$$

We evaluate the integral:

$$\Delta E_M = \frac{G \cdot M^2 \cdot \Delta R}{2R^2} \tag{3.80}$$

Location of the energy ΔE_M : While the mass M was lifted in the above process, the energy ΔE_M was added to the system. Where is this energy ΔE_M located in the system?

As the mass M is identical to the probing mass m and to the field-generating mass $M_f = M$, the mass M is not in an external field. So the position factor is 1 at the beginning and at the end of the process. Hence the energy ΔE_M is not located in the mass.

There is a **modification in the shell** between the radii Rand $R + \Delta R$. It can be characterized by the additional curvature. That additional curvature can be characterized by formed volume flowing outwards at the velocity c. As we derived the

$$E \qquad \begin{array}{c} E = M \cdot c^{2} \\ \hline R + \Delta R \\ \hline \\ E = M \cdot c^{2} + E_{f} \\ \hline \\ R \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} \Delta E_{M} \\ \hline \\ \\ R \end{array}$$

Figure 3.6: The energy of the mass is shown at the initial radius R and at the final radius $R + \Delta R$.

curvature from the EEP to which the field is inherent, that outflow can also be described by the field G^* .

Hence, in the HUF the energy ΔE_M is located in the modifications in the shell between R and $R + \Delta R$, and it can be characterized by the field.

Absolute value $|u_f|$ of the energy density u_f of the field: The field G^* is in the shell with radius R and thickness ΔR (see Fig. (3.4). The corresponding volume is $\Delta V = 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot \Delta R$. So we derive the energy density by the dividing the energy ΔE_M by the volume ΔV . So we get:

$$|u_f| = \frac{\Delta E_f}{\Delta V} = \frac{G \cdot M^2 \cdot \Delta R}{2R^2 \cdot 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot \Delta R}$$
(3.81)

We simplify the above term, we expand by G, and we apply the field $G^* = \frac{G \cdot M}{R^2}$. So we get:

$$|u_f| = \frac{\vec{G}^{*2}}{8\pi \cdot G} = |\rho_f| \cdot c^2$$
(3.82)

3.5.2 Sign of u_f

In this section, we derive the sign of the energy density u_f of the field.

For it, we analyze the gravitational energy of the field. The sign of an energy is determined from the law of energy conservation. Before the above process, the system has the energy of the mass $M \cdot c^2$, plus the energy E_f of the field in the HUF (Fig. 3.6):

$$E_{before} = M \cdot c^2 + E_f(r \ge R + \Delta R) + \Delta E_f \qquad (3.83)$$

During the process, the energy ΔE_M is added to the system. So the energy E_{after} after the process is as follows:

$$E_{after} = E_{before} + \Delta E_M \qquad \text{or} \quad (3.84)$$

$$E_{after} = M \cdot c^2 + E_f (r \ge R + \Delta R) + \Delta E_f + \Delta E_M \qquad (3.85)$$

Moreover, we identify the energy E_{after} after the process directly: it consist of $M \cdot c^2$ and ΔE_f :

$$E_{after} = M \cdot c^2 + E_f(r \ge R + \Delta R) \tag{3.86}$$

We subtract Eq. (3.86) from Eq. (3.85). So we derive the following relation:

$$0 = \Delta E_f + \Delta E_M \tag{3.87}$$

As the sign of ΔE_M is positive, the sign of the energy of the field ΔE_f is negative. More generally, the energy of the gravitational field of a mass M is negative. Correspondingly, the energy density u_f of the field is negative.

3.5.3 Inertia inherent to ρ_f

In this section, we analyze the inertia that is inherent to the gravitational field of a mass M. For it, we apply the energy momentum relation of a physical object, whereby the object has an energy E or a dynamical mass or mass $M = E/c^2$, whereby the object has a momentum p, and whereby the object has a zero or nonzero rest mass m_0 :

$$E^2 = p^2 \cdot c^2 + m_0^2 \cdot c^4 \tag{3.88}$$

The right hand side represents the inertial properties of the object, as the rest mass m_0 represents inertia directly, whereas the momentum p represents inertia that becomes obvious e. g. when the object is absorbed by another rest mass $m_{0,2}$, which is accelerated as a consequence. The left hand side describes the energy, which becomes obvious in energetic processes such as described in section (3.5.2). The above Eq. (3.88) clearly shows that the inertia of the object depends on the square of the energy only. A negative energy $E_{obj} < 0$ of an object represents the same inertia as the absolute value of that energy $|E_{obj}| > 0$. Note that these relations hold in a HUF, as the HUF excludes additional energies that might occur in local frames. Note further that most observers measure the inertial properties of an object, instead of the object's energy with respect to a HUF, since most measurements are performed in a laboratory or in a part of space that is relatively small compared to the volume within the light horizon.

According to the fact that the inertia of an object corresponds to the absolute value of the energy E of the object in a HUF, we define an inertial energy density of the field by the absolute value of the energy density as follows:

Definition 3 Inertial energy density of the field

The inertial energy density $u_{f,In}$ of the field is its absolute value. Correspondingly, the inertial density $\rho_{f,In}$ of the field is its absolute value as well:

$$u_{f,In} = |u_f| = \frac{\vec{G}^{*2}}{8\pi \cdot G}$$
 and (3.89)

$$\rho_{f,In} = |\rho_f| = \frac{G^{*2}}{8\pi \cdot G \cdot c^2}$$
(3.90)

We summarize our findings in the following theorem.

Theorem 3 Energy and inertia of the field

(1) The gravitational energy is inherent to modifications of space such as curvature or additionally formed volume or a gravitational field.

(2) In a HUF, a gravitational field \vec{G}^* has the energy density u_f as follows:

$$u_f = -\frac{\vec{G}^{*2}}{8\pi \cdot G} = \rho_f \cdot c^2 \tag{3.91}$$

(3) In a HUF, a gravitational field \vec{G}^* has the inertial energy density $u_{f,In}$ as follows:

$$u_{f,In} = \frac{\hat{G}^{*2}}{8\pi \cdot G} = \rho_{f,In} \cdot c^2$$
 (3.92)

(4) If an observer measures the energy density of an object in a laboratory, at Earth, in the Solar System, in the Milky Way, in Laniakea, see e. g. Tully et al. (2014), Carmesin (2021c), or in a part of space that is relatively small compared to the volume within the light horizon, then that observer measures $u_{f,In}$, as long as the result is not transformed to a homogeneous universe frame, HUF, or to an equivalent frame.

(5) In a HUF with a field generating mass M, or in a FMF, at a distance r from a mass M, a gravitational field $G^*(r)$ occurs as follows, see e. g. Carmesin (2021d):

$$|\vec{G}^*| = \frac{G \cdot M}{r^2} \tag{3.93}$$

3.5.4 An essential density

The density $\rho_{f,In}$ of the field describes an essential energy, whenever there occurs the phenomenon of gravity. Correspondingly, that energy must be included in the combined DEQ (3.68). Accordingly, we represent a possible additional density ρ_{add} and the density of the gravitational field $\rho_{f,In}$ in that combined equation, whereby ρ_{add} can represent a density of matter or a density of radiation, for instance:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 = 8\pi G \cdot (\rho_{add} + \rho_{f,In}) \tag{3.94}$$

3.6 Rate gravity scalar RGS & 4-vector RGV

The combined Eq. (3.94) contains a scalar in spacetime. In order to identify it, we insert equation (3.92) into Eq. (3.94):

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 = 8\pi G \cdot \rho_{add} + G^{*2}/c^2$$
 or (3.95)

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 - G^{*2}/c^2 = 8\pi G \cdot \rho_{add}$$
(3.96)

3.6.1 Formation of vacuum in vacuum

In this section, we analyze the formation of vacuum without any additional density ρ_{add} , see Eq. (3.96). For that process, we say vacuum forms in vacuum. In that case, the rate takes the following form:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 - G^{*2}/c^2 = 0 \tag{3.97}$$

As vacuum forms in vacuum, the component of the field G_j^* is the same as that of the rate $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}$:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 - G_j^{*2}/c^2 = 0 \tag{3.98}$$

We remind that the corresponding inhomogeneous equation is as follows:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 - (G_j^*/c)^2 = 8\pi G \cdot \rho_{add}$$
(3.99)

3.6.2 Isotropic formation of vacuum in vacuum

In this section, we derive the isotropic formation of vacuum in vacuum. For it, we apply the sum $\sum_{j=1}^{3}$ to Eq. (3.98):

$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 - \sum_{j=1}^{3} G_j^{*2} / c^2 = 0$$
 (3.100)

We identify the change of volume $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}$ or $\dot{\varepsilon}$:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}^2 = \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}^2 = \Sigma_{j=1}^3 \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 \qquad \text{thus} \qquad (3.101)$$

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}^2 - \Sigma_{j=1}^3 G_j^{*2} / c^2 = 0 \tag{3.102}$$

We remind that the corresponding inhomogeneous equation is as follows:

$$\Sigma_{j=1}^{3} \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^{2} - \Sigma_{j=1}^{3} G_{j}^{*2} / c^{2} = \Sigma_{j=1}^{3} 8\pi G \cdot \rho_{add} \quad \text{thus} \quad (3.103)$$

$$\dot{\varepsilon}^2 - G^{*2}/c^2 = 24\pi G \cdot \rho_{add} \tag{3.104}$$

We identify the left hand side of Eq. (3.102) by a scalar RGS in spacetime:

$$RGS = \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}^2 - \Sigma_i G_i^{*2} / c^2 \qquad (3.105)$$

We call the scalar RGS rate gravity scalar, as $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}$ is a rate of formation of volume, while $\sum_i G_i^{*2}/c^2$ represents gravity in terms of the gravitational field. Moreover, it is a scalar product or a scalar. Accordingly, we call the corresponding four vector rate gravity vector RGV. Additionally, the gravitational field can be expressed by a potential.

$$G_j^* = -\partial_j \phi \tag{3.106}$$

$$RGV_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{\varepsilon} \\ G_{1}^{*}/c \\ G_{2}^{*}/c \\ G_{3}^{*}/c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{t}\varepsilon \\ -\partial_{r_{1}}\phi/c \\ -\partial_{r_{2}}\phi/c \\ -\partial_{r_{3}}\phi/c \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.107)

Using the metric tensor of flat spacetime,

$$\eta_{i,k} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \eta_i^k$$
(3.108)

we express the RGS in terms of the RGV:

$$RGS = \sum_{i=0}^{3} \sum_{k=0}^{3} RGV_i \cdot \eta_{i,k} \cdot RGV_k \tag{3.109}$$

Theorem 4 Invariant formation of vacuum

For the case of formation of vacuum without any additional density ρ_{add} , the RGS in the DEQ

$$RGS = \dot{\varepsilon}^2 - G^{*2}/c^2 = 0 \tag{3.110}$$

is an invariant for the following reasons:

(1) The only possible accelerations in a HUF are particular accelerations. A field \vec{G}^* of a particular acceleration can be measured by a local observer.

(2) A possible absolute velocity cannot be measured. The DEQRGS = 0 is invariant with respect to a Lorentz transformation, as the RGS is a relativistic square of a four vector, the rate gravity four-vector:

$$RGV_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{\varepsilon} \\ G_{1}^{*}/c \\ G_{2}^{*}/c \\ G_{3}^{*}/c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{t}\varepsilon \\ -\partial_{r_{1}}\phi/c \\ -\partial_{r_{2}}\phi/c \\ -\partial_{r_{3}}\phi/c \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{thus} \quad (3.111)$$
$$RGS = \Sigma_{i=0}^{3}\Sigma_{k=0}^{3}RGV_{i} \cdot \eta_{i,k} \cdot RGV_{k} \quad (3.112)$$

Accordingly, the RGS is a Lorentz scalar.

(3) Corresponding inhomogeneous DEQs are as follows:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{jj}^2 - \left(\frac{G_j^*}{c}\right)^2 = 8\pi G \rho_{add} = (\partial_t \hat{\varepsilon}_{jj})^2 - \left(\frac{\partial_j \phi}{c}\right)^2 \tag{3.113}$$

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}^2 - \left(\frac{G^*}{c}\right)^2 = 24\pi G\rho_{add} = (\partial_t \hat{\varepsilon})^2 - \Sigma_{j=0}^3 \left(\frac{\partial_j \phi}{c}\right)^2 \quad (3.114)$$

Note that the sign of the rate is physically determined as follows: If the average of the particular radial accelerations is positive, then additional vacuum must be formed so that the universe expands (Carmesin (2020b), Carmesin (2020a)).

3.7 Rate gravity waves, RGW

In this section, we analyze solutions of the DEQs in theorem (4). For simplicity, we abbreviate $\hat{\varepsilon}_{jj}$ by $\hat{\varepsilon}_{j}$:

$$RGS = 8\pi G \cdot \rho_{add} \tag{3.115}$$

with
$$RGS = \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j^2 - (\partial_j \phi)^2 / c^2$$
 (3.116)

3.7.1 Solutions in the vacuum

Firstly, we analyze the above DEQ for the case of zero additional density ρ_{add} . So we analyze solutions in the vacuum. Accordingly, we set the RGS in Eq. (3.116) equal to zero:

$$RGS = \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j^2 - \left(\partial_{x_j}\phi/c\right)^2 = 0 \tag{3.117}$$

As the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_j$ represents a tensor, in general, we represent it with a hat, $\dot{\varepsilon}_j$. Similarly, the amplitudes of the corresponding waves represent a tensor, in general, and so they are marked with a hat as well, see e. g. Eq. (3.118). The following waves are possible solutions of the above DEQ:

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_j = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot \exp(-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k_j \cdot r_j) + \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,const.} \qquad (3.118)$$

$$\hat{\phi}_j = \hat{\phi}_{j,\omega} \cdot \exp(-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k_j \cdot r_j) + \hat{\phi}_{j,const.} \qquad (3.119)$$

Hereby, we apply the usual sign convention of quantum physics in the exponent, see e. g. (Kumar, 2018, Eq. 3.2.11), (Ballentine, 1998, Eq. 4.26). We insert these solutions into the DEQ (3.117):

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega}^2 \cdot \omega^2 = \frac{k_j^2}{c^2} \cdot \hat{\phi}_{j,\omega}^2 \tag{3.120}$$

Thus the velocity of propagation of a wave in direction of the coordinates r_j or k_j is as follows:

$$v_{prop} = \frac{\lambda}{T} = \frac{\omega}{k_j} \tag{3.121}$$



Figure 3.7: In the Schwarzschild metric, a length dR is elongated by an additional length δR , corresponding to an additional volume δV_{elo} .

We apply this result to (Eq. 3.120):

$$\phi_{j,\omega} = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} \tag{3.122}$$

So we can express the wave in terms of a single amplitude $\hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega}$. Thus the waves are as follows, see equations (3.118, 3.119).

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_j(t,r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot e^{-i\cdot\omega \cdot t + i\cdot k_j \cdot r_j} + \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,const.} \quad (3.123)$$

$$\hat{\phi}_j(t,r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} \cdot e^{-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k_j \cdot r_j} + \hat{\phi}_{j,const.} \quad (3.124)$$

$$\hat{\phi}_j(t,r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega}(t,r_j) \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} + \hat{\phi}_{j,const.} \quad (3.125)$$

For the case of waves with zero average, we neglect the constant:

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_j(t,r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot \exp(-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k_j \cdot r_j)$$
(3.126)

$$\phi_j(t, r_j) = \varepsilon_{j,\omega}(t, r_j) \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} \qquad (3.127)$$

The DEQ of the RGWs (3.117) has the oscillatory solutions in equations (3.118, 3.119), and it makes possible exponentially growing solutions, in addition. Such solutions can exhibit the so-called reheating problem, Broy (2016). Accordingly, such solutions are not analyzed in this book.

3.7.2 DEQ for stationary fields

The DEQ of the RGWs (3.117) describes the relation between a field G_i^* and a rate $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j$. Physically, there are two essential cases:

- 1. If there is no additional source, then the field and the rate cause each other, and an oscillatory or an exponential solution occur.
- 2. If the field is caused by an additional source such as a mass or dynamic mass M_q , then the field causes the rate according to the DEQ of the RGWs (3.117).

In the presence of a source, the field $G_j^*(R)$ at a distance R from M_q is determined according to Gaussian gravity as follows, see section (2.3):

$$G_j^*(R) = \frac{G \cdot M_q}{R^2}$$
 (3.128)

In order to derive the corresponding rate of unidirectional formation of vacuum, we apply the DEQ of RGWs (3.117):

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j = G_j^*(R)/c = \frac{G \cdot M_q}{R^2 \cdot c} \tag{3.129}$$

We summarize our results as follows:

Theorem 5 Properties of RGWs

The RGWs (Eqs. 3.123, 3.124 and 3.125)

$$\varepsilon_j(t, r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot e^{-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k_j \cdot r_j} + \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,const.}$$
(3.130)

$$\phi_j(t, r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} \cdot e^{-i \cdot \omega \cdot t + i \cdot k_j \cdot r_j} + \hat{\phi}_{j,const.}$$
(3.131)

$$\phi_j(t, r_j) = \varepsilon_{j,\omega}(t, r_j) \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} + \phi_{j,const.}$$
(3.132)

have the following properties:

(1) Some RGWs are plane waves or discrete or continuous linear combinations of these. These linear combinations include waves with various symmetries, as the plane waves establish a complete orthonormal basis of a Fourier transform including Fourier integrals, see e. g. Sakurai and Napolitano (1994) or Teschl (2014), (Ballentine, 1998, p. 17-22).

(2) In general, the amplitudes $\hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega}$ and $\hat{\phi}_{j,\omega}$ are tensors.

(3) The RGWs propagate at a velocity v_{prop} with $v_{prop} = c$ or $v_{prop} < c$. If an RGW describes the propagation of vacuum, then its velocity is $v_{prop} = c$, as otherwise an object with $m_0 > 0$ could exhibit velocity v < c relative to the vacuum, in contrast to SR.

(4) In general, the RGWs represent solutions of the inhomogeneous DEQ in theorem (4). Accordingly, the rates $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}$ can also describe the formation of vacuum with a nonzero time average.

(4a) The RGWs describe the formation of vacuum in the vicinity of a mass M_q , whereby there occurs a stationary additional volume as follows:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j = G_j^*(R)/c = \frac{G \cdot M_q}{R^2 \cdot c} \quad \text{with} \quad \rho_{f,In} = \frac{G^{*2}}{8\pi G c^2} \quad (3.133)$$

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_j^2 = 8\pi G \rho_{f,In} \tag{3.134}$$

(4b) The RGWs describe the formation vacuum during the expansion of space and at a density ρ as follows:

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j^2 = 8\pi G \rho$$
 and (3.135)

$$3\dot{\varepsilon}_{j}^{2} = 24\pi G\rho = \dot{\varepsilon}^{2} = \left(\frac{\underline{\delta}V}{dV\delta t}\right)^{2}$$
(3.136)

3.8 Emergence of quanta

In this section, we investigate the structure of the vacuum solutions in section (3.7.1). Based on these solutions, we derive the quantization in nature. In order to derive the velocity v_{prop} of propagation or phase velocity v_{phase} , we insert Eq. (3.122) into equation (3.120):

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot \omega = \frac{k_j}{c} \cdot \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega} \cdot c \cdot v_{prop} \qquad (3.137)$$

We solve for the velocity of propagation:

$$\omega/k_j = v_{prop} = v_{phase} \tag{3.138}$$

3.8.1 Quantization derived

In this section, we analyze RGWs that propagate at the velocity $v_{prop} = c$. So Eq. (3.138) implies the following relation:

$$\frac{\omega}{k_j} = c \tag{3.139}$$

Each wave that propagates at the velocity of light c, and that is emitted during a finite interval of time from a finite source, has the following properties:

(1) The wave forms a wave packet, as it essentially has a finite extension in space and time.

(2) The wave packet has an energy E and a momentum p, as it essentially has a finite extension in space and time.

(3) As the wave packet propagates at c, its energy E and its momentum p obey the the following relation:

$$\frac{E}{p} = c \tag{3.140}$$

(4) As the wave packet propagates at c, its circular frequency ω and its wave number k obey the following relation:

$$\frac{\omega}{k} = c \tag{3.141}$$

(5) So the two above fractions are equal:

$$\frac{E}{p} = \frac{\omega}{k} = c \tag{3.142}$$

(6) As ω is nonzero, we can divide by ω and multiply by p. So the following fractions are equal:

$$\frac{E}{\omega} = \frac{p}{k} = \frac{p \cdot c}{\omega} \neq 0 \tag{3.143}$$

(7) In particular, the first two fractions do not depend on time, as E and p are conserved according to the laws of conservation of energy and momentum, and as ω and k of the RGW do not change as a function of time:

$$\frac{p}{k} = K(k) \tag{3.144}$$

$$\frac{E}{\omega} = K(k) \tag{3.145}$$

$$K(k) = constant(k) \tag{3.146}$$

Hereby, constant(k) = K(k) is the constant of quantization. It could be a function of the wave number k, most generally.

(8) The energy E of the wave packet is constant and proportional to ω , so the energy of the wave packet is quantized. Similarly, the momentum p of the wave packet is constant and proportional to k, so the momentum of the wave packet is quantized. Thereby, that quantization are as follows:

$$E = K(k) \cdot \omega$$
 and (3.147)

$$p = K(k) \cdot k \qquad \text{with} \qquad (3.148)$$

That constant has been measured. It is the Planck constant h divided by 2π . It is called the reduced Planck constant (see 7.1):

$$K(k) = \hbar \tag{3.149}$$

However, we should first prove that K(k) does not depend on k, see section (3.8.2).
3.8.2 Universality of Planck's constant derived

In this section, we show that K(k) does not depend on k. For it, we analyze the standard deviations or uncertainties inherent to the wave functions.

These standard deviations are characterized by an uncertainty relation as follows:

$$\Delta x \cdot \Delta p \ge \frac{K(k)}{2} = \frac{\text{quantization factor}}{2} \quad \text{with} \quad (3.150)$$

$$\Delta p = \sqrt{\langle p^2 \rangle - \langle p \rangle^2} \tag{3.151}$$

Hereby, Δx is the standard deviation of x and Δp is the standard deviation of p.

However, there is a universal uncertainty relation, which holds for wave functions (in the corresponding Hilbert space, see section (3.12)), it is a mathematical fact, see for instance Carmesin et al. (2020), (Sakurai and Napolitano, 1994, p. 56-57):

$$\Delta x \cdot \Delta k \ge \frac{1}{2} \qquad \qquad \text{with} \qquad (3.152)$$

$$k\psi = -i\partial_x\psi(x,k)$$
 and (3.153)

$$\Delta k = \sqrt{\langle k^2 \rangle - \langle k \rangle^2} \tag{3.154}$$

Hereby, Δx is the standard deviation of x and Δk is the standard deviation of k.

In particular, the product of the uncertainties Δx and Δk has a minimum, whereby that minimum does not depend on k (in a usual mathematical normalization, that minimum has the value 1/2). That mathematical result about the (Hilbert space of) wave functions does hold for the physical wave functions as well, as it is a mathematical fact. Thus $\frac{K(k)}{2}$ in Eq. (3.150) must be a constant. This shows that K(k) does not depend on k, q. e. d.

3.8.3 Schrödinger equation derived

In this section, we show that the DEQ of the RGW (3.117) is the Schrödinger equation. For it, we solve that equation for $\hat{\varepsilon}_j$. Thereby, we choose different signs of the square roots (so we obtain positive energy):

$$\partial_t \hat{\varepsilon}_j(t, r_j) = -\partial_j \hat{\phi}(t, r_j)/c \qquad (3.155)$$

In order to find the wave equation, we apply the solution in Eq. (3.127),

$$\hat{\phi}_j(t,r_j) = \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,\omega}(t,r_j) \cdot c^2, \qquad (3.156)$$

so we derive:

$$\partial_t \hat{\varepsilon}_j(t, r_j) = -\partial_j \hat{\varepsilon}_j(t, r_j) \cdot c \tag{3.157}$$

For comparison, the Schödinger equation is as follows, see section (1.3.2.3):

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,r_j) = -i\cdot\hbar\cdot c\cdot\partial_{r_j}\psi(t,r_j) \tag{3.158}$$

In fact, the above Eq. (3.157) is already mathematically equivalent to the Schrödinger equation. However, the square of the wave function should be proportional to the energy density $u_{f,In}$, as the energy density $u_{f,In}(\vec{R},t)$ is proportional to the probability of finding the object at (\vec{R},t) , see section (1.3.2.1). Moreover, the wave function should have the physical dimension or unit $[\psi] = 1$. For that purpose, we apply the time derivative to Eq. (3.157), and we multiply with a normalization factor of time t_n . That factor t_n is determined so that the wave function ψ has an amplitude corresponding to the respective physical situation under investigation. In particular, the sum or integral of all probabilities or probability densities is normalized to one:

$$\partial_t \hat{\varepsilon}_j(t, r_j) \cdot t_n = -\partial_{r_j} \hat{\varepsilon}_j(t, r_j) \cdot t_n \cdot c \tag{3.159}$$

In order to show that the DEQ of the RGW is equivalent to the Schödinger equation, we multiply Eq. (3.159) by $i\hbar$:

$$i\hbar\partial_t \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j(t,r_j) \cdot t_n = -i\hbar\partial_{r_j} \dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j(t,r_j) \cdot t_n \cdot c \qquad (3.160)$$

We conclude that the DEQ of the RGW (3.160) is equivalent to the Schödinger equation (3.158), whereby we identify the normalized unidirectional rate $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j(t, r_j) \cdot t_n$ with the normalized wave function $\psi(t, r_j) \cdot f_n$, see figure (3.3), whereby f_n denotes a normalization factor of a wave function ψ :

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j(t,r_j) \cdot t_n = \psi(t,r_j) \cdot f_n$$
(3.161)

In order to make the Schödinger equation (3.160) even more obvious, we apply the momentum operator $\hat{p}_j = -i\hbar\partial_{r_j}$, the operator of kinetic energy $\hat{E}_{kin} = \hat{p}_{r_j} \cdot c = -i\hbar\partial_{r_j} \cdot c$ and the operator of energy $\hat{E} = i\hbar\partial_t$, see equations (1.2, 1.6):

$$\hat{E}\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{j}(t,r_{j})\cdot t_{n} = \hat{p}_{j}\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{j}(t,r_{j})\cdot t_{n}\cdot c = \hat{E}_{kin}\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_{j}(t,r_{j})\cdot t_{n} \quad (3.162)$$

3.8.4 Objects with $v_{prop} < c$

An object with a velocity $v_{prop} < c$ has a rest mass m_0 . According to SR, the energy momentum relation holds:

$$E^2 = p^2 c^2 + m_0^2 \cdot c^4 \tag{3.163}$$

In order to obtain the Schödinger equation, we apply the root:

$$E = \sqrt{p^2 c^2 + m_0^2 \cdot c^4} \tag{3.164}$$

In many applications, the non-relativistic approximation of the above root is applied. Usually, the linear order in $p/(m_0c)$ is used:

$$E = m_0 \cdot c^2 + \frac{p^2}{2m_0} \tag{3.165}$$

It is convenient to use the kinetic energy $E_{kin,non-relativistic} = E - m_0 \cdot c^2$:

$$E_{kin,non-relativistic} = \frac{p^2}{2m_0} \tag{3.166}$$

In order to obtain the Schödinger equation, we apply the corresponding operators. In particular, we use Eq. (3.166), we insert the operator \hat{p} for the momentum p (Eq. 1.2), we insert the operator \hat{E} for the energy $E_{kin,non-relativistic}$ (1.6). Moreover, we multiply by the wave function:

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,r_j) = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_0}\partial_{r_j}^2\psi(t,r_j)$$
(3.167)

This is the non-relativistic Schödinger equation (1.11), whereby we identify the normalized unidirectional rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_j(t, r_j) \cdot t_n$ with the normalized wave function $\psi \cdot f_n$:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_j(t,r_j) \cdot t_n = \psi(t,r_j) \cdot f_n \tag{3.168}$$

We summarize our results as follows:

Theorem 6 Emergence of quanta

(1) Each wave that propagates at the velocity of light $v_{prop} = c$, and that is emitted at a finite interval of time and from a finite source, has the following properties:

(1.1) The wave forms a wave packet with an energy E, a momentum p, a circular frequency ω and a wave number k.

(1.2) The wave packet is quantized as follows:

 $E = K \cdot \omega \qquad \text{and} \qquad (3.169)$

$$p = K \cdot k \qquad \text{with} \qquad (3.170)$$

K =universal constant of quantization (3.171)

Hereby, the universal constant of quantization K does not depend on E or ω , K has been measured, and K is Planck's constant h divided by 2π , so K is the reduced Planck constant $\hbar = \frac{h}{2\pi} = K$, see table (7.1).

(1.3) If that wave is a rate gravity wave, RGW, it obeys the Schödinger equation, SEQ. Hereby, the normalized wave function is equal to the normalized rate of the unidirectional relative change of the volume of vacuum, see figure (3.3):

$$\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j(t,r_j) \cdot t_n = \psi(t,r_j) \cdot f_n \tag{3.172}$$

$$i\hbar\partial_t\hat{\varepsilon}_j(t,r_j)\cdot t_n = -i\hbar\partial_{r_j}\hat{\varepsilon}_j(t,r_j)\cdot t_n\cdot c \tag{3.173}$$

(2) Each RGW that propagates at the velocity of light $v_{prop} < c$, and that is emitted at a finite interval of time and from a finite source, has the following properties:

(2.1) The RGWs are quantized. From the above one dimensional SEQ, the three dimensional SEQ is constructed as usual, see e. g. Sakurai and Napolitano (1994), Ballentine (1998), Kumar (2018).

(2.2) The RGW obeys the Schödinger equation, SEQ. Hereby, the normalized wave function is equal to the normalized rate of the unidirectional relative change of the volume, see figure (3.3). For $v/c \ll 1$, the SEQ is as follows:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_j(t,r_j) \cdot t_n = \psi(t,r_j) \cdot f_n \tag{3.174}$$

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,r_j) = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_0} \cdot \partial_{r_j}^2\psi(t,r_j)$$
(3.175)

Hereby, m_0 is the rest mass of the described quantum object.

All results derived in this theorem are based on the spacetimequadruple.

3.9 Derivation of the SM

Using the spacetime-quadruple, SQ, we derived two essential results: In section (3.1), we obtained the energy factor $\epsilon(R)$

of the Schwarzschild-metric, SM. In the previous section (3.8), we realized the emergence of the quantization in nature. In this section, we apply these two findings in order to derive the Schwarzschild metric g_{ij} , SM.

Note that the Schwarzschild metric g_{ij} has been derived by using the energy factor $\epsilon(R)$ and quanta (photons), see e.g. Carmesin (2021d). Thereby we did not yet derive the quanta on the basis of the SQ, whereas in this book, we derive $\epsilon(R)$, quanta and the SM (see g_{ij} in Eq. 3.192) from the SQ.

Blue shift: For it we consider a photon that is placed in a HUF, and that starts at $r \to \infty$, and that has a corresponding periodic time T_{∞} (see left rectangle in Fig. 3.8), and that falls vertically towards a field-generating mass M at r = 0. Thus the energy of the photon is:

$$E_{HUF}(r \to \infty) = \frac{h}{T_{\infty}} \tag{3.176}$$

The field generating mass M generates the field G^* . The energy in the field is described by the position factor $\epsilon(r)$.

For instance, if the position r of the photon decreases, then its energy decreases by that position factor $\epsilon(r)$ and is simultaneously multiplied by the inverse factor $\frac{1}{\epsilon(r)}$, so that the energy remains invariant.

If the photon is observed in a local frame (LUF) at the radius r, then the observer has the same position factor as the photon, and so the measurement apparatus only takes care of the inverse position factor $\frac{1}{\epsilon(r)}$ by measuring the energy $\frac{h}{T_{\infty}} \cdot \frac{1}{\epsilon(r)}$ of the photon in the local frame. As a consequence, the photon appears to have the short periodic time:

$$T(r) = T_{\infty} \cdot \epsilon(r) \tag{3.177}$$

This corresponds to a blue shift (see central rectangle in Fig. 3.8), and the energy of the photon in the local frame is as fol-



Figure 3.8: Photon propagating down towards a mass M: Measured energy $E_{measure}$ in the HUF and LUF.



Figure 3.9: A field generating mass frame, FMF, is embedded in a HUF. The height h characterizes the field. A photon is falling down, thereby its wavelength decreases.

lows:

$$E_{blue \ shift} = \frac{h}{T(r)} = \frac{h}{T_{\infty} \cdot \epsilon(r)} = \frac{E_{HUF}(r \to \infty)}{\epsilon(r)} \qquad (3.178)$$

Many observations are carried out in such a local frame (see central rectangle in Fig. 3.8).

Definition 4 Local universe frame, LUF

A frame that is accelerated or that experiences a field or a curvature of spacetime or that is falling freely is called **local universe frame**, **LUF**.

For instance, a LUF may be embedded in a HUF, and it may contain a field generating mass, or it may be falling freely. In general, the energy in such a local frame is obtained from the corresponding energy in the HUF by multiplication with the inverse position factor, $\frac{1}{\epsilon(r)}$.

$$E_{LUF} = \frac{E_{HUF}(r \to \infty)}{\epsilon(r)} \quad \text{for description via } \epsilon(r) \tag{3.179}$$

Alternatively, the local frame can be described by a potential energy $E_{pot}(r)$ instead of a position factor $\epsilon(r)$. In that case, the energy in the LUF is obtained from the corresponding energy in the HUF by subtracting the potential energy $E_{pot}(r)$:

$$E_{LUF} = E_{HUF}(r \to \infty) - E_{pot}(r)$$
 descr. via E_{pot} (3.180)

Conversely, the energy in the HUF is obtained from the energy in the LUF by multiplication with the position factor, see right rectangle in Fig. (3.8) and Eq. (3.179). In the case of a description with a potential energy, the energy in the HUF is obtained from the energy in the LUF by subtracting the potential energy, see Eq. (3.179).

Gravitational time dilation: The periodic time T(r) of photons is used for time measurement, e.g. in atomic clocks (Bundesanstalt (2007), Lombardi et al. (2007)). Accordingly, the periodic time changes the time interval dt(r) by the same factor:

$$dt(r) = dt_{\infty} \cdot \epsilon(r)$$
 in the LUF (3.181)

Altogether, the time elapses at a decreased rate near M. This effect is called **gravitational time dilation**.

Gravitational radial elongation: An observer in the HUF at $r \rightarrow \infty$ measures a radial length L_{LUF} in a LUF at finite r. For it, the observer sends a light signal to a mirror in a LUF, detects the reflected signal, and measures the **t**ime **o**f **f**light $t_{tof,HUF}$

with a clock in the HUF. The observer evaluates the length (as the light propagates the path twice, there is a factor 1/2):

$$L_{HUF} = t_{tof,HUF} \cdot c \cdot \frac{1}{2} \tag{3.182}$$

We apply $t_{tof,HUF} = t_{tof,LUF}/\epsilon(r)$:

$$L_{HUF} = t_{tof,LUF} \cdot c \cdot \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{\epsilon(r)}$$
(3.183)

We identify $t_{tof,LUF} \cdot c \cdot \frac{1}{2}$ by L_{LUF} :

$$L_{HUF} = L_{LUF} \cdot \frac{1}{\epsilon(r)} > L_{LUF} \tag{3.184}$$

Altogether, the radial length increases near M. We identify this effect as a gravitational radial elongation.

Metric tensor: Tensor formulations of GR are very popular (see for instance Einstein (1915), Stephani (1980), Carmesin (1996), Moore (2013)). Accordingly, we express the above results in terms of the metric tensor, additionally. A line element ds in spacetime is expressed as follows:

$$ds^{2} = \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{i=3,j=3} g_{ij} \ dx_{i} \cdot dx_{j}$$
(3.185)

For the case of a change $dx_j = c \cdot dt_{\infty} = dx_i$, we get:

$$dt(r)^2 = |g_{tt}| \cdot dt_{\infty}^2 \text{ or } |g_{tt}| = \epsilon(r)^2 = 1 - \frac{R_S}{r}$$
 (3.186)

For the case of a change $dx_j = dr_{\infty} = dx_i$, we get:

$$dR(r)^2 = g_{rr} \cdot dR_{\infty}^2$$
 or $g_{rr} = \frac{1}{\epsilon(r)^2} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{R_s}{r}}$ (3.187)

According to the isotropic field near M, the metric factors for the angular polar coordinates are zero, as there is no gravity in the horizontal direction. We apply three dimensional polar coordinates. So the angular element of the metric tensor $g_{\theta\theta}$ is proportional to r^2 :

$$g_{\theta\theta} = r^2 \tag{3.188}$$

Similarly, the angular element of the metric tensor $g_{\phi\phi}$ is proportional to $r^2 \cdot \sin^2 \theta$:

$$g_{\phi\phi} = r^2 \cdot \sin^2\theta \tag{3.189}$$

For the same reason, all non-diagonal elements are zero.

$$g_{i,j} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i \neq j \tag{3.190}$$

According to a convention, the element g_{tt} is supplemented by a factor -1 (Straumann (2013), Stephani (1980), Carmesin (1996)). We use this convention, as it maximizes the number of positive signs in the tensor η_{ij} or g_{ij} in the limit $r \to \infty$, see Eq. (3.108). Of course, the sign is not determined at all by physical reasons. We present the derived tensor elements by the vector notation in the following Eq. below. We summarize our derivation:

Theorem 7 The spacetime-quadruple implies the SM

The Schwarzschild metric, SM, can be derived from the SR as follows:

(1) The energy function E(r, v) in the field generating mass frame, FMF is derived from the gravitational field, the PFF and the SR^3 :

$$E(r,v) = m_0 \cdot c^2 \cdot \frac{\sqrt{1 - R_S/r}}{\sqrt{1 - v^2/c^2}}$$
(3.191)

(2) The elements of the metric tensor g_{ij} are derived by analyz-

³It will be derived later that physical states fulfill the relation $R > R_S$.

ing a photon in the local universe frame, LUF:

$$g_{i,j} = \begin{pmatrix} -\left(1 - \frac{R_S}{r}\right) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{1 - \frac{R_S}{r}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & r^2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r^2 \cdot \sin^2 \theta \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.192)

3.10 Particle wave transformation, PWT

So far, we investigated the SQ as follows:

Firstly, we introduced a **general object** with a mass or dynamical mass M, see chapter (2).

Secondly, we described the effect of such an object on the region outside the object by the Schwarzschild metric, SM, see sections (3.1, 3.9). In this manner, we described the object in terms of a **particle**. More generally, the object can be described by the Kerr metric of a spinning black hole, see Kerr (1963). Or the object can be described by the Kerr-Newman metric of a charged and spinning black hole, see Newman and Janis (1965) or (Straumann, 2013, chapter 8). Even more generally, the object can be described by any mass or dynamical mass M, the surroundings of which can be characterized by a curvature of space or of spacetime or by a gravitational field.

Thirdly, we described the general object by an unidirectional rate gravity wave, RGW, see sections (3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.7). In this manner, we described the object in terms of a **wave**. Hereby the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$ of the rate gravity wave corresponds to the **wave function** ψ of quantum physics, see section (3.8).

By performing the procedure outlined above, we transformed a description of the general object in terms of a particle to a description of the same object in terms of a wave. We call that transformation **particle wave transformation**, **PWT**. Obviously, that transformation describes the **duality of particles and waves observed in nature**. Accordingly, the PWT should be characterized and analyzed, in order to understand nature more deeply.

In this section, we elaborate the PWT in precise detail. For it, we apply results obtained in (Carmesin, 2021d, sections 1.9, 1.13 and 2.5).

3.10.1 Effect of a general object upon its surroundings

In this section, we summarize the effects of a general object with mass or dynamical mass M upon its surroundings. Hereby, the object is described as a particle.

Of course, the particle exhibits an effect upon the surroundings as a **direct consequence of gravity**. If the particle has a charge, for instance an electric charge, a hypercharge or a colorcharge in the sense of the strong interaction, see e. g. Tanabashi et al. (2018), Griffiths (2008), then the particle exhibits additional effects upon its surroundings. We do not analyze such charges here, as they can easily be added later, see e. g. Landau and Lifschitz (1971), Tanabashi et al. (2018), Griffiths (2008), Carmesin (2021e).

The direct gravitational effect of the particle upon its surroundings can be described by the SM, see section (3.9).

3.10.2 Elongation δR corresponding to curvature

In the SM, see e. g. Schwarzschild (1916) or Carmesin (2021d)) or section (3.9), there occurs a curvature, corresponding to an elongation in the radial direction, see figure (3.7). Accordingly, the coordinate distance dR at a coordinate R in figure (3.7) is elongated to the following length dL:

$$dL = \frac{dR}{\sqrt{1 - R_S/R}} \quad \text{with} \quad R_S = \frac{2Gm}{c^2} \tag{3.193}$$

Thus the additional distance in figure (3.7) is as follows:

$$\delta R = dL - dR \tag{3.194}$$

3.10.3 Vacuum δV_{elo} corresponding to elongation δR

The additional vacuum with the volume δV or δV_{elo} in figure (3.7) is the volume of a shell with thickness δR and radius R:

$$\delta V_{elo} = 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot \delta R \tag{3.195}$$

We insert equations (3.193, 3.194):

$$\delta V_{elo} = 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot dR \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - R_S/R}} - 1\right) \tag{3.196}$$

We apply the volume $4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot dR = dV$ of the shell:

$$\delta V_{elo}(R) = dV \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - R_S/R}} - 1\right) \tag{3.197}$$

In particular, in the case of a small ratio R_S/R and in linear order in that ratio, we derive the following linear approximation, see (Carmesin, 2021d, Eq. 1.46):

$$\delta V_{elo}(R) \doteq dV \cdot \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{R_S}{R}$$
 (linear approximation) (3.198)

3.10.4 Locally formed vacuum δV_{LFV} in the SM

In the surroundings of M, the locally formed vacuum can be described with help of a field G^* , see chapter (2). We showed already, that this field G^* corresponds to a density $\rho_{f,In}$, which in turn causes the formation of vacuum, see sections (3.5, 3.7). As the field G^* and the density $\rho_{f,In}$ are local quantities in the vicinity of M, we call the formed vacuum a **locally formed vacuum** δV_{LFV} . In this section, we derive the amount of that locally formed vacuum δV_{LFV} that is generated at a distance Rof the mass M in figure (3.7). The vacuum propagates at the velocity c, see section (2.6). According to the symmetry, the vacuum exhibits a net propagation in a radial direction. Thus the volume $\delta V_{elo}(R)$ of elongation is represented by the volume of the net propagation of the vacuum. If the volume is the same at two radii R and $R + \delta R$, then no volume is formed in the difference δR . Accordingly, the formed volume δV_{LFV} is the difference of the volumes of elongation as follows:

$$\underline{\delta}V_{LFV} = \delta V_{elo}(R + \delta R) - \delta V_{elo}(R)$$
(3.199)

We apply Eq. (3.197) to the above equation:

$$\underline{\delta}V_{LFV} = dV \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R + \delta R}}}\right)$$
(3.200)

In the limit δR to zero, that term can be expressed by using a derivative as follows:

$$\lim_{\delta R \to 0} \frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta R} = -dV \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial R} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{R}}}$$
(3.201)

We evaluate the derivative:

$$\lim_{\delta R \to 0} \frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta R} = \frac{dV \cdot R_S}{2R^2} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}^3}}$$
(3.202)

We apply the notation of the Leibniz calculus, see e. g. Leibniz (1684). Accordingly, we interpret $\frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta R}$ as a derivative, or we interpret δR as an infinitesimal quantity. So the limit in the above equation is not noted explicitly:

$$\frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta R} = \frac{dV \cdot R_S}{2R^2} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}^3}}$$
(3.203)

We apply the term of the volume dV of the shell with thickness dR and radius R in figure (3.7), $dV = dR \cdot 4\pi \cdot R^2$:

$$\frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta R} = 2\pi \cdot R_S \cdot dR \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}^3}}$$
(3.204)

3.10.5 Rate of locally formed vacuum, LFV

The vacuum propagates at the velocity c of light, see section (2.6). Moreover, the volume δV_{LFV} of the locally formed vacuum, flows radially, see section (3.10.5). Thus the volume δV_{LFV} of the LFV propagates the radial distance δR in the time interval $\delta t = \delta R/c$:

$$\delta t = \delta R/c \tag{3.205}$$

During that microscopic time interval δt , the locally formed vacuum propagates through the volume $\underline{\delta}V_{LFV}$ that it forms, so that new volume is formed during the time δt of propagation.

We apply that relation to Eq. (3.204), and we multiply by c:

$$\frac{\underline{\delta}V_{LFV}}{\delta t} = \frac{dV \cdot R_S \cdot c}{2R^2} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}^3}}$$
(3.206)

3.10.6 Relative rate of LFV

In order to derive the relative rate $\frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta t \cdot dV}$ of the volume δV_{LFV} of the LFV, we divide Eq. (3.206) by dV:

$$\frac{\delta V_{LFV}}{\delta t \cdot dV} = \frac{R_S \cdot c}{2R^2} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}^3}}$$
(3.207)

Remind that we denote the formed volume per volume and time by $\underline{\delta V}$, see section (3.2.2.1). As the volume $\underline{\delta V}_{LFV}$ of the LFV forms in the radial direction, we identify the rate by the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV}$ of the unidirectional vacuum, see figure (3.3) and equations (3.42,3.43,3.44):

$$\frac{\underline{\delta}V_{LFV}}{\delta t \cdot dV} = \dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} \tag{3.208}$$

We insert Eq. (3.207) and obtain the rate as follows:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{R_S \cdot c}{2R^2} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_S}{R}^3}}$$
(3.209)

We apply the Schwarzschild radius $R_S = \frac{2GM}{c^2}$:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{G \cdot M}{R^2 \cdot c} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{R}^3}}$$
(3.210)

We identify the field in the SM, $G^* = \frac{G \cdot M}{R^2}$:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{G^*}{c} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{R}^3}}$$
(3.211)

Here, we express G^* by a potential ϕ via $G^* = -\partial_{r_j}\phi(R)$:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{-\partial_{r_j}\phi(R)}{c} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{R}^3}}$$
(3.212)

Hereby, we may express $\frac{R_s}{R}$ by $\frac{2}{c^2} \cdot \frac{G \cdot M}{R} = \frac{2}{c^2} \phi(R)$ in a similar manner. Remind that the fields G^* caused from sources outside a HUF add up to zero in a HUF, so the Eq. (3.212) does also hold globally in the universe. The above equation represents a wave equation. We call it a **generalized SEQ**.

3.10.7 Far distance limit: usual and universal QP

In this section, we analyze an especially simple case of the DEQ (3.211). It is the limit R_S/R towards infinity, we call it the **far**

distance limit. Moreover, we apply $G^* = -\partial_{x_j}\phi$:

$$\lim_{R_S/R \to 0} \dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{G^*}{c} = -\frac{\partial_{x_j}\phi}{c}$$
(3.213)

Physically, this limit corresponds to an observer that is at some distance from our general object. We denote the above limit of the rate by $\dot{\varepsilon}_i$:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_j := \lim_{R_S/R \to 0} \dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} \tag{3.214}$$

So we derive the DEQ as follows, see Eq. (3.213):

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_j = -\frac{\partial_{x_j}\phi}{c} \tag{3.215}$$

Using that equation, we derived the Schrödinger equation, SEQ, see section (3.8.3):

$$\partial_t \varepsilon_j(t, r_j) = -\partial_j \varepsilon_j(t, r_j) \cdot c$$
 or (3.216)

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,r_j) = -i\cdot\hbar\cdot c\cdot\partial_{r_j}\psi(t,r_j)$$
 or (3.217)

$$i\hbar\partial_t\psi(t,r_j) = \hat{p}\cdot c\cdot\psi(t,r_j) = \hat{E}_{kin}\cdot\psi(t,r_j)$$
(3.218)

Theorem 8 Particle wave transformation, PWT

I. Representations

The general object with mass or dynamical mass M has a particle description, PD, of M. The PD provides the curvature of space or of spacetime or the gravitational field in the vicinity of M. Examples are the SM, the Kerr metric or the Kerr-Newman metric:

$$PD(M)$$
 is curvature = function (M, R) or (3.219)

$$PD(M)$$
 is $G^* = \text{function}(M, \vec{R})$ (3.220)

The general object with mass or dynamical mass M has a wave description, WD, of M. The WD provides the SEQ, and the

generalized WD, the WD_g , provides the generalized SEQ, the SEQ_g describing M:

$$WD(M)$$
is $SEQ(M)$ or(3.221) $WD_g(M)$ is $SEQ_g(M)$ (3.222)

II. PWT

Starting from the PD(M), we derive the WD(M) via the following steps.

(1) We derive the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$ as a function of the particle description, rate(PD(M)). So we obtain an equation of the following form, see for instance Eq. (3.210):

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = term_1(M, G^*) \tag{3.223}$$

In terms of the steps of transformation, we denote the above equation as follows:

 $transformation_1[PD(M)]$ is rate(PD(M)) (3.224)

(1a) For it, we derive the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}(PD(M))$ from the curvature as described above, if the curvature is provided by the PD.

(1b) Or we apply $\dot{\varepsilon}(PD(M)) = \pm G^*/c$, if the field is provided by the PD.

(2) In term₁ in Eq. (3.223), we express M (or M within R_S) by the field G^* .

Thereby, the evaluation of the field may be achieved by the application of Gaussian gravity, see chapter (2) or e. g. Carmesin (2021d). Note that GG is applicable most microscopically.

In terms of the steps of transformation, we denote the transformed equation as follows:

 $transformation_2[PD(M)]$ is field(rate(PD(M))) (3.225)

(3) We express the field in terms of a potential:

$$G^* = -\partial_{\vec{r}}\phi(\vec{r}) \tag{3.226}$$

Thus we obtain a wave equation of the following form:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = term_2(\partial_{\vec{r}}\phi(\vec{r})) \tag{3.227}$$

That wave equation represents a generalized SEQ, see for instance Eq. (3.212).

In terms of the steps of transformation, we denote the transformed equation as follows:

 $transformation_3[PD(M)]$ is potential(field(rate(PD(M))))(3.228)

(4) We apply the far distance limit to Eq. (3.227):

$$\lim_{\frac{R_S}{R} \to 0} \dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \lim_{\frac{R_S}{R} \to 0} term_2(\partial_{\vec{r}}\phi(\vec{r}))$$
(3.229)

Thus only the leading order term in R_S/R remains. So the SEQ is obtained, see e. g. equations (3.216, 3.217, 3.218).

In terms of the steps of transformation, we denote the transformed equation as follows:

$$transformation_4[PD(M)]$$
 is (3.230)

$$\lim_{\frac{R_S}{R} \to 0} potential(field(rate(PD(M))))$$
(3.231)

Altogether, the steps (1), (2), (3) and (4) constitute the fourth transformation, transformation₄, it is the particle wave transformation, PWT:

$$WD(M)$$
 is $PWT(PD(M))$ with (3.232)
 $PWT(PD(M))$ is $\lim_{\frac{R_S}{R}\to 0} potential(field(rate(PD(M))))$
(3.233)

Since the resulting equation is the SEQ, we obtain the following result of the PWT:

$$SEQ(M)$$
 is $PWT(PD(M))$ (3.234)

III. Generalized PWT

The generalized SEQ, SEQ_g , is obtained by the generalized particle wave transformation, PWT_g , as follows:

$$SEQ_q(M)$$
 is $PWT_q(PD(M))$ and (3.235)

$$PWT_g(PD(M))$$
 is $potential(field(rate(PD(M))))$ (3.236)

The generalized PWT has an inverse as follows:

$$PWT_g^{-1}(SEQ_g(M)) (3.237)$$

is
$$rate^{-1}(field^{-1}(potential^{-1}(SEQ_g(M))))$$
 or (3.238)

$$PWT_g^{-1}(WD_g(M))$$
 (3.239)

is
$$rate^{-1}(field^{-1}(potential^{-1}(WD_g(M))))$$
 (3.240)

Thereby, the generalized SEQ represents the generalized wave description of M, $WD_g(M)$.

IV. Particle wave duality

A general object with a mass or dynamical mass M has two descriptions, the PD(M) and the $WD_g(M)$. Both descriptions can be transformed into each other by application of the $PWT_g(PD(M))$ and by the $PWT_g^{-1}(WD_g(M))$. These two mutually transformable descriptions represent the observed wave particle duality, whereby these descriptions have been derived from the SQ. So the observed wave particle duality is a property of the SQ.

3.11 Probabilistic nature of quantum physics

In this section, we show that the particle wave transformation implies that a general object described by a mass or dynamical mass M is observed according to probabilities.

The object can be described as a wave, according to the PWT_q . During the propagation of the object as a wave, the



screen with camera and memory

Figure 3.10: Double slit: Single photons arrive at a double slit. Behind the double slit, each photon interferes with itself. Accordingly, it is described in terms of wave fronts. At the screen, complete photons are detected by a camera and marked in the memory. In the memory, a diffraction pattern forms (dotted), based on many photons, each of which interfered with itself.

amplitude of the object decreases, since the waves distributes in space, in general.

However, the same object can be transformed to a particle description at any time according to the PWT_q^{-1} . For instance, a detector with an aperture A may detect the object, whereby the part of the wave entering the aperture has insufficient energy in order to constitute the particle, in general. As a consequence, the detector will detect the object at a probability that is proportional to the fraction of the energy of the wave that enters the detector.

Altogether, the object is of a probabilistic nature, as a consequence of the PWT. Since we derived the PWT from the SQ, the probabilistic nature of objects is a consequence of the SQ.

In the following, we use a double slit experiment as an example, and we show how the above probability is calculated.

3.11.1 Probability in a quantum system

In this section, we consider an object in chapter (2) that behaves different from a classical particle. So the object is described by a typical propagating wave or wave packet. During its propagation, such a wave packet distributes in space, and it can be diffracted at a double slit experiment, see e. g. Young (1802) or (Kumar, 2018, cover) or Fig. (3.10). So the object can correspond to a diffraction pattern, see figures (3.11, 3.10). However, though the intensity is distributed at the screen in figure (3.11), a single object can be observed at only one location x of the screen. Correspondingly, the pattern forms gradually in time, see figures (3.10, 3.12).

Thereby, the probability density P(x) to find the object at a location x is proportional to the energy density $u_{f,In}$ of the particle or to the density $\rho_{f,In}$ of that particle, see proposition (3).

So the energy density $u_{f,In}$ is proportional to the square of the field G^{*2} , see proposition (3). Moreover, the field G^* is proportional to the unidirectional rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_j$, see Eq. (3.117) and figure (3.3). That unidirectional rate is proportional to the wave function, $\psi \propto \dot{\varepsilon}_j$. Altogether, the probability density P(x)is proportional to the square of the wave function, and as we allow for complex functions, as usual, P(x) is proportional to the absolute square of the wave function:

$$P(x) \propto |\psi(x)|^2 \tag{3.241}$$

Hereby, the normalization factors t_n and f_n in equations (3.243, 3.245, 3.248) are chosen so that the integral or sum or integral and sum of all probabilities are one:

$$P(x)dx = |\psi(x) \cdot f_n|^2 dx \qquad \text{with} \quad (3.242)$$

$$\int P(x)dx = \int |\psi(x) \cdot f_n|^2 dx = 1 \quad \text{for continuous } x \quad (3.243)$$



Figure 3.11: Intensity I as a function of the coordinate x at a screen of a double slit experiment.

$$P(x_j) = |\psi(x_j) \cdot f_n|^2 \qquad \text{with} \qquad (3.244)$$

$$\Sigma_j P(x_j) = \Sigma_j |\psi(x_j) \cdot f_n|^2 = 1 \qquad \text{for discrete } x \qquad (3.245)$$

$$P(x_j) = |\psi(x_j) \cdot f_n|^2$$
 or (3.246)

$$P(x)dx = |\psi(x) \cdot f_n|^2 dx \qquad \text{with} \qquad (3.247)$$

$$1 = \Sigma_j P(x_j) + \int P(x) dx \qquad \text{in general} \qquad (3.248)$$

These results show that the occurrence of objects according to a probability distribution is already inherent to the SQ. Moreover, it is clear that the inverse PWT cannot be applied to a typical object with a spreading wave function.

3.11.2 Particle wave duality

The same very general object can be represented by a particle. Moreover, the PWT transforms that representation to a wave representation. So the object is at the same time a particle and a wave. This is the essence of the particle wave duality, see for instance (Kumar, 2018, p. 7, 33).



Figure 3.12: Patterns of the double slit experiment after 1 s, 10 s and 100 s.

3.11.3 Universality of QP

In this section, we characterize a universal property of QP.

In a double slit experiment, see figure (3.10), there occurs a diffraction pattern, see figure (3.11) as a function of time, see figure (3.12), independent of the type of object that propagates through the double slit. For instance, the double slit experiment has been performed with photons, with electrons, see Tonomura et al. (1988), with neutrons, see Zeilinger et al. (1988), with helium atoms, see Grisenti et al. (2000), and with large molecules, see Nairz et al. (2003). In all cases, the diffraction pattern can be derived from the wave length of the respective objects as a whole, whereas the constituents of the objects do not change the positions of the diffraction maxima. These findings show that the diffraction pattern is universal in the sense that it does not depend on the used objects (photons, neutron, atoms, molecules).

Similarly, the **universal gas law** describes the **ideal gas**, and that law provides a relation between the pressure p, volume V, absolute temperature T and number of particles N,

$$p \cdot V = N \cdot k_B \cdot T \tag{3.249}$$

Hereby k_B denotes the Boltzmann constant, see table (7.1). While the universal gas law becomes exact in the **thermodynamic limit** N to infinity, the universality of the usual QP is achieved in the **far distance limit** R_S/R to zero.

The universality of the usual QP arises as follows: The far distance limit simplifies the DEQ of the RGWs. Thereby, the DEQ becomes equivalent to the SEQ, and this SEQ holds for all objects in the same manner. In this manner, all properties of QP that arise from the SEQ become universal in the far distance limit of the DEQ of the RGWs.

3.11.4 Generalized QP

The usual QP is achieved in the far distance limit, see section (3.11.3). New physics is expected, if we do not apply that limit. Similarly, the real gas, see van der Waals (1873), differs from the ideal gas, and the real gas describes new physics, such as phase transitions.

In this case, the quantum physics beyond the usual and universal QP is described by the DEQ (3.211):

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{G^*}{c} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{R}^3}} \qquad \text{or} \qquad (3.250)$$

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{-\partial_j \phi(R)}{c} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{R_s}{R}^3}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad (3.251)$$

$$\lim_{\frac{R_S}{R} \to 0} \dot{\varepsilon}_{j,LFV} = \frac{-\partial_j \phi(R)}{c} \qquad \text{is the SEQ} \qquad (3.252)$$

Accordingly, the above Eq. (3.251) represents the **generalized SEQ**. Such general QP is beyond the scope of the present book and is to be analyzed in the future.

Such general QP is also achieved, when details of the microscopic structure are analyzed. For instance, the elementary charge and the mass of the Higgs boson have been derived by a microscopic analysis based on quantum gravity and provided new physics, see Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e).

Theorem 9 Probabilistic nature

In general, the amplitude of the wave function $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n$ decreases during the propagation in space. If that amplitude is too small in order to form a particle, then the corresponding particle occurs with a probability P that is proportional to the inertial energy density $u_{f,In}$, which is proportional to the absolute square of the wave function, $P \propto u_{f,In} \propto |\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n|^2$.

3.12 Derivation of the quantum postulates

In this section, we derive the quantum postulates from the SQ. Thereby, the postulates have been designed by a guess with a subsequent elaboration, see figure (3.13) or (Grawert, 1977, p. 148). Accordingly, the postulates are not determined in a unique manner. Correspondingly, I use postulates present in the literature.

3.12.1 P1: Quantum states form a Hilbert space

In this section, we derive the following postulate by (Kumar, 2018, p. 168):

'The state of a quantum mechanical system, at a given instant of time, is described by a vector $|\Psi(t)\rangle$, in the abstract Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of the system.'

3.12.1.1 Derivation

Firstly, we identify the states in the SQ:



Figure 3.13: On the discovery of QP: Many experiments are subsumed by postulates of QP so that the postulates explain QP.

In the present SQ, a **state of a quantum mechanical system** is generated by the particle wave transformation. So it is a state in the far distance limit.

Moreover, the state is described by the normalized rate as a function of location and time $\dot{\varepsilon}(\vec{r}, t) \cdot t_n$, see section (3.7), which is equal to the normalized wave function in quantum physics see section (3.8):

$$\dot{\varepsilon}(\vec{r},t) \cdot t_n = \psi(\vec{r},t) \cdot f_n \tag{3.253}$$

Secondly, we show that these states of the present SQ form a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} :

The states $\psi(\vec{r}, t)$ form a **linear space**, as they are solutions of the linear DEQ of the RGWs, see section (3.7).

The states $\psi(\vec{r}, t)$ form a **complete space**, as they include all linear combinations of states $\psi(\vec{r}, t)$, including Fourier integrals. These form a complete Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , see e. g. (Teschl, 2014, p. 47) or (Sakurai and Napolitano, 1994, p. 57). Thereby, two wave functions, $\psi_1(\vec{r}, t)$ and $\psi_2(\vec{r}, t)$, form a scalar product as follows:

$$\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle = \int d^3 r \psi_1^*(\vec{r}, t) \cdot \psi_2(\vec{r}, t)$$
 (3.254)

Altogether, the states of the SQ in the far distance limit form a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , q. e. d.

Remark about physical completeness: Note that the physical system is usually NOT defined in a physically complete manner by its wave function $\psi(\vec{r},t)$ or state $|\Psi(t)\rangle$. We consider a counter example: In a double slit experiment with helium atoms, the wave function $\psi(\vec{r},t)$ of the atoms describes the pattern completely, but that wave function $\psi(\vec{r},t)$ does NOT describe the electrons within the atoms at all. Note that essentially more complete descriptions are obtained by the SQ, see e. g. Carmesin (2021d), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e).

Remark about complex-valued wave functions: Note that Fourier sums and Fourier integrals can alternatively be achieved in terms of real valued sine- and cosine-functions, see for instance Carmesin (2021d). So it would be possible to describe the measurable quantities based on real valued wave functions. However, that would not be useful: Similarly, it would be possible to describe the universe in a Cartesian coordinate system without negative numbers, if the origin is placed far outside the observable universe so that all points of the observable universe exhibit positive coordinates - but it is more useful to place the origin of the coordinate system into the center of the observable universe, of course.

We summarize, that the description by complex valued functions is a matter of convenience, not a matter of physical necessity.

3.12.2 P2: Observables correspond to operators

In this section, we derive the following postulate by (Kumar, 2018, p. 169):

'A measurable physical quantity A (called an observable or dynamical physical quantity), is represented by a linear and hermitian operator \hat{A} acting in the Hilbert space of state vectors.'

3.12.2.1 Derivation

We showed in S. (3.12.1) that the SQ in the far distance limit provides wave functions or states that form a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

Here we derive the correspondence of observables A and hermitian operator \hat{A} acting in \mathcal{H} .

An **observable**, A, such as the energy, represents the corresponding possible values of a measurement of a quantum state. Most generally, the values of a measurement form a partially discrete and partially continuous set of values $M_{A \ discrete \ continuous}$.

Similarly, a **hermitian operator** \hat{A} acting in \mathcal{H} has, most generally, a set of partially discrete and partially continuous eigenvalues $M_{\hat{A} \text{ discrete continuous}}$, see e. g. (Teschl, 2014, THM 3.6 or spectral theorem).

So the SQ in the far distance limit provides a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

For hermitian operator \hat{A} acting on that Hilbert space \mathcal{H} provides a set $M_{\hat{A} \ discrete \ continuous}$ of eigenvalues.

That set of eigenvalues $M_{\hat{A} \text{ discrete continuous}}$ corresponds to a set $M_{A \text{ discrete continuous}}$ of possible values of a measurement at the RGWs of the SQ in the far distance limit.

Altogether, the SQ in the far distance limit provides the correspondence of observables A and operators \hat{A} described by the postulate, q. e. d.

3.12.3 P3: Possible outcomes of a measurement are eigenvalues

In this section, we derive the following postulate by (Kumar, 2018, p. 169):

'The measurement of an observable A in a given state may be represented formally by the action of an operator \hat{A} on the state vector $|\Psi(t)\rangle$. The only possible outcome of such a measurement is one of the eigenvalues, $\{a_i\}, j = 1, 2, 3, \ldots, of \hat{A}$.'

3.12.3.1 Derivation

For each observable A of the SQ in the far distance limit, there is a set $M_{A \ discrete \ continuous}$ of possible outcomes of a measurement at the corresponding states, see section (3.12.2).

That set $M_{A \ discrete \ continuous}$ of possible outcomes corresponds to a set $M_{\hat{A} \ discrete \ continuous}$ of the eigenvalues of the corresponding operator \hat{A} acting in \mathcal{H} that represents the RGWs, see section (3.12.2).

Thus each possible outcome of the measurement corresponds to an eigenvalue, q. e. d.

3.12.4 P4: Probabilistic outcomes of a measurement

In this section, we derive the following postulate by (Kumar, 2018, p. 169, 170):

If a measurement of an observable A is made in a state $|\Psi(t)\rangle$ of the quantum mechanical system, then the following holds:

(1) The probability of obtaining one of the non-degenerate discrete eigenvalues a_j of the corresponding operator \hat{A} is given by

$$P(a_j) = \frac{|\langle \phi_j | \Psi \rangle|^2}{\langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle}, \qquad (3.255)$$

where $|\phi_j\rangle$ is the eigenfunction of \hat{A} with the eigenvalue a_j . If the state vector is normalized to unity, $P(a_j) = |\langle \phi_j | \Psi \rangle|^2$.

(2) If the eigenvalue a_j is m-fold degenerate, this probability is given by

$$P(a_j) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^m |\langle \phi_j^i | \Psi \rangle|^2}{\langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle}, \qquad (3.256)$$

(3) If the operator \hat{A} possesses a continuous eigenspectrum $\{a\}$, the probability that the result of a measurement will yield a value between a and a + da is given by

$$P(a) = \frac{|\langle \phi(a) | \Psi \rangle|^2}{\langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle} da = \frac{|\langle \phi(a) | \Psi \rangle|^2}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\Psi(a')|^2 da'} da \qquad (3.257)$$

3.12.4.1 Derivation

Firstly, we note that this postulate considers only operators \hat{A} that have either a discrete spectrum of eigenvectors or a continuous spectrum of eigenvectors. However, most generally, an operator \hat{A} has a mixed spectrum $M_{\hat{A} \text{ discrete continuous}}$. In the following, we consider operators \hat{A} that have either a discrete or a continuous spectrum of eigenvectors, as the generalization is straight forward.

Secondly, the SQ in the far distance limit provides results of measurements in a **probabilistic manner**, see section (3.11.1).

Thirdly, in all three cases (1), (2) and (3), the probability $P(a_j)$ or P(a)da of the outcome a_j or [a; a + da] is proportional to the inertial energy density $u_{f,In}$ of the RGW, according to the law of energy conservation:

$$P(a_j) \propto u_{f,In}(a_j) \tag{3.258}$$

$$P(a) \propto u_{f,In}(a) \tag{3.259}$$

Fourthly, we derive the probabilities for the three cases, (1), (2) and (3), one at a time.

Derivation for case (1):

As a first step, we decompose the considered state $|\Psi\rangle$ into components $|\phi_j\rangle$, whereby these components are the eigenvectors of the operator \hat{A} :

$$|\Psi\rangle = |\Psi\rangle$$
 $|\cdot 1 = \Sigma_k |\phi_k\rangle \langle \phi_k |$ (3.260)

$$|\Psi\rangle = \Sigma_k |\phi_k\rangle \langle \phi_k |\Psi\rangle \tag{3.261}$$

For a k-th component $|\Psi_k\rangle$ of $|\Psi\rangle$, we identify the amplitude $\langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle$ and the normalized eigenvector $|\phi_k\rangle$:

$$|\Psi_k\rangle = |\phi_k\rangle\langle\phi_k|\Psi\rangle \tag{3.262}$$

The corresponding inertial energy density of the field $u_{f,In,k}$ is proportional to the square of the corresponding field G_k^* :

$$G_k^* = |\phi_k\rangle \cdot \langle \phi_k | G^*(r) \rangle = |\phi_k\rangle \cdot \int dr^3 \phi_k^{cc}(\vec{r}) \cdot G^*(\vec{r}) \quad \text{and}$$
(3.263)

$$u_{f,In,k} \propto |G_k^*|^2 = G_k^{*,cc} \cdot G_k^*$$
 (3.264)

Hereby, we denote the conjugate complex by a superscript cc. For instance, we mark the conjugate complex of $\phi_k(\vec{r})$ by $\phi_k^{cc}(\vec{r})$.

Moreover, G_k^* can be expressed by the corresponding rate as follows:

$$G_k^* = c \cdot \dot{\varepsilon}_k \tag{3.265}$$

Furthermore, that rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_k$ is proportional to the corresponding wave function:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_k \propto |\Psi_k\rangle$$
 and (3.266)

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_k^{cc} \propto \langle \Psi_k | \tag{3.267}$$

Consequently, the inertial energy density $u_{f,In,k}$ is proportional to the absolute square of the corresponding wave functions:

$$u_{f,In,k} \propto \dot{\varepsilon}_k^{cc} \cdot \dot{\varepsilon}_k \propto \langle \Psi_k | \Psi_k \rangle$$
 (3.268)

Corresponding to Eq. (3.258), the probability $P(a_k)$ is proportional to the inertial energy density $u_{f,In,k}$:

$$P(a_k) \propto u_{f,In,k} \propto \langle \Psi_k | \Psi_k \rangle$$
 (3.269)

In order to analyze the dependence on ϕ_k , we apply Eq. (3.262):

$$P(a_k) \propto \langle \Psi_k | \Psi_k \rangle = \langle \phi_k | \langle \Psi | \phi_k \rangle \cdot | \phi_k \rangle \langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle$$
 (3.270)

We use the normalization $\langle \phi_k | \phi_k \rangle = 1$ and the relation $\langle \Psi | \phi_k \rangle = (\langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle)^*$ as well as the equality $\langle \Psi | \phi_k \rangle \cdot \langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle = |\langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle|^2$:

$$P(a_k) \propto |\langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle|^2$$
 or (3.271)

$$P(a_k) = \cdot |\langle \phi_k | f_n \Psi \rangle|^2 \tag{3.272}$$

Hereby, we used the normalization factor f_n . It is determined next:

$$1 = \sum_{k} P(a_k) = f_n^2 \cdot \sum_{k} |\langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle|^2 \qquad \text{or} \quad (3.273)$$

$$I = f_n^- \cdot \Sigma_k \langle \Psi | \phi_k \rangle \cdot \langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle \qquad \qquad |Id = \Sigma_k | \phi_k \rangle \langle \phi_k | \qquad (3.274)$$

$$1 = f_n^2 \cdot \langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle \qquad \text{we solve} \qquad (3.275)$$
$$f_n^2 = 1/\langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle \qquad (3.276)$$

Is a proper we used the identity operator
$$Id = \sum \frac{d}{dx} \frac{d}{dx}$$
 We

Hereby, we used the identity operator $Id = \Sigma_k |\phi_k\rangle \langle \phi_k|$. We apply the term for f_n^2 to Eq. (3.272):

$$P(a_k) = \frac{|\langle \phi_k | \Psi \rangle|^2}{\langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle}$$
(3.277)

As this probability holds for each eigenvalue a_k , it holds also for a_j , and so it proves the first case, (1), of the postulate, see Eq. (3.255), q. e. d.

The other two cases (2) and (3) can be worked out in a similar manner. Accordingly, we do not elaborate these cases in the present book.



Figure 3.14: Large molecules fall in a potential Φ and are diffracted at a grating.

3.12.5 P5: Time evolution

In this section, we derive the following postulate by (Kumar, 2018, p. 170):

'The time evolution of the state vector is governed by the timedependent Schrödinger equation:

$$i\hbar\partial_t |\psi\rangle = \hat{H}|\psi\rangle,$$
 (3.278)

where \hat{H} is the Hamilton operator corresponding to the total energy of the system.'

3.12.5.1 Derivation

Using the SQ and the far distance limit, we derived the time dependent Schrödinger equation for the relativistic and for the classical system and for the case without a potential energy term, see sections (3.8.3, 3.8.4).

Next we add an additional energy. For it, we consider an example: Brand et al. (2019) performed a diffraction experiment with large molecules with the mass $m = 514u = 8.53 \cdot 10^{-25}$ kg.

Thereby, the molecules had velocities v ranging from 150 m/s to 350 m/s. So the molecules were falling significantly in the gravitational potential Φ , see figure (3.14). Accordingly, each molecule has an additional gravitational energy at a height has follows:

$$E_{add}(h) = \Phi(h) \cdot h \quad \text{with} \tag{3.279}$$

$$\Phi(h) = -m \cdot g$$
 with $g = 9.81 \frac{m}{s^2}$ (3.280)

In the framework of the present SQ, that energy should be added to the energy of the RGW of a molecule. In order to describe an energy, we have to choose a frame or a representation first. Here we choose the SEQ as a representation of the RGW, see equation (3.278). So the energy is added to \hat{H} . According to the small velocity, the kinetic energy of a molecule is non-relativistic as follows:

$$E_{kin} = \frac{1}{2}m \cdot v^2 = \frac{p^2}{2m} \quad \text{so} \tag{3.281}$$
$$\hat{E}_{kin} = \frac{\hat{p}^2}{2m} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta \quad \text{with the Laplace operator}\Delta(3.282)$$

The operator \hat{H} of the energy of a molecule is the sum of the kinetic energy and the gravitational energy:

$$\hat{H} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta + \Phi(h) \cdot h \tag{3.283}$$

The examples illustrate how an additional energy can be added to a RGW.

According to the principle of conservation of energy, the energy of a RGW can be supplemented by an additional energy. So the SQ provides the SEQ with the respective kinetic energy, as derived in section (3.8), and with a possible additional energy, q. e. d.

Theorem 10 Derivation of postulates of QP

The postulates of quantum physics, QP, can be derived on the basis of the spacetime-quadruple, SQ.

As the SQ represents gravity combined with relativity, QP is a consequence thereof.

Thus QP is inherent to gravity combined with relativity.

Hence the postulates of QP are derived rules of QP now.

3.13 Quantization based on GR

In this section we show how quantum systems can be derived on the basis of GR.

For it, we start with the Einstein field equation, EFE, see e. g. Einstein (1915), Stephani (1980), Carmesin (1996), Hobson et al. (2006):

$$G_{ij} = -\frac{8\pi G}{c^4} \cdot T_{ij} \quad \text{with the Einstein - tensor (3.284)}$$

$$G_{ij} = R_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}G_{ij}R \quad \text{with the Ricci - tensor} \quad (3.285)$$

$$R_{ij} = R_{ijk}^k \quad \text{and the Ricci - scalar} \quad (3.286)$$

$$R = g^{ij}R_{ij} \quad (3.287)$$

Hereby, the curvature tensor acts upon a vector v_a like a commutator $[\nabla_c, \nabla_b] = \nabla_c \nabla_b - \nabla_b \nabla_c$ of covariant derivatives, see e. g. (Hobson et al., 2006, Eq. 7.12, section 3.12):

$$R^{d}_{abc} \cdot v_{d} = [\nabla_{c}, \nabla_{b}] \cdot v_{a} \quad \text{with covariant derivatives (3.288)}$$
$$\partial_{b} \vec{v} = (\nabla_{b} v^{a}) \vec{e}_{a} \qquad (3.289)$$

Using the EFE, quantum systems can be derived as follows.

3.13.1 Identification of an object

In this section, we summarize conditions for the application of the PWT, see section (3.10): It is necessary to describe an object representing a mass or dynamical mass M.

In the case of a **localized object**, see section (2.1), the surroundings of that object should be described by a curvature
or a gravitational field. Examples are the SM, the Kerr metric or the Newman-Kerr metric, see Schwarzschild (1916), Kerr (1963), Newman and Janis (1965).

In the case of a **homogeneous density of objects**, see section (2.1), the surroundings of these objects can be characterized in terms of a diagonal change tensor $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ij,diagonal}$, see proposition (5).

In general, the surroundings of an object can be characterized in terms of a change tensor, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ij}$, and in terms of the direction of propagation of the corresponding rate gravity wave.

Hereby, the change tensor describes the vacuum in the terms of one microscopic location only, whereas the curvature used in the EFE requires at least three locations, see figure (2.5). In this sense, the EFE is mesoscopic. Moreover, the curvature of the EFE is explained by the formed vacuum. In spite of the mesoscopic nature of the EFE, the EFE may be supplemented by microscopic objects, and then the PWT can be applied to such microscopic objects. In this manner, the PWT can be applied to mesoscopic theories, if microscopic objects can be defined in addition to the mesoscopic theory.

3.13.2 Application of the PWT

If an object can be defined for the case of the EFE, see section (3.13.1), then the PWT can be applied. As a result, the object is described by the SEQ, and the postulates of quantum physics apply, see section (3.12).

Moreover, we can apply the PWT_g , in order to derive the generalized Schrödinger equation, SEQ_g , in order to obtain a description beyond the usual QP.

Chapter 4

Formation of Vacuum

In this chapter, we analyze the formation of the vacuum that forms the present day space. In particular, we derive the density ρ_{Λ} of the vacuum, also called dark energy. For it, we apply the RGWs. Thereby, we could apply a second quantization of the RGWs, see (Carmesin, 2021d, chapter 6), or we could apply a quantization derived at the Planck scale, see Carmesin (2018b), Carmesin (2018a), (Carmesin, 2021d, sections 8.5, 8.6). However, we will show here that the density ρ_{Λ} can be derived more directly by using a **semiclassical description of the RGWs**. In the following, we denote the RGWs of the vacuum by RGW_{Λ} .

A quantum description of the formation of the vacuum has been elaborated earlier, see for instance Carmesin (2018b) or Carmesin (2018a), Carmesin (2019b), Carmesin (2019a) or also Carmesin (2020b), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c), for relation to geometry see Carmesin (2021b).

4.1 Basics of the derivation

4.1.1 Vacuum only

In this book, we analyze the vacuum in an especially pure and ideal case: we derive the density ρ_{Λ} of the dark energy in a universe that consists of dark energy only, without any content such as matter or radiation.

We showed elsewhere, this ideal case can be generalized directly to a realistic universe that is filled with vacuum, radiation and matter, see e. g. Carmesin (2018b), Carmesin (2018a), Carmesin (2021a). Hereby, we achieve precise accordance with observation, whereby we do not apply any fit, see e. g. Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c). Thereby, the mechanism of the formation of vacuum presented here is used and confirmed by observation, Planck-Collaboration (2020).

4.1.2 Homogeneous and constant vacuum

As there is no radiation or matter in the vacuum modeled here, the system is homogeneous. In particular, there is no increase of structure in the present model of the vacuum. Accordingly, we derive the constant and homogeneous density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ of the vacuum.

4.1.3 Separation of space and time

In the constant and homogeneous density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ of the vacuum modeled here, the time increases at a homogeneous and constant rate. Accordingly, we can investigate space and time separately¹.

4.2 Dark energy in a homogeneous universe

In this section, we derive the constant and homogeneous density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ of the dark energy.

4.2.1 Source by present vacuum

The RGW_{Λ} constitute the vacuum and space. These RGW_{Λ} present sources that form additional vacuum. Such a source

98

¹Note that the use of a single parameter of time t is especially realistic in the present case of a universal length scale such as the Hubble radius R_H . Remind that the corresponding dynamics of the scale factor is described by a single DEQ with a single time parameter t, see Eq. (3.48) and Balbi (2013).



Figure 4.1: The density ρ_{Λ} in an area at a distance R from R_0 has a j - th dynamic mass dM_j . It generates rates $d\hat{\varepsilon}_j$ propagating to all directions in an isotropic manner.

can be described by a j - th dynamical mass dM_j , see figure (4.1). Accordingly, the rate of unidirectional formed vacuum is as follows, see Eq. (3.129):

$$d\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j = dG^*(R)/c = \frac{G \cdot dM_j}{R^2 \cdot c}$$
(4.1)

4.2.2 RGWs propagating towards R_0

A j-th mass causes RGWs that propagate to all directions. In this section, we integrate that part of the RGWs that propagate to an observer at a location R_0 , see figure (4.1).

4.2.2.1 Rates $d\dot{\varepsilon}_j(R)$ of formed volume

In order to derive the density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ at an observer at a place R_0 , we integrate all RGW_{Λ} that propagate to that observer, see figure (4.1). The dynamic mass dM_j of RGW_{Λ} in figure (4.1)

forms vacuum according to Eq. (4.1):

$$d\hat{\hat{\varepsilon}}_j(R) = \frac{1}{c} \cdot \frac{G \cdot dM_j}{R^2} \tag{4.2}$$

Each mass dM_j in that shell generates a rate $d\hat{\varepsilon}_j$ that is proportional to that mass, and these rates are scalars. Hence the sum of the rates $d\hat{\varepsilon}(R) = \sum_{j, R_j \in \text{shell}} d\hat{\varepsilon}_j$ is equal to the rate of the sum of the masses $dM(R) = \sum_{j, R_j \in \text{shell}} dM_j$. So we get:

$$d\dot{\varepsilon}(R) = \frac{1}{c} \cdot \frac{G \cdot dM(R)}{R^2} \tag{4.3}$$

That mass dM(R) is equal to the product of the density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ and the volume $dV = 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot dR$ of the shell:

$$dM(R) = \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} \cdot 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot dR \tag{4.4}$$

We insert the mass in Eq. (4.4) into Eq. (4.3):

$$d\dot{\varepsilon}(R) = \frac{1}{c} \cdot \frac{G \cdot \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} \cdot 4\pi \cdot R^2 \cdot dR}{R^2}$$
(4.5)

We cancel R^2 . So we get:

$$d\dot{\varepsilon}(R) = \frac{G \cdot \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} \cdot 4\pi}{c} \cdot dR \tag{4.6}$$

4.2.2.2 Invariance of additional rates $d\dot{\varepsilon}(R)$

The above Eq. (4.6) shows that each shell around R_0 with thickness dR causes the same additional rate $d\dot{\varepsilon}(R)$, irrespective of the radius R of the shell.

4.2.2.3 Integration of $d\dot{\varepsilon}(R)$

In order to integrate $d\dot{\varepsilon}(R)$, we analyze the properties of the RGW_{Λ} :

1. We model the constant density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ corresponding to the present day universe.

100

- 2. So $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ is characterized by the Hubble constant H_0 .
- 3. The RGW_{Λ} do not propagate 'inside' the vacuum, instead the RGW_{Λ} constitute vacuum propagating at c isotropically.
- 4. So the RGW_{Λ} do not experience a redshift or the expansion of the space. Instead they cause the expansion.
- 5. Thus the duration of the propagation is the Hubble time $t_H = 1/H_0$.
- 6. The RGW_{Λ} propagate at the velocity c, see section (2.6).
- 7. Hence the RGW_{Λ} propagate the distance $c \cdot t_H = R_H$, the Hubble radius.
- 8. So the upper limit of the integration is R_H .
- 9. The lower limit of integration is a length near the Planck length, that length is negligible at a very good approximation.

So we derive:

$$\int_{0}^{\dot{\varepsilon}} d\dot{\varepsilon}(R) = \frac{4\pi \cdot G}{c} \cdot \int_{0}^{R_{H}} \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} dR$$
(4.7)

We evaluate the integrals. So we derive the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0}$ caused at R_0 during the Hubble time t_H by the RGWs arriving at R_0 :

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0} = \frac{4\pi \cdot G \cdot R_H}{c} \cdot \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} = 4\pi \cdot G \cdot t_H \cdot \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$$
(4.8)

4.2.3 Derivation of the formed vacuum with dV

In this section, we analyze how a present day volume dV at the location R_0 in figure (4.1) was physically formed by vacuum arriving at R_0 during the time t_H according to the rate of the arriving vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0}$.

For it, we express the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0}$ in Eq. (4.8) in terms of its definition:

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0} = \frac{\underline{\delta}V}{\delta t \cdot dV} \tag{4.9}$$

As the rate is constant, see Eq. (4.8), we can derive the volume $\underline{\delta}V$ of the vacuum arriving at R_0 during a time δt . For it, we solve for $\underline{\delta}V$:

$$\underline{\delta}V(\delta t) = \dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0} \cdot \delta t \cdot dV \tag{4.10}$$

In particular, during the time $\delta t = t_H$, the following volume arrived at R_0 :

$$\underline{\delta}V(t_H) = \dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0} \cdot t_H \cdot dV \tag{4.11}$$

Physically, the volume $\underline{\delta}V(t_H)$ of the vacuum that arrived at R_0 per volume dV at R_0 is exactly the volume dV:

$$\underline{\delta}V(t_H) = dV \tag{4.12}$$

We insert the amount of arrived vacuum $\underline{\delta}V(t_H)$ in Eq. (4.11) in the above equality (4.12):

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0} \cdot t_H \cdot dV = dV \tag{4.13}$$

We insert the rate $\dot{\varepsilon}_{to R_0}$, see Eq. (4.8), and we divide by dV:

$$4\pi \cdot G \cdot t_H \cdot \rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} \cdot t_H = 1 \tag{4.14}$$

We solve for $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$:

$$\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} = \frac{1}{4\pi \cdot G \cdot t_H^2} \tag{4.15}$$

4.2.4 Density parameter Ω_{Λ}

We derive the density parameter Ω_{Λ} , for the case of the approximation of constant $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$. Hereby, Ω_{Λ} is defined as the ratio of $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ and the critical density ρ_{cr,t_0} :

$$\Omega_{\Lambda,c.,h.} = \frac{\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}}{\rho_{cr,t_0}} \tag{4.16}$$

102

Thereby, the critical density ρ_{cr,t_0} is defined as the present day density, at which the curvature parameter k in the FLE is zero, whereby k = 0 is the realistic value, see Planck-Collaboration (2020), (Carmesin, 2021d, theorem 32(6)) and Eq. (3.20):

$$H_0^2 = \frac{8\pi G \cdot \rho_{cr,t_0}}{3} - k \cdot \frac{c^2}{r^2} \qquad \text{with} \ k = 0, \ \text{so} \qquad (4.17)$$

$$\rho_{cr,t_0} = \frac{3H_0^2}{8\pi G} \tag{4.18}$$

For it we use the Hubble constant $H_0 = \frac{c}{R_H} = \frac{1}{t_H}$. So we get:

$$\Omega_{\Lambda,c.,h.} = \frac{\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}}{\rho_{cr,t_0}} = \frac{1}{4\pi \cdot G \cdot t_H^2} \cdot \frac{8\pi G}{3H_0^2} = \frac{2}{3}$$
(4.19)

4.2.5 Comparison with observation

In this section, we compare with an observation $\Omega_{\Lambda,obs}$. Hereby, each observation of $\Omega_{\Lambda,obs}$ uses a physical object that was emitted at some time t_{em} . As a matter of fact, the observation depends slightly on that time t_{em} , see e. g. Carmesin (2018a), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c). Accordingly, we choose a time t_{em} that represents a relatively homogeneous universe. Such a time corresponds to the early universe².

Accordingly, we compare with an observation at high redshift z. Correspondingly, we compare with an observation based on the CMB. In particular, the observations of the CMB by the Planck satellite provide temperature power spectra and a corresponding value $\Omega_{\Lambda,obs}$ of the density parameter as follows, see (Planck-Collaboration, 2020, table 2)

$$\Omega_{\Lambda,obs} = 0.679 \pm 0.013 \tag{4.20}$$

So the theoretical value is within the error of measurement, so it is in precise accordance with observation.

²Note that a homogeneous density of radiation does hardly affect the observation, see e. g. (Carmesin, 2021d, section 7.5), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c)

Theorem 11 Formation and density of the vacuum

(1) The formation of the present day vacuum is explained by the formation of vacuum since the Big Bang until today according to the rate $\dot{\hat{\varepsilon}}$.

(2) In the ideal case of a universe filled of vacuum only, the formation of the vacuum in (1) provides the density $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.} = \frac{1}{4\pi \cdot G \cdot t_H^2}$ and the density parameter $\Omega_{\Lambda,c.,h.} = \frac{2}{3}$, whereby no fit is applied. This result is in precise accordance with observation.

(3) In a realistic universe filled with vacuum, radiation and matter, the formation of vacuum is explained by the same process as in (1), whereby the heterogeneity of matter and radiation causes a slight modification. The resulting density ρ_{Λ} is in precise accordance with observation, whereby no fit is applied, see (Carmesin, 2021d, section 7.5), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c).

Chapter 5

Explanation of Quantum Physics

Weinberg (2017) wrote about quantum mechanics or quantum physics: 'Today, despite of the great successes of quantum mechanics, arguments continue about its meaning, and its future.'

Indeed, the meaning of quantum physics should be clarified. And in fact, our derivation of the postulates of quantum physics on the basis of the SQ presents a rich source for the derivation of explanations of quantum physics. In this chapter, we elaborate such explanations of QP.

5.1 Direct understanding based motions

So far, QP has been derived and understood by the indirect method of an experimentally based guess with a subsequent elaboration, see figure (3.13) or Sakurai and Napolitano (1994), Ballentine (1998), Kumar (2018).

In contrast, we start with a direct understanding of motions here, see chapter (2) or Brahe and Kepler (1627), Kepler (1619), Galileo (1638), Newton (1686), Einstein (1905), de Sitter (1913), Einstein (1915). For it, we start with the SQ. It is based on motions, see chapter (2). In this manner, the spacetime-quadruple, SQ, can be directly understood.

motions
$$\rightarrow$$
 SQ (5.1)

Based on the SQ, the rate of formation of the vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$ can be derived and understood directly, see chapter (3):

$$SQ \to dynamics of \dot{\varepsilon}$$
 (5.2)

Based on the rate of formation of the vacuum $\dot{\varepsilon}$, the quantization, the wave function, the Schrödinger equation and the postulates of quantum physics, QP, can be derived and understood directly, see chapter (3):

dynamics of
$$\dot{\varepsilon} \to \text{quantization}$$
 and (5.3)
dynamics of $\dot{\varepsilon} \to \text{postulates of QP}$ (5.4)

In this manner, the spacetime-quadruple, SQ, implies the quantization in nature and the postulates of QP. As the SQ is based on motions, the nature of quantization can be understood directly.

5.2 Clarifications of QP

Feynman (1967) wrote 'I think I can safely say that no one understands quantum mechanics'. Accordingly, a clarification is necessary. In this section, we apply our derivations in chapters (3, 4), in order to clarify the postulates and traditional concepts of QP.

5.2.1 Quantization

The ubiquitous formation of vacuum according to a rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$ gives rise to rate gravity waves, RGWs, described by a linear differential equation, see theorem (4). Wave packets of such waves form quanta with a universal constant of quantization, see theorem (6). Thus the fact of quantization is derived from the SQ as follows:

motions
$$\rightarrow$$
 SQ \rightarrow dynamics of $\dot{\varepsilon} \rightarrow$ quantization (5.5)

5.2.2 Quantization of a general object

A general object with a mass or dynamical mass M modifies its surroundings. At a mesoscopic level, that modification is described by curvature, on a microscopic level, that modification is described by the formation of vacuum according to a rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$. Additionally, many observations measure the surroundings of an object instead of the internal structure of an object. A typical example is the observation of phenomena at a double slit experiment, see figures (3.10, 3.12, 3.14). Accordingly, such behavior of a general object is described by the formation of vacuum according to a rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$.

Moreover, essential elements of the internal structure of a general object are also described by the formation of vacuum according to a rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$. Examples are the formation of mass, see Carmesin (2021a), and the formation of the elementary charge and electromagnetism, see Carmesin (2021e).

Altogether, a general object is described by the formation of vacuum according to a rate $\dot{\varepsilon}$ at larger length scales and at small length scales. So the quantization of general objects is explained by the space-time quadruple:

general object \rightarrow dynamics of $\dot{\varepsilon}(SQ) \rightarrow$ quantization (5.6)

5.2.3 Wave function

A quantum state of an object is described by a wave function, see e. g. Kumar (2018). According to Weinberg (2017) (section 1), a wave function is essentially a list of numbers. We clarify that a wave function of a general object is the normalized rate $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n$ of vacuum formed by that object. Thereby all possible linear combinations are included, as the differential equation of the rate $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n$ is linear¹, see theorems (4, 5).

5.2.4 Time evolution of the wave function

In QP, the time evolution of the wave function is described by the Schrödinger equation, SEQ, in a deterministic manner, see e. g. Schrödinger (1926a), Kumar (2018), Weinberg (2017)². However, the traditional theory of quantum physics does not explain, **why** the wave function is described by the Schrödinger equation, see e. g. Schrödinger (1926a), Sakurai and Napolitano (1994), Ballentine (1998), Kumar (2018), Weinberg (2017).

We clarify that the Schrödinger equation is the differential equation of the formation of vacuum according to the rate $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n$, which indeed describes the time evolution of the wave function $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n$, see theorem (10) or section (3.12):

general object
$$\rightarrow$$
 dynamics of $\dot{\varepsilon}(SQ) \rightarrow SEQ$ (5.7)

In particular, based on the spacetime-quadruple, it is clear that the time derivative in the SEQ is based on Galileo's equivalence principle, which is the ultimate basis of all dynamical equations in this book. So the dynamics can be rooted back to free fall and to the Galileo's gedanken experiments or experiments at the tower at Pisa, see figure (2.2).

5.2.5 Probabilistic nature of quantum physics

The dynamics of quantum physics is described by two elements: the time evolution of the deterministic Schrödinger equation and the probabilistic behavior, as it is observed in measured quantities, for instance. That probabilistic behavior should be explained: E. g. Weinberg (2017) described two approaches, an

¹Hereby, we investigate some inner degrees of freedom or quantum numbers for some essential quantities, see Carmesin (2020c), Carmesin (2020c).

²Of course, a representation may be changed to the Heisenberg picture, for instance, however, such a transformation cannot explain the source of the time evolution.

instrumentalist's approach and a realist's approach, he made clear that he is not convinced of these approaches and concluded 'O time, thou must untangle this, not I'.

5.2.5.1 Particle wave transformation

We explain the combined dynamics of a general object by the following fact: Based on the spacetime-quadruple, SQ, we can transform a particle description, PD, to a generalized wave description, WD_q , and vice versa, see theorem (8):

$$SQ \to (PD \leftrightarrow WD_q)$$
 (5.8)

In this manner, the SQ clarifies the two types of dynamics in QP.

Thereby, the traditional quantum mechanics applies an additional far distance limit upon the WD_g and thus arrives at the usual or traditional wave description WD. As a consequence, the transformation cannot be inverted:

$$SQ \to (PD \to \lim_{R_S/R \to 0} WD_g = WD)$$
 (5.9)

Moreover, the particle wave transformation, PWT, in Eq. (5.8) represents the particle wave duality observed in nature and quantum physics, see e. g. (Kumar, 2018, p. 33). So the PWT clarifies the particle wave duality.

5.2.5.2 Clarification of results of measurements

In this section, we elaborate the basis of the fact that the only possible results of a measurement of a quantity A are the eigenvalues of the corresponding operator \hat{A} .

As the DEQ of the rate $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n = \psi \cdot f_n$ is linear, the SEQ, the wave functions form a linear vector space of functions. Since the absolute square of these functions is proportional to the energy density and to the probability of a location, the above space of functions is a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

In a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , possible values that an operator generates are the eigenvalues, corresponding to the respective eigenfunctions. So the linear DEQ of the rates $\dot{\varepsilon} \cdot t_n$, or of the wave functions, is the basis of the Hilbert space in QP, which is the basis of the eigenvalues of operators \hat{A} as possible results of measurements:

linear SEQ $\rightarrow \psi \cdot f_n \in \mathcal{H} \rightarrow \text{measurement}(A) = \text{eigenvalue}(\hat{A})$ (5.10)

5.2.5.3 Clarification of uncertainty principles

In this section, we elaborate the basis of the Heisenberg uncertainty principle.

The linear DEQ of the wave functions, the SEQ, implies the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of wave functions. An analysis of standard deviations $\Delta_A = \langle (\hat{A} - \langle \hat{A} \rangle)^2 \rangle$ and $\Delta_B = \langle (\hat{B} - \langle \hat{B} \rangle)^2 \rangle$ as well as commutators $[\hat{A}, \hat{B}]$ provides the corresponding uncertainty relations $\Delta_A^2 \cdot \Delta_B^2 \geq \frac{1}{2} \cdot |\langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle|$, see (Ballentine, 1998, section 8.4). Altogether, we clarify that the Heisenberg uncertainty principle is a consequence of the linear DEQ of the wave functions, the SEQ, and the probabilistic dynamics described by expectation values:

 $SQ \rightarrow$ deterministic and probabilistic dynamics of QP (5.11) \rightarrow uncertainty relations (5.12)

5.2.5.4 Universal behavior of QP

Moreover, the far distance limit clarifies, why electrons, atoms and molecules exhibit the same diffraction patterns at a double slit experiment, see figures (3.10, 3.14). More generally, the far distance limit clarifies the typical universal behavior of different objects in quantum physics.

Even more generally, it is clear that a limit generates a universal behavior, since many functions have the same limit. Another very important physical example is the thermodynamic limit. In that limit, the particle number N of a set or ensemble tends to infinity. In that limit, the theory of thermodynamics can be explained by the more general theory of statistical physics, see e. g. Landau and Lifschitz (1980). For instance, an ideal gas can be described by the thermodynamic limit, and in that limit, the corresponding law holds for all gases, irrespective of the contained atoms or molecules, Landau and Lifschitz (1980).

Even the real gas can be described in the thermodynamic limit, see van der Waals (1873). Hereby, droplets or clusters are not analyzed in the thermodynamic limit.

5.2.5.5 Clarification of constant of quantization h

In this section, we clarify the constant of quantization, the Planck constant. Of course, it is always possible to change a system of units.

However, we analyze the units in a manner that is independent from a possible change of the system of units:

We call a constant fundamental, if that constant constitutes a physical structure that can not yet be explained by an underlying more microscopic structure. Hereby, we prefer microscopic structures rather than macroscopic structures, since macroscopic structures are usually formed from microscopic structures, but not vice versa.

Firstly, we derived that there is only one constant of quantization, see section (3.8).

Secondly, the value of that constant in SI-units must be measured, it is the Planck constant, see table (7.1).

Thirdly, the constant is based on a particular analysis of the SQ: the particle wave transformation, including the far distance limit. So the constant h describes a structure that is inherent to the SQ. Thus the constant h is not fundamental, as it does not describe fundamentally new physics in addition to the SQ.

Fourthly, the constant h is universal, as it describes an ubiquitous property of the SQ: the quantization.

Fifthly, the SQ has the following fundamental constants: the gravitational constant G and the velocity of light c. These constants are fundamental, as they characterize the physics of the SQ at a microscopic level.

Similarly, the Boltzmann constant k_B is not fundamental, as it describes the energy that corresponds to an entropy, which is a statistical quantity of a physical system. In the corresponding statistical analysis, an existing physics is analyzed, but no fundamentally new physics is added.

For comparison, the elementary charge e is a dependent constant of nature, as it can be derive from the SQ completely. A measurement is only necessary as a test, see Carmesin (2021e).

5.2.5.6 Generalized Schrödinger equation, SEQ_g

We clarify that the generalized wave description represents a generalized Schrödinger equation, SEQ_g , see section (3.10). So the SEQ_g corresponds to the case without the far distance limit and without the universal behavior of traditional QP:

$$SQ \to (PD \leftrightarrow WD_q \leftrightarrow SEQ_q)$$
 (5.13)

5.2.5.7 Spacetime-quadruple, SQ, provides probabilities

The SQ provides the correct probabilities of quantum physics, see theorem (10) or section (3.12).

$$SQ \rightarrow \text{probabilities}$$
 (5.14)

Hereby, we clarify that the probabilities of QP are proportional to the energy densities of the formed vacuum. Thereby the proportionality factor is obtained by the fact that the sum or integral of all probabilities is one. Altogether, the SQ provides the deterministic dynamics represented by the Schrödinger equation, as well as the probabilistic dynamics, represented by the

112

probabilities based on the energy density of the formed vacuum:

 $SQ \rightarrow deterministic and probabilistic dynamics of QP$ (5.15)

5.2.5.8 General object provides probability

One might wonder how even slight amounts of the formed vacuum of a general object can describe the quantization, the propagation of the wave function according to the Schrödinger equation, the full Hilbert space \mathcal{H} as well as the correct probabilities. The answer is very simple: The amplitude of the wave function is provided by the normalization of the probability to one, so the amount of the formed vacuum is not essential. Accordingly, the fact that the Schrödinger equation is linear gives rise to the full Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , irrespective of the amount of the formed vacuum. Note that the amount has been derived in (Carmesin, 2021d, Eq. 2.18).

5.2.5.9 Tunneling

The SQ implies the postulates of quantum physics. So it implies tunneling, see e. g. (Kumar, 2018, section 3.8). Thus it implies the propagation of evanescent modes, Nimtz (2003), Hoffmann et al. (2021). An evanescent mode occurs according to the probabilities inherent to quantum physics, and such a mode may exhibit a corresponding velocity larger than c, Nimtz (2003). Such evanescent modes exhibit a nonlocal effect of quantum physics, thus it is a consequence of the SQ, of course. We emphasize that there is no contradiction to the used velocities $v \leq c$ of classical objects in the SQ, since evanescent modes are implications of the SQ.

5.2.5.10 Positive inertia at negative energy

In quantum physics, the positron has been described by a negative total energy, see e. g. Dirac (1928). Accordingly, matter could hardly be stable, as the ground state would tend to an energy at minus infinity, see e. g. (Kumar, 2018, p. 408). Here, the mass m_0 corresponds to the inertial energy $E = m_0 \cdot c^2$, which is positive for electrons and for positrons, see section (3.5.3).

5.2.5.11 Angular momentum

The quantization of the angular momentum provides an example for an especially counterintuitive property of quantum physics. The angular momentum is an observable J, so it corresponds to an operator \hat{J} , according to the SQ. Thus, \hat{J} has a spectrum. The algebraic analysis shows that the eigenvalues are J = 0, $J = \hbar/2$, $J = \hbar$, $J = 3\hbar/2$, and so forth, see e. g. (Ballentine, 1998, Eq. 7.16).

For any rigid body, the rotation by an angle 2π around the z-axis reproduces the original state or orientation. However, if we apply that rotation by an angle 2π around the z-axis to a state $|\alpha\rangle$ with $J = \hbar/2$, the resulting state is $-|\alpha\rangle$, see e.g. (Sakurai and Napolitano, 1994, Eq. 3.2.15).

This example shows that counter-intuitive phenomena can occur as a result of the algebraic structure of the Hilbert space, which is caused by the spacetime-quadruple, SQ.

5.2.6 Postulates of QP

The SQ provides RGWs as solutions. Using these RGWs, the postulates of QP have been derived.

In this manner, the nature of QP is clarified: QP is a consequence of the SQ. Moreover, the wave function and its deterministic and probabilistic dynamics is explained by the dynamics of the vacuum.

$\mathrm{SQ} \rightarrow$	dynan	nics of va	acuum					(5.16)
	_		_	-		-		<i>,</i> ,

- \rightarrow deterministic and probabilistic dynamics of QP (5.17)
- \rightarrow postulates of QP (5.18)

5.2.7 Dynamics of vacuum

In this section, we elaborate the relation of the dynamics of the vacuum to other fields of physics.

As shown above, the dynamics of the vacuum is based on the SQ. Moreover, the dynamics of the vacuum implies QP.

5.2.7.1 Relation to GR

The curvature described in GR is explained by the dynamics of the vacuum, see sections (3.9, 3.10) or Carmesin (2021d), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e):

dynamics of vacuum
$$\rightarrow$$
 curvature in GR (5.19)

5.2.7.2 Relation to quantum gravity

As the dynamics of the vacuum implies QP as well as the curvature in GR, the dynamics of the vacuum also implies quantum gravity:

dynamics of vacuum $\rightarrow QP$ so (5.20)

dynamics of vacuum
$$\rightarrow$$
quantum gravity (5.21)

In particular, the Planck length and the Planck scale emerge, see section (7.5). So the singularity problem of GR is solved, see e. g. Kiefer (2003), Carmesin (2017), Carmesin (2018a), Carmesin (2019b).

5.2.7.3 Formation and density of vacuum

As shown in chapter (4), the dynamics of the vacuum alias dark energy explains the process of formation of the present day vacuum by the formation of vacuum since the Big Bang. Moreover, that dynamics of the vacuum explains the density of the vacuum $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$, in precise accordance with observation, derived without use of a fit:

dynamics of vacuum \rightarrow formation of vacuum & $\rho_{\Lambda,c.,h.}$ (5.22)

Consequently, also the Planck length L_P and the Planck scale are inherent to the spacetime - quadruple and to the dynamics of the vacuum, see section (7.5). As the Planck length presents the smallest length L_P that can be observed by a single observation, the spacetime - quadruple implies already that smallest observable length L_P , though the concept of the spacetime quadruple is completely continuous at its definition or introduction. Moreover, that smallest observable length makes clear that the mesoscopic structure of at least three L_P of GR is inherent to the combination of gravity and relativity.

5.2.7.4 Formation of space by vacuum

In this section, clarify how vacuum forms space, even though the dynamics of the vacuum is described with help of space.

For it, we make clear the categories: Space is a mathematical concept. Vacuum is a physical entity that can be observed in nature. For instance, the density ρ_{Λ} of the vacuum has been measured, see for instance Perlmutter et al. (1998), Riess et al. (2000), Spergel et al. (2007), Planck-Collaboration (2020), Riess et al. (2021), Blakeslee et al. (2021).

The answer is that the mathematical description of space does not at all restrict the formation of vacuum in nature. In particular, it is not necessary that you first solve a problem in the field of GR, before you are allowed to use a mathematical tool describing space.

Similarly, we can describe the propagation of RGWs with the help of mathematical tools that describe space, even before we present a solution for the formation of the present-day vacuum. This is possible, even though the present-day vacuum constitutes what we call space in everyday life³

116

 $^{^{3}}$ Moreover, the space we experience in everyday life appears static, whereas the vacuum is dynamic. This fact underlines the difference between the dynamic vacuum and the static space experienced in everyday life that is conceptualized by static mathematical models such maps or globes.

5.2.7.5 Graviton

Accordingly, the SQ also provides the graviton, the hypothetic particle of the gravitational interaction, see Blokhintsev and Galperin (1934). In fact, the essential properties of the graviton have indeed been explained by the SQ, see Carmesin (2021d).

5.2.8 Nonlocality

In this section, we elaborate the role of nonlocality in nature, GR, QP and the SQ.

5.2.8.1 A property of nature

So far, nonlocality was a mystery of nature. Einstein et al. (1935) and possibly Weinberg (2017) even presumed that GR would not be nonlocal.

However, we see that QP is inherent to the spacetime quadruple. Moreover, QP is inherent to an object described by GR. Furthermore, QP is nonlocal. So the SQ and GR are not local.

Such presumptions do sometimes happen in science. For instance, more than 2000 years ago, mathematicians presumed that all numbers are rational. Later it turned out that the numbers $\sqrt{2}$ and π are not rational. Mathematicians made a difference between rational and irrational or real numbers, even though limits of rational numbers provide real numbers quite naturally.

Analogously, nonlocal phenomena can be derived quite naturally within GR. However, it is also possible to define GR in such a manner that all nonlocal phenomena are artificially excluded from GR. That would redefine the set of phenomena belonging to GR.

Of course, the SQ is more general than GR, as it has less presumptions such as continuity. As a consequence, the SQ can also describe discontinuities and phase transitions in space that can hardly be described by GR, see e. g. Carmesin (2021d). Additionally, the SQ can explain the curvature of GR in terms of the formed vacuum.

5.2.8.2 An explanation

Using the representation of wave functions by RGWs derived here, and using the formation of mass and charge from RGWs, see Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e), nonlocality can be explained as follows:

We consider a mass or dynamical mass m or a property of it that is observed at a location \vec{r}_{obs} in a nonlocal manner⁴.

The observed m is formed at \vec{r}_{obs} from vacuum (see Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e)), which is already at \vec{r}_{obs} , in particular, the vacuum forming m at \vec{r}_{obs} does not need any transport or propagation through the three dimensional space from \vec{r}_{em} to \vec{r}_{obs} .

While this explanation makes clear how a transport of energy or mass can be minimized in principle, it does not provide a model of the observed instantaneous transport of correlations. A more advanced model including phase transitions provides possible answers to the question of the transport of correlations, see Carmesin (2021d).

5.2.8.3 A solution of the EPR paradox

Einstein et al. (1935) presumed that GR would not be nonlocal, while they pointed out that QP is nonlocal. The corresponding difference is the essence of the EPR paradox.

Here we derived QP by considering an object described by GR. So GR is not free of QP, thus nonlocality is inherent to GR. Hence the presumption is wrong. Thence there is no paradox⁵.

⁴That is, the mass m or a corresponding wave or quantum was emitted at a location \vec{r}_{em} at a time t_{em} , whereby a light signal emitted at (t_{em}, \vec{r}_{em}) arrives at \vec{r}_{obs} after the arrival of m.

⁵As noted in section (5.2.8.1), GR could be made free of nonlocality and of QP, if one

5.2.9 Summary of clarifications

Feynman (1967) wrote 'I think I can safely say that no one understands quantum mechanics'. I think I can safely say that you can explain the essential features and postulates of quantum mechanics on the basis of gravity and relativity, after reading this book.

5.3 Extensions

The theory of QP can be extended directly into many established fields. So these fields can now be explained on the basis of motions in space and time as well. We consider some examples next.

5.3.1 Many particles

If the QP of a *j*-th particle is described by a corresponding Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_j , then N particles are described by the product space:

$$\mathcal{H} = \Pi_i^N \mathcal{H}_j \tag{5.23}$$

5.3.2 Internal states and transitions

In general, particles have internal states. Examples are orbitals in atoms, see Einstein (1905), Bohr (1913), Schrödinger (1926a), Schrödinger (1926b), or the isospin states of a neutron, see e. g. Fermi (1933), Weinberg (1967), Weinberg (1996), Tanabashi et al. (2018). Such states can be modeled in the framework of the SEQ.

5.3.3 Reactions among elementary particles

The reactions from one elementary particle to another is usually modeled via transitions. For instance, an up quark changes to a

would artificially restrict a future version of GR to local phenomena.

downquark by changing its isospin, see e. g. Weinberg (1967), Weinberg (1996), Tanabashi et al. (2018).

As transitions can be modeled in terms of QP, also the transformations and reactions of elementary particles can be modeled by QP. So they are based on the SQ as well, and they can be described by the PWT.

Moreover, the spacetime quadruple is naturally generalized to dimensions $D \geq 3$. Thereby, there occur phase transitions in a natural manner. With help of these phase transitions, the formation of mass and of the elementary charge have been modeled, in precise accordance with observation, whereby no fit has been applied, see Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021e).

5.3.4 Transformations within quantum physics

Transformations within QP have always been helpful in the QP, see e. g. Jordan (1935), Holstein and Primakoff (1940), Bogoliubov (1958). In this context, the present PWT is especially interesting, as it provides a transformation from the spacetimequadruple to QP.

Chapter 6

Discussion

Problem: Ballentine (1998) wrote: 'Einsteins's *locality* postulate, which is the key to Bell's theorem, is strongly motivated by special relativity. Thus the conflict between quantum mechanics and locality suggests a deep incompatibility between quantum mechanics and relativity.'

Accordingly, many researchers have been asking for a clarification of the relation of relativity and quantum mechanics. For instance, in a letter to Born, Einstein wrote in 1926, see Weinberg (2017), Pais (1982): 'Quantum mechanics is very impressive. But an inner voice tells me that it is not the real thing. The theory produces a good deal but hardly brings us closer to the secret of the Old One. I am at all events convinced the *He* does not play dice.' Similarly, Feynman (1967) wrote: 'I think I can safely say that no one understands quantum mechanics'. Even recently, Weinberg (2017) wrote about the apparent conflict between quantum mechanics and relativity: 'O time, thou must untangle this, not I'.

Solution: Indeed, in this book we clarify that apparent 'deep incompatibility between quantum mechanics and relativity': We show that quantum mechanics is a natural structure that is inherent to relativity combined with gravity. Consequently, we resolve the proposed apparent 'incompatibility'. For it, we investigate the combination of relativity and gravity at a microscopic level by analyzing the dynamics of the formation and propagation of vacuum. We emphasize that the vacuum is a very real physical quantity, the density of which has been measured by very different methods, see e. g. Perlmutter et al. (1998), Riess et al. (2000), Spergel et al. (2007), Planck-Collaboration (2020) or by various methods mentioned in Carmesin (2021c). Moreover, the energy of the vacuum amounts to more than 65 % of the total energy of the universe, see e. g. Carmesin (2021c).

We derive the dynamics of the vacuum. With it, we discover that the Schrödinger equation is equivalent to the dynamics of the vacuum that each physical object generates as its contribution to the expansion of space since the Big Bang. Moreover, we derive the postulates of quantum physics from that dynamics of the vacuum.

Basis of the solution: Of course, our derived dynamics of the vacuum must have a very clear and deeply founded basis, in order to be considered as a basis for the solution of the above mentioned 'a deep incompatibility between quantum mechanics and relativity'. For this purpose, we derived that dynamics of the vacuum on the basis of widely accepted principles, summarized in the spacetime-quadruple, SQ. We emphasize that these principles are based on observed motions of planets and stars, see figures (1.3, 2.2, 2.3, 3.8) or Brahe and Kepler (1627), Kepler (1619), Galileo (1638) Rømer (1676), Newton (1686), Einstein (1905), Einstein (1915), so you can easily comprehend these principles.

Tests of the dynamics of the vacuum: Of course, our derived dynamics of the vacuum must be tested by observations that are independent from quantum physics.

For this purpose, we applied our dynamics of the vacuum in order to derive the density of the vacuum, for the ideal case of a universe consisting of vacuum only, see in chapter (4). Hereby, we achieved precise accordance with observation, whereby we do not apply any fit.

Moreover, we used our dynamics of the vacuum in order to derive the density ρ_{Λ} of the vacuum, for the realistic case of a universe filled with vacuum, radiation and matter, see (Carmesin, 2021d, sections 6.6 and 7.5). Hereby, we achieved precise accordance with observation, whereby we do not apply any fit, see e. g. (Carmesin, 2021d, section 7.5), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c).

Furthermore, we utilized our dynamics of the vacuum in order to derive the density of the vacuum, for the realistic case of a universe filled with vacuum, radiation as well as matter, including the case of the very early universe. Thereby, the case of the very early universe can no longer be described in the framework of general relativity, which marks an essential incompleteness of general relativity, see e. g. (Carmesin, 2020c, figure 5.10), (Carmesin, 2020b, figure 5.7). The solutions of that case provide a spectrum of the states of the vacuum consisting of a mixture of several energies, it is called a polychromatic vacuum, see e. g. Carmesin (2018b), Carmesin (2018a), Carmesin (2019b), Carmesin (2021d). Of course, such a mixture is analogous to the white sunlight in the atmosphere. And indeed, the spectrum of the vacuum varies as a function of time, similarly as the spectrum of the sunlight, which contains a relatively large amount of red light at sunrise and at sunset. Hereby, we achieved precise accordance with observation, including a whole function $\rho_{\Lambda}(t)$, whereby we do not apply any fit, see e. g. (Carmesin, 2021d, section 7.5), Carmesin (2021a), Carmesin (2021c).

Moreover, the spectrum of the vacuum provided in the very early universe is relevant also today as it is restricted by the causal horizon that is set by the light horizon. Furthermore, that spectrum forms the basis of the possible states of the vacuum, and these states explain the formation of mass, see Carmesin (2021a), and of the elementary charge, see Carmesin (2021e). Hereby, we achieved precise accordance with observation, whereby we do not apply any fit.

Altogether, our dynamics has already been tested by many and various observations, including the density of the vacuum, including a whole function $\rho_{\Lambda}(t)$, the sum of the mass of the neutrinos as well as the mass of the Higgs boson, see Carmesin (2021a), and the elementary charge, see Carmesin (2021e). In all cases, we achieved precise accordance with observation, of course, we do not apply any fit thereby.

Clarifications of quantum physics: Based in our theory of the vacuum, we clarified the basis of the quantization in nature, of the wave function, of the Schrödinger equation, of the Hilbert space in quantum physics, of the Heisenberg uncertainty relation, of the probabilistic properties of nature, of the postulates of quantum physics and of nonlocality in nature, see chapter (5).

Clarifications of general relativity: Based in our theory of the vacuum, we clarified the basis of the curvature of spacetime or of space and time.

Clarification of the relation of quanta, vacuum and relativity: We showed that the dynamics of the vacuum implies both, quantization including the corresponding theory of quantum physics as well as the curvature used in general relativity. In particular, in the framework of the theory of the vacuum, there is no natural 'incompatibility' between quantum physics and the curvature of general relativity.

Instead, the quantization emerges in the theory of the vacuum quite naturally. Correspondingly, quantum physics and its postulates can be derived from the dynamics of the vacuum. Similarly, the curvature of spacetime emerges in the theory of the vacuum quite naturally. Correspondingly, the curvature of spacetime can be derived from the dynamics of the vacuum.

However, on the level of the present-day version of the theories of general relativity and of quantum physics, the above mentioned scientists articulate an 'incompatibility' between these theories. Thereby Weinberg (2017) clearly expects a clarification or a step in which the problem is 'untangled'. The dynamics of the vacuum does 'untangle' that problem of 'incompatibility' felt by several scientists, by explaining both, quantization and curvature of spacetime.

Altogether, there are two great theories, quantum physics and general relativity. The present-day versions of these two theories exhibit an 'incompatibility'. On the level of our theory of the vacuum, quantization and curvature of spacetime are both explained, so the essential properties of both theories are explained, and so the 'incompatibility' between both theories vanishes.

Chapter 7

Appendix

7.1 Constants of nature

In this section we present useful constants of nature.

quantity	observed value
G	$6.67430(15)rac{\mathrm{m}^3}{\mathrm{kg}\cdot\mathrm{s}^2}$
С	$299792458\frac{m}{s}, exact$
h	$6.626070150(69)\cdot 10^{-34}\mathrm{Js}$
k_B	$1.38064903(51)\cdot 10^{-23}rac{\mathrm{J}}{\mathrm{K}}$
ϵ_0	$8.854187817\cdot 10^{-12}\frac{\mathrm{F}}{\mathrm{m}},\mathrm{exact}$

Table 7.1: Constants of nature (Newell et al. (2018), Tanabashi et al. (2018)).

7.2 Abbreviations

In this section we present used abbreviations.

abbreviation	full text	reference
DEQ	differential equation	S. (3.1.1)
∂_{r_j} or ∂_j	partial derivative with respect to r_j	
EEP	Einstein equivalence principle	S. (2.2.2)
GG	Gaussian gravity	S. (2.3)
GR	general relativity	S. (2.5)
LFV	locally formed vacuum	S. (3.10.5)
PFF	principles of free fall	S. (2.2)
PWT	particle wave transformation	S. (3.10)
QP	quantum physics	S. (1.1)
RGS	rate gravity scalar	S. (3.6)
RGV	rate gravity vector	S. (3.6)
RGW	rate gravity wave	S. (3.7)
SM	Schwarzschild metric	S. (3.9)
SR	special relativity	S. (2.4)
SEQ	Schrödinger equation	S. (1.3.2.1)
SQ	spacetime-quadruple	Eq. (2.1)

 Table 7.2:
 Abbreviations

128

7.3 Observed values

In this section we present useful results of observations.

quantity	observed value
H_0 in $\frac{\mathrm{km}}{\mathrm{s}\cdot\mathrm{Mpc}}$	$67.36 \pm 0.54 \ (0.8 \ \%)$
Ω_{Λ}	$0.6847 \pm 0.0073 \ (1.1 \ \%)$
Ω_K	$-0.011\substack{+0.0013\\-0.0012}$
z_{eq}	3402 ± 26
Ω_m	0.3153 ± 0.0073
Ω_r	$9.265^{+0.288}_{-0.283} \cdot 10^{-5} \ (3.1 \ \%)$
σ_8	$0.8111 \pm 0.006(7.4\%)$
ρ_{cr,t_0} in $\frac{kg}{m^3}$	$8.660^{+0.137}_{-0.137} \cdot 10^{-27} \ (1.6 \ \%)$
$ ilde{ ho}_{cr,t_0}$	$7.037 \cdot 10^{-123}$
$ ilde{ ho}_{v,t_0}$	$4.8181 \cdot 10^{-123}$
Ω_b	0.0493 ± 0.00032
Ω_c	0.2645 ± 0.0048
R_{lh}	$4.1412 \cdot 10^{26} \mathrm{m} (\mathrm{Carmesin} (2019\mathrm{b}))$

Table 7.3: Data obtained on the basis of the CMB by the Planck satellite ((Planck-Collaboration, 2020, p. 15 and 38)) by using the modes TT, TE, EE, the low energy and the lensing results. Quantities with a tilde are presented in natural units alias Planck units (see subsection 7.4). Hereby 1 Mpc = $3.0856776 \cdot 10^{19}$ km.

7.4 Natural units

Planck units or natural units have been introduced by Planck (1899). We mark quantities in natural units by a tilde (s. Tab. 7.4, Carmesin (2019b)).

physical entity	Symbol	Term	in SI-Units
Planck length	L_P	$\sqrt{\frac{\hbar G}{c^3}}$	$1.616 \cdot 10^{-35} \mathrm{m}$
Planck time	t_P	$\frac{L_P}{c}$	$5.391 \cdot 10^{-44} \mathrm{s}$
Planck energy	E_P	$\sqrt{\frac{\hbar \cdot c^5}{G}}$	$1.956 \cdot 10^9 { m J}$
Planck mass	M_P	$\sqrt{\frac{\hbar \cdot c}{G}}$	$2.176 \cdot 10^{-8} \mathrm{kg}$
Planck volume	$V_{D,P}$	L_P^D	
Planck volume, ball	$\bar{V}_{D,P}$	$V_D \cdot L_P^D$	
Planck density	$ ho_P$	$\frac{c^5}{G^2\hbar}$	$5.155 \cdot 10^{96} rac{\mathrm{kg}}{\mathrm{m}^3}$
Planck density, ball	$\bar{ ho}_P$	$\frac{3c^5}{4\pi G^2\hbar}$	$1.2307 \cdot 10^{96} \frac{\mathrm{kg}}{\mathrm{m}^3}$
Planck density, ball	$ar{ ho}_{D,P}$	$\frac{M_P}{\bar{V}_{D,P}}$	
Planck temperature	T_P	$T_P = \frac{E_P}{k_B}$	
scaled volume	\tilde{V}_D	$\frac{V_D}{\bar{V}_{D,P}}$	
scaled density	$\tilde{ ho}_D$	$\frac{\tilde{M}}{\tilde{r}^D} = \frac{\tilde{E}}{\tilde{r}^D}$	$\rho_D = \tilde{\rho}_D \cdot \bar{\rho}_{D,P}$
scaled length	ĩ	L_P	$x = \tilde{x} \cdot L_P$
Planck charge	q_P	$M_P \sqrt{G4\pi\varepsilon_0}$	11,71 e

Table 7.4: Planck - units.

In the following sections, we analyze the smallest possible physical objects in space and time. We call these objects the elements of spacetime, EST.

7.5 Definition of Planck scale quantities

Planck Planck (1899) introduced the *Planck units*. These can be based on three universal constants of nature. These basic universal constants, the gravitational constant G, the velocity of light c and the Planck constant h, can be defined as follows Tanabashi et al. (2018):

$$G = 6.674\,08(31) \cdot 10^{-11} \,\frac{\mathrm{m}^3}{\mathrm{kg} \cdot \mathrm{s}^2} \tag{7.1}$$

$$c = 299\,792\,458\,\frac{\mathrm{m}}{\mathrm{s}}\tag{7.2}$$

$$h = 6.626\,070\,15 \cdot 10^{-34}\,\mathrm{Js} \tag{7.3}$$

Based on the Planck constant h, the reduced Planck constant \hbar is defined as shown next:

$$\hbar = \frac{h}{2\pi} \tag{7.4}$$

Two basic Planck units are the Planck length and the Planck mass Tanabashi et al. (2018):

The *Planck length* is defined as follows:

$$L_P = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar G}{c^3}} \tag{7.5}$$

The *Planck mass* is defined as shown below:

$$M_P = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c}{G}} \tag{7.6}$$

Using the two basic Planck units, further Planck units are derived according to the corresponding definitions of the respective physical quantities, see below.

The *Planck volume* is defined as shown next:

$$V_P = L_P^3 \tag{7.7}$$

The *Planck energy* is defined as presented here:

$$E_P = M_P \cdot c^2 \tag{7.8}$$

The *Planck density* is defined via the next formula:

$$\rho_P = \frac{M_P}{L_P^3} \tag{7.9}$$
The *Planck time* is defined as follows:

$$t_P = L_P/c \tag{7.10}$$

As a notation, we mark scaled physical quantities by a tilde, see table (7.4).

7.6 Horizons of observation

In this section, we analyze the limits of observation.

We define a *physical object* as an object that can be observed. We regard an *event* as something that can be observed and that takes place at an observable spacetime.

As a proposition, Newtonian gravity Newton (1686) implies that a physical object with a mass m has a smallest observable radius. That radius is called Schwarzschild radius, whereby the following relation holds:

$$R_S = \frac{2G \cdot m}{c^2} \tag{7.11}$$

This result has been discovered by Michell Michell (1784) and Laplace Laplace (1796).

The Schwarzschild radius R_S can be interpreted as the *event* horizon of a black hole with a mass m.

As a proposition, quantum physics implies that a physical object with a momentum p_x that exhibits an uncertainty Δp_x has a smallest observable uncertainty Δx . Hereby the Heisenberg uncertainty relation holds:

$$\Delta p_x \cdot \Delta x \ge \frac{\hbar}{2} \tag{7.12}$$

Heisenberg Heisenberg (1927) was essentially involved in the discovery of this result, see e. g. Ballentine (1998).

A physical object obeys both above limits of observation that are represented in equations (7.11) and (7.12). The combination

132

of these two limits has been visualized in a diagram showing the uncertainty Δx as a function of the energy E, see figure (7.1). The objects that can be observed according to the Schwarzschild radius (equation 7.11) are above the straight line and marked by a horizontally hatched area. The objects that can be observed according to the uncertainty relation (equation 7.12) are above the hyperbola and marked by a vertically hatched area. The objects that can be observed correspond to the intersection of the horizontally hatched area and the vertically hatched area and are marked by the cross hatch area. That cross hatched area exhibits a point with smallest length (marked by a filled circle). That point is the intersection of the straight line (equation 7.11) and the hyperbola (equation 7.12). The corresponding length can be derived, and the result is as follows: As a proposition, see e. g. (Carmesin, 2021a, proposition 4), the smallest observable uncertainty of a physical object is the Planck length L_P , and the corresponding energy is one half of the Planck energy $E_P/2$.

$$\Delta x \ge L_P \tag{7.13}$$

$$E(L_P) = E_P/2 =: \bar{E}_P$$
 (7.14)

$$M(L_P) = M_P/2 =: \bar{M}_P$$
 (7.15)

Hereby, we defined the corrected Planck energy \bar{E}_P by $E_P/2$ as well as the corrected Planck mass \bar{M}_P by $M_P/2$.

As a further proposition, see e. g. (Carmesin, 2021a, proposition 5), the largest possible density is equal to the corrected Planck mass divided by the volume of a ball with the radius L_P :

$$\rho \le \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{3}{4\pi} \cdot \rho_P =: \bar{\bar{\rho}}_P \tag{7.16}$$

Hereby, we defined the corrected Planck density $\bar{\rho}_P$ by $3\rho_P/(8\pi)$.

As an additional proposition, there is a minimal observable length \tilde{x}_{min} as a function of the energy $E = p_x \cdot c$ corresponding



Figure 7.1: Shortest observable uncertainty (dot): Observable states outside the event horizon of a possible black hole (horizontally hatched area). Sufficient uncertainty according to the Heisenberg uncertainty relation (vertically hatched area). Observable objects (including sufficient uncertainty) are marked by the cross hatched area.

to the momentum p_x as follows:

$$\tilde{x}_{min}(\tilde{E}) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\tilde{E}} & \text{for } \tilde{E} \le 1/2\\ 2 \cdot \tilde{E} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(7.17)

For an illustration see figure (7.1).

7.7 Glossary

- Abbreviation: S. (section), C. (chapter), DEF. (definition), PROP. (proposition), THM. (theorem), Eq. (equation).
- **Big Bang**: Start of time evolution of visible space
- CMB, Cosmic Microwave Background: Radiation emitted at $z \approx 1090$. (Tab. 7.3)
- cosmological constant: Λ corresponds to the dark energy with its density ρ_{Λ} (Tab. 7.3).

- curvature parameter: the curvature parameter k describes the global curvature of space, see e. g. Carmesin (2021d)
- **dark energy**: Energy of the cosmological density of the vacuum ρ_{Λ} (Tab. 7.3).
- density, critical: ρ_{cr,t_0} or ρ_{cr} (Tab. 7.3 or e. g. Carmesin (2021d))
- density parameter: $\Omega_j = \rho_j / \rho_{cr,t_0}$ (Tab. 7.3)
- density, vacuum: $\rho_{\Lambda} = \Omega_{\Lambda} \cdot \rho_{cr,t_0}$ (Tab. 7.3)

dynamical mass: $M = \frac{E}{c^2}$

frame: Each observation apparatus is localized in spacetime. That localization establishes a frame.

gravitational field: G^* (C. 3)

horizon: Global limit of visibility (C. 4)

Hubble - parameter: $H = \frac{\dot{a}}{a}$ (C. 3)

Hubble - constant: $H_0 = H(t_0)$ Hubble parameter at t_0 (C. 3)

light horizon: $R_{lh} = 4.142 \cdot 10^{26} \,\mathrm{m} \,(\mathrm{Tab.}\ 7.3)$

rate gravity four-vector, \mathbf{RGV} : C. (3)

rate gravity scalar, \mathbf{RGS} : C. (3)

- RGW, rate gravity wave: Carmesin (2021d) or C. (3)
- rate of the formation of vacuum: (S. 3)
- Schwarzschild radius R_S : At this radius the escape velocity is equal to c
- **spacetime**: Combination of space and time (C. 3)
- **vacuum**: The vacuum has a volume, a density and the velocity c. (C. 4 or Carmesin (2021d))

7.8 SR fully based on a thought experiment

To each star in Fig. (1.3), we add an orbiting satellite with a radio transmitter emitting radio waves. The corresponding frequency is f_1 , for the 1st transmitter, and f_2 , for the 2nd transmitter. In the region $R_{binary-Earth}$ between the binary and Earth, the frequencies are modified according to the Doppler effect, so that f_1 becomes f'_1 , and f_2 becomes f'_2 .

These transmitters are controlled so that in $R_{binary-Earth}$, the waves have the same frequencies $f'_1 = f'_2$, phases and directions (of polarization and of propagation). That is possible, as f_1 and f_2 can be chosen small compared to the frequencies of electronics and since radio waves can be described by classical waves.

Altogether, in $R_{binary-Earth}$, the two waves have the same frequencies, phases and directions. Hence the two waves form common fields \vec{E} and \vec{B} in $R_{binary-Earth}$. Thence the two waves or the common wave have the same velocity of propagation in $R_{binary-Earth}$. We call this fact the **principle of free propagation**, **PFP:** If two waves propagate in a homogeneous region and have the same physical quantity constituting the amplitude, the same frequencies, phases and directions (of polarization and propagation), then these waves exhibit the same velocity of propagation. So the velocity of the radio waves is invariant, irrespective of the motion of the radio transmitters. Thus c is invariant. This implies SR, see e. g. Carmesin (2020b). Indeed, thought experiments provide the PFF, PFP and GG.

Acknowledgement

I thank Matthias Carmesin for helpful discussions. I thank Paul Sawitzki, Philipp Schöneberg and Jonas Lieber for interesting discussions. I am especially grateful to I. Carmesin for many helpful discussions and for proofreading the manuscript.

Bibliography

- Anderson, Carl, D. (1933). Cosmic-ray positive and negative electrons. *Physical Revies*, 44:406–416.
- Aristotle (BC350). *Physics*. Internet Classics Archive, Boston.
- Aspect, A., Grangier, P., and Roger, G. (1982). Experimental Realization of the Einstein-Podolski-Rosen-Bohm Gedankenexperiment: A new Violation of Bell's Inequalities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:91–94.
- Bailey, J. et al. (1977). Measurements of relativistic time dilation for positive and negative myons in a circular orbit, Nature, vol. 268. Nature, 268:301–305.
- Balbi, A. (2013). Cosmology and time. *EPJ web of conference*, 58:1–8.
- Ballentine, L. E. (1998). Quantum Mechanics. World Scientific Publishing, London and Singapore.
- Bell, J. S. (1964). On the Einstein-Podolski-Rosen paradox. *Physics*, 1(3:195–200.
- Bennett, C. L. et al. (2013). Nine-year Wilkinson microwave anisotropy probe (WMAP) Observations: final maps and results. *The Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series*, 208:1–54.
- Birkhoff, G. D. (1921). Uber die allgemeinen kugelsymmetrischen Lösungen der Einsteinschen Gravitationsgleichun-

gen im Vakuum. Arkiv f. Mathematik, Astronomi och Fysik, 15:1–9.

- Blakeslee, J. P. et al. (2021). The Hubble Constant from Infrared Surface Brightness Fluctuation Distances. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 911(65):1–12.
- Blokhintsev, D. I. and Galperin, F. M. (1934). Neutrino hypothesis and conservation of energy. *Pod Znamenem Marxisma*, 6:147–157.
- Bogoliubov, N. N. (1958). On a new method in the theory of superconductivity. *Il Nuovo Cimento*, 7:794–805.
- Bohr, N. (1913). On the constitution of atoms and molecules. The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 26:476–502.
- Born, M. (1926). Zur Quantenmechanik der Stoßvorgänge. Zeitschrift für Physik, 37:863–867.
- Bos, H. J. M. (1974). Differentials, higher-order differentials and the derivative in the Leibnizian calculus. *Archive for History* of Exact Sciences, 14:1–90.
- Brahe, T. and Kepler, J. (1627). *Tabulae Rudolphinae*. Auftraggeber Rudolph und Ferdinand, Ulm.
- Brand, C., Eilenberger, S., Sezer, U., and Arndt, M. (2019).
 Matter-wave physics with nanoparticles and biomolecules.
 In Browaeys, A. et al., editors, *Current Trends in Atomic Physics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Bricmont, J. and Goldstein, S. (2019). Diagnosing the Trouble with Quantum Mechanics. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 175:690–703.
- Broy, B. J. (2016). Inflation and effective Shift Symmetries. PhD thesis, University Hamburg, Hamburg.

- Bundesanstalt, P. T. (2007). Optische Atomuhren. *PTB*, pages 1–27.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (1996). *Grundideen der Relativitätstheorie*. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2006). Entdeckungen im Physikunterricht durch Beobachtungen des Himmels. In Nordmeier, V. and Oberländer, A., editors, *Tagungs-CD Fachdidaktik Physik, ISBN 978-386541-190-7*, Berlin. Deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft, Deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2017). Vom Big Bang bis heute mit Gravitation: Model for the Dynamics of Space. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2018a). Entstehung der Raumzeit durch Quantengravitation - Theory for the Emergence of Space, Dark Matter, Dark Energy and Space-Time. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2018b). Entstehung dunkler Energie durch Quantengravitation - Universal Model for the Dynamics of Space, Dark Matter and Dark Energy. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2019a). A Novel Equivalence Principle for Quantum Gravity. PhyDid B - Didaktik der Physik - Beiträge zur DPG - Frühjahrstagung - Aachen - Germany - hal-02511998, pages 1–9.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2019b). Die Grundschwingungen des Universums The Cosmic Unification With 8 Fundamental Solutions based on G, c and h. In Carmesin, H.-O., editor, Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm Volume 1. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.

- Carmesin, H.-O. (2020a). Explanation of the Rapid Enlargement of Distances in the Early Universe. *PhyDid B*, pages 9–17.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2020b). The Universe Developing from Zero-Point Energy: Discovered by Making Photos, Experiments and Calculations. In Carmesin, H.-O., editor, Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm - Volume 3. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2020c). Wir entdecken die Geschichte des Universums mit eigenen Fotos und Experimenten. In Carmesin, H.-O., editor, Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm Volume 2. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2021a). Cosmological and Elementary Particles Explained by Quantum Gravity. In Carmesin, H.-O., editor, Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm -Volume 5. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2021b). Lernende erkunden die Raumzeit. Der Mathematik Unterricht, 2.:47–56.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2021c). Physical Explanation of the H_0 -Tension. International Journal of Engineering and Science Invention, 10(8,II):34–38.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2021d). Quanta of Spacetime Explain Observations, Dark Energy, Graviton and Nonlocality. In Carmesin, H.-O., editor, Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm Volume 4. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O. (2021e). The Elementary Charge Explained by Quantum Gravity. In Carmesin, H.-O., editor, Universe: Unified from Microcosm to Macrocosm - Volume 6. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.

- Carmesin, H.-O., Emse, A., Conrad, U., and Pröhl, I. K. (2021). Universum Physik Sekundarstufe II Nordrhein-Westfalen Einführungsphase. Cornelsen Verlag, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O., Emse, A., Piehler, M., Pröhl, I. K., Salzmann, W., and Witte, L. (2020). Universum Physik Sekundarstufe II Niedersachsen Qualifikationsphase. Cornelsen Verlag, Berlin.
- Carmesin, H.-O., Emse, A., Piehler, M., Pröhl, I. K., Salzmann, W., and Witte, L. (2022). Universum Physik Sekundarstufe II Gesamtband Qualifikationsphase. Cornelsen Verlag, Berlin.
- Davisson, C. and Germer, L. H. (1927). Diffraction of electrons by a crystal of nickel. *Phys. Rev.*, 30:705–740.
- de Broglie, L.-V. (1925). On the theory of quanta. Ann. de Phys. translated by Kracklauer, 10.
- de Sitter, W. (1913). Ein astronomischer Beweis für die Konstanz der Lichgeschwindigkeit. *Pysik. Zeitschr.*, 14:429.
- Dirac, P. A. M. (1925). The fundamental equations of quantum mechanics. *Proc. Roy. Soc.*, 109(752):642–653.
- Dirac, P. A. M. (1927). The quantum theory of the emission and absorption of radiation. *Proc. Roy. Soc.*, 114:243.
- Dirac, P. A. M. (1928). The quantum theory of the electron. *Proc. Roy. Soc.*, 117:610–624.
- Einstein, A. (1905). Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper. Annalen der Physik, 17:891–921.
- Einstein, A. (1915). Die Feldgleichungen der Gravitation. Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, pages 844–847.
- Einstein, A. (1917). Kosmologische Betrachtungen zur allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie. Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, pages 142–152.

- Einstein, A. and de Sitter, W. (1932). On the relation between the expansion and the mean density of the universe. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.*, 18:213–214.
- Einstein, A., Podolski, B., and Rosen, N. (1935). Can the quantum-mechanical description of physical reality be considered complete? *Phys. Rev.*, 47:777–780.
- Euklid (BC325). *Elements*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Faraday, M. (1852). On the physical character of the lines of magnetic force. The London, Edinburgh and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, Taylor and Francis, 4(3):401–428.
- Fermi, E. (1926). Zur Quantelung des idealen einatomigen Gases. Zeitschrift f. Physik, 36:902–912.
- Fermi, E. (1933). Versuch einer Theorie der beta-Strahlen. Zeitschrift f. Physik A, 88:161–177.
- Feynman, R. P. (1967). *The Character of Physical Law*. MIT Press, Boston.
- Friedmann, A. (1922). Uber die Krümmung des Raumes. Z. f. Physik, 10:377–386.
- Galileo, G. (1638). *Dialogues concerning two new sciences* (translated). Elfevirii, Leida.
- Gauss, C. F. (1809). Theoria motus corporum coelestium in sectionibus conicis solem ambientium. Perthes und Besser, Hamburg.
- Gauss, C. F. (1840). Recursion der Untersuchungen über die Eigenschaften der positiven ternären quadratischen Formen von Ludwig August Seeber. J. reine angew. Math., 20:312– 320.

- Grawert, G. (1977). *Quantenmechanik*. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Wiesbaden.
- Griffiths, D. (2008). Introduction to Elementary Particles. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2 edition.
- Grisenti, R. E., Schöllkopf, W., Toennies, J. P., Manson, J. R., Savas, T. A., and Smith, H. I. (2000). He-atom diffraction from nanostructure transmission gratings: the role of imperfections. *Phys. Rev. A*, 61:1–15.
- Heisenberg, W. (1925). Quantum-Theoretical Re-Interpretation of Kinematic and Mechanical Relations. Z. f. Phys., 33:879– 893.
- Heisenberg, W. (1927). Uber den anschaulichen Inhalt der quantentheoretischen Kinematik und Mechanik. Z. f. Phys., 43:172–198.
- Hilbert, D. (1915). Die Grundlagen der Physik. Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Math-Physik. Klasse, November., pages 395–407.
- Hobson, M. P., Efstathiou, G. P., and Lasenby, A. N. (2006). General Relativity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Hoffmann, C. et al. (2021). Battles in attoscience: tunneling. Eur. Phys. J. D, 75(208):1–13.
- Holstein, T. and Primakoff, H. (1940). Field Dependence of the Intrinsic Domain Magnetization of a Ferromagnet. *Phys. Rev.*, 58:1098–1113.
- Hubble, E. (1929). A relation between distance and radial velocity among extra-galactic nebulae. *Proc. of National Acad.* of Sciences, 15:168–173.
- Huygens, C. (1673). De vi centrifuga. Ouvres completes, XVI:255–301.

- Jordan, P. (1935). Der Zusammenhang zwischen den symmetrischen und linearen Gruppen und das Mehrkörperproblem. Z. f. Physik, 94:531–535.
- Kepler, J. (1619). Harmonice Mundi Linz Libri Verlag. In Caspar, M., editor, *Gesammelte Werke - 1940*, volume 6, pages 1–563. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Kerr, R. (1963). Gravitational field of a spinning mass as an example of algebraically special metrics. *Physical Review Let*ters, 11:237–238.
- Kiefer, C. (2003). Quantum gravity a general introduction. In Giulini, D., Lämmerzahl, C., and Kiefer, C., editors, *Quantum Gravity*, pages 3–13. Springer, Berlin, 1 edition.
- Kumar, A. (2018). Fundamentals of Quantum Mechanics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Landau, L. and Lifschitz, J. (1971). Course of Theoretical Physics II - The Classical Theory of Fields. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 3. edition.
- Landau, L. and Lifschitz, J. (1975). Course of Theoretical Physics VII - Theory of Elasticity. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 2. edition.
- Landau, L. and Lifschitz, J. (1980). Course of Theoretical Physics V - Statistical Physics. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 3. edition.
- Laplace, P.-S. (1796). *Exposition du Systeme du Monde*. Imprimiere du Cercle-Social, Paris.
- Leibniz, G. W. (1684). Nova methodus pro maximis et minimis. Acta Eruditorum, pages 467–473.
- Lemaitre, G. (1927). Un univers homogene de masse constante et de rayon croissant rendant compte de la vitesse radiale des

nebuleuses extra-galactiques. Annales de la Societe Scientifique de Bruxelles, A47:49–59.

- Lombardi, M. et al. (2007). NIST Primary Frequency Standards and the Realization of the SI Second. *The J. of Measurement Science*, 2:74–89.
- Mayer, J. R. (1842). Remarks on the forces of inorganic nature. Annalen der Chemie und Pharmacie, 43:233.
- Michell, J. (1784). On the means of discovering the distance, magnitude, etc. of the fixed stars in consequence of the diminution of the velocity of their light, in case such a diminution should be found to take place in any of them, and such other data should be procured from observations, as would be farther necessary for that purpose. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.*, 74:35–57.
- Moore, T. A. (2013). A General Relativity Workbook. University Science Books, Mill Valley, CA.
- Nairz, O., Arndt, M., and Zeilinger, A. (2003). Quantum interference experiments with large molecules. Am. J. Phys., 71:319–325.
- Newell, D. B. et al. (2018). The CODATA 2017 values of h, e, k, and N_A for the revision of the SI. *Metrologia*, 55:L13–L16.
- Newman, A. I. and Janis, J. (1965). J. Math. Phys., 6:915.
- Newton, I. (1686). Newton's Principia first American Edition - English 1729. Daniel Adee, New York.
- Nimtz, G. (2003). On superluminal tunneling. Progress in Quantum Electronics, 27:417–450.
- Pais, A. (1982). Subtle is the Lord: The Science and Life of Albert Einstein. Qxford University Press, Oxford.

- Perlmutter, S. et al. (1998). Discovery of a supernova explosion at half the age of the universe. *Nature*, 391:51–54.
- Planck, M. (1899). Über irreversible Strahlungsvorgänge. Verlag der Königlich Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, pages 440–480.
- Planck, M. (1900). On the theory of the energy distribution law of the normal spectrum. *Verhandl. Dtsch. Phys. G.*, 2:237.
- Planck-Collaboration (2020). Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters. Astronomy and Astrophysics, pages 1–73.
- Riess, A. G. et al. (2000). Tests of the Accelerating Universe with Near-Infrared Observations of a High-Redshift Type Ia Supernova. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 536:62–67.
- Riess, A. G. et al. (2021). Cosmic Distances Calibrated at 1 % Precision with Gaia EDR3 Parallaxes and Hubble Space Telescope Photometry of 75 Milky Way Cepheids Confirm Tension with ΛCDM. The Astrophysical Journal Letters, 908:L6:1 – 11.
- Rømer, O. (1676). Demonstration touchant le mouvement de la lumiere trouve par M. Rømer de l'Academie royale des sciences. Le Journal des Scavans, pages 233–236.
- Sakurai, J. J. and Napolitano, J. (1994). *Modern Quantum Mechanics*. Addison-Wesley, New York London Delhi.
- Schlichting, H.-J. (1999). Zum Fall des freien Falls. In Sumfleth, E., editor, *Chemiedidaktik im Wandel - Gedanken zu einem* neuen Chemieunterricht. Literatur - Verlag, Münster.
- Schrödinger, E. (1926a). Quantisierung als Eigenwertproblem I. Annalen der Physik, 79:361–376.
- Schrödinger, E. (1926b). Quantisierung als Eigenwertproblem II. Annalen der Physik, 79:489–527.

- Schwarzschild, K. (1916). Uber das Gravitationsfeld eines Massenpunktes nach der Einstein'schen Theorie. Sitzungsberichte der Deutschen Akad. d. Wiss., pages 186–196.
- Slipher, V. (1915). Spectrographic observations of nebulae. *Report of the American Astron. Soc.*, Meeting 17:21–24.
- Smoot, G. F. (2007). Nobel Lecture: Cosmic microwave background radiation anisotropies: Their discovery and utilization. *Review of Modern Physics*, 79:1347–1379.
- Sommerfeld, A. (1978). *Mechanik der deformierbaren Medien*. Verlag Harri Deutsch, Frankfurt, 6. edition.
- Spergel, D. N. et al. (2007). Three-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Implications for Cosmology. Astrophys. Journal, 170:377–408.
- Stephani, H. (1980). Allgemeine Relativitätstheorie. VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, Berlin, 2. edition.
- Straumann, N. (2013). *General Relativity*. Springer, Dordrecht - Heidelberg - New York - London, 2. edition.
- Tanabashi, M., Particle-Data-Group, et al. (2018). Review of particle physics. *Phys. Rev. D*, 98:1–1898.
- Teschl, G. (2014). Mathematical Methods in Quantum Mechanics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2. edition.
- Thomson, G. P. (1927). Diffraction of cathode rays by a thin film. *Nature*, 119:890.
- Tonomura, A., Endo, J., Matsuda, T., Kawasaki, T., and Ezawa, H. (1988). Demonstration of a single-electron buildup of an interference pattern. Am. J. of Phys., 57:117–120.
- Tully, B. R., Courtoise, H., Hoffmann, Y., and Pomerede, D. (2014). The Laniakea supercluster of galaxies. *Nature*, 513(7516):71–74.

- van der Waals, J. D. (1873). Over de Continuiteit van den gasen vloeistoftoestand. Sijthoff, Leiden.
- Weinberg, S. (1967). A Model of Leptons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 19:1264–1266.
- Weinberg, S. (1996). *The Quantum Theory of Fields*, volume 2. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Weinberg, S. (2017). The Trouble with Quantum Mechanics. The New York Review of Books.
- Will, C. M. (2006). Was Einstein right? Testing relativity at the centenary. *Living Review Relativity*, 9:1–23.
- Will, C. M. (2014). The Confrontation between General Relativity and Experiment. ArXiv, 1403.7377v1:1–113.
- Wirtz, C. (1922). Radialbewegung der Gasnebel. Astronomische Nachrichten, 215:281–286.
- Young, T. (1802). On the Theory of Light and Colours. *Phil. Transact. of the R. Soc. of London.*
- Zeilinger, A., Gähler, R., Shull, G. C., Treimer, W., and Mampe, W. (1988). Single- and double-slit experiments with neutrons. *Rev. of Modern Phys.*, 60:1067–1073.